
 
 

   
                                                                                                                          

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
Translation of consolidated financial statements originally issued in Spanish and prepared in accordance with the regulatory financial 
reporting framework applicable to the Group in Spain (see Note 2). In the event of a discrepancy, the Spanish-language version 
prevails. 

“la Caixa” Banking Foundation Group 

Consolidated Financial Statements and 

Consolidated Management Report for the year 

ended 31 December 2017 



Translation of a report originally issued in Spanish based on our work performed in accordance with the 

audit regulations in force in Spain. In the event of a discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT ON CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

To the Board of Trustees of Fundación Bancaria Caixa d’Estalvis i Pensions de 

Barcelona, ”la Caixa”, 

Report on the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Fundación Bancaria Caixa d’Estalvis 

i Pensions de Barcelona, “la Caixa” (the Foundation) (the Parent) and its subsidiaries (the 

Group), which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2017, and the 

consolidated statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement of comprehensive income, 

consolidated statement of changes in total equity, consolidated statement of cash flows and 

notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year then ended. 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all 

material respects, the consolidated equity and consolidated financial position of the Group as 

at 31 December 2017, and its consolidated results and its consolidated cash flows for the year 

then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the 

European Union (EU-IFRSs) and the other provisions of the regulatory financial reporting 

framework applicable to the Group in Spain. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the audit regulations in force in Spain. Our 

responsibilities under those regulations are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities 

for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. 
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We are independent of the Group in accordance with the ethical requirements, including those 

pertaining to independence, that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial 

statements in Spain pursuant to the audit regulations in force. In this regard, we have not 

provided any services other than those relating to the audit of financial statements and there 

have not been any situations or circumstances that, in accordance with the aforementioned 

audit regulations, might have affected the requisite independence in such a way as to 

compromise our independence. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 

basis for our opinion. 

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most 

significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These 

matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as 

a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these 

matters. 

Impairment of investments in associates 

Description Procedures applied in the audit 

As described in Note 8, the Group has 

ownership interests in the share capital of 

associates that amounted to EUR 18,270 

million at 2017 year-end and for which an 

impairment loss of EUR 111 million was 

recognised.  

Determining whether there is any 

objective evidence of impairment of the 

net investment giving rise to a loss with an 

impact on estimated future cash flows 

requires the use of significant judgements 

and estimates by management of the 

Group, both in determining future cash 

flow discounting as the valuation method 

and in considering the key assumptions 

established for each method in question 

(use of correction factors to adapt the 

comparable data considered, use of 

discount rates, etc.).  

Our audit procedures included, among 

others, the review of the design and 

implementation of the relevant controls 

that mitigate the risks associated with the 

process to assess the impairment of the 

investments in associates, as well as tests 

to verify that the aforementioned controls 

operate effectively.  

We also obtained and analysed the 

valuations of the aforementioned 

investments performed by management of 

the Group, and verified the clerical 

accuracy thereof and the appropriateness 

of the valuation method used in relation to 

the investment held. In addition, we 

reviewed the future cash flow forecasts 

and compared them with external data and 

historical information of the investees in 

order to assess the reasonableness 

thereof.  
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Impairment of investments in associates 

Description Procedures applied in the audit 

The matters indicated above, and the 

significance of the investments held, led us 

to determine the situation described to be 

a key matter in our audit. 

We checked that the main assumptions 

considered in the model are reasonable 

based on public information on the 

business sector in which the investee 

operates and also reviewed the sensitivity 

analysis prepared by the Group.  

We involved our in-house valuation 

experts in the performance of our 

procedures in order to evaluate the 

methodology employed by the Group in 

the analysis conducted, the discount rates 

considered and the terminal value, 

expressed in perpetuity growth terms, of 

the projected future cash flows, where 

appropriate.  

Lastly, we evaluated whether the 

disclosures included in Note 8 to the 

accompanying consolidated financial 

statements in connection with this matter 

are in conformity with those required by 

the regulatory financial reporting 

framework applicable to the Group. 
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Ownership interest held in the CaixaBank Group 

Description Procedures applied in the audit 

As described in Note 1, in 2017 the Group 

fulfilled the conditions established by the 

European Central Bank for the 

deconsolidation of the CaixaBank Group for 

prudential purposes. Compliance with 

these conditions entailed, from an 

accounting standpoint, the Parent of the 

Group ceasing to have control over the 

CaixaBank Group.  Consequently, the 

Group excluded its investment in 

CaixaBank, S.A. from the scope of 

consolidation for accounting purposes and 

now considers it to be an associate that is 

accounted for using the equity method in 

the consolidated financial statements. 

In this connection, accounting for the 

ownership interest using the 

aforementioned method gave rise to the 

derecognition from the Group’s 

consolidated financial statements of the 

CaixaBank Group’s assets and liabilities 

and the recognition of the ownership 

interest retained at its fair value at the 

date when control was lost.  This loss of 

control required a complex analysis of the 

Parent’s ability, or otherwise, to exercise 

power over its investee. For that reason, 

we considered this matter to be a key 

matter in our audit. 

Our audit procedures included, among 

others, an understanding of the conditions 

established by the European Central Bank 

and the response planned by the Group, 

the identification of where decisions about 

the investee’s relevant activities are made 

and the assessment of the influence, if 

any, that the Parent might have over the 

CaixaBank Group. 

We also assessed the Parent’s 

representation on the CaixaBank Group’s 

management bodies and the mechanisms 

through which the voting rights of its 

ownership interest are exercised. 

We obtained a legal opinion regarding the 

measures implemented by the CaixaBank 

Group, Fundación Bancaria la Caixa and 

Criteria Caixa, S.A. (Sole-Shareholder 

Company) in relation to the 

deconsolidation conditions relating to 

corporate governance. 

Lastly, we evaluated whether the 

disclosures included in Notes 1 and 8 to 

the accompanying consolidated financial 

statements in connection with this matter 

are in conformity with those required by 

the regulatory financial reporting 

framework applicable to the Group. 
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Valuation of investment property and property inventories 

Description Procedures applied in the audit 

The Group manages a portfolio of real 

estate assets for lease (“Investment 

Property”) and owns a portfolio of land, 

housing developments in progress and 

completed housing developments 

(“Property Inventories”) located 

throughout Spain, the carrying amounts of 

which at 31 December 2017 were EUR 

1,137 million and EUR 1,637 million, 

respectively (see Notes 7 and 11).  

The Group measures its investment 

property at acquisition cost, less the 

related accumulated depreciation, and 

recognises impairment losses, where 

appropriate, if the market value of the 

investment property falls below its 

carrying amount; in addition, the Group 

measures its property inventories at the 

lower of acquisition cost and net realisable 

value, to which end it bases its conclusions 

on appraisals and valuations conducted by 

external experts engaged for this purpose, 

and these appraisals and valuations are 

subsequently adjusted using an internal 

valuation model.  

The valuation of the investment property 

and that of the property inventories are 

key audit matters, since they require 

valuation techniques that involve the use 

of significant estimates and judgements 

with a high degree of uncertainty, the 

most noteworthy of which are those 

relating to the experience of sales of 

similar real estate assets, the difference 

between the effective sale price and the 

appraised value for properties sold by the 

Group in the last 24 months, marketing 

costs and the future evolution of the rental 

of certain assets. 

Our audit procedures included, among 

others, the review and assessment of the 

valuation process for property assets.  

Also, we conducted tests to verify the 

completeness of the information used as 

the basis for estimating impairment.  

In this connection, with the cooperation of 

our internal experts in the valuation of 

property assets, we: (i) evaluated the 

competence, capability and objectivity of 

the experts engaged by the Group to value 

its property assets, as well as the 

adequacy of their work to be used as audit 

evidence, (ii) analysed and concluded 

upon, for a sample of appraisals 

determined on a selective basis, the 

reasonableness of the valuation 

procedures and methodology used by the 

experts engaged by the Group and (iii) 

analysed the reasonableness and 

consistency of the main property-related 

assumptions considered in the Group’s 

internal valuation model. 

Lastly, we evaluated whether the 

disclosures included in Notes 7 and 11 to 

the accompanying consolidated financial 

statements in connection with the 

investment property and property 

inventories, respectively, are in conformity 

with those required by the regulatory 

financial reporting framework applicable to 

the Group. 
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Recoverability of deferred tax assets 

Description Procedures applied in the audit 

The consolidated balance sheet as at 31 

December 2017 includes EUR 1,461 million 

of deferred tax assets, of which EUR 1,107 

million relate mainly to tax loss and tax 

credit carryforwards that are recoverable 

in the context of the tax group headed by 

CaixaBank, S.A. to which the Parent 

belongs.  

At the end of the year the Group had 

financial models with which to assess the 

recoverability of the aforementioned tax 

assets, taking into consideration new 

legislative developments and the most 

recently approved business plans.  

We identified this matter as key in our 

audit, since the preparation of these 

models requires a significant level of 

judgement, mainly in connection with the 

projections of business performance, which 

affect the estimate made of the 

recoverability of the tax assets. 

Our audit procedures included, among 

others, the review of the aforementioned 

financial models, including the analysis of 

the consistency of the effective results 

obtained compared with the results 

projected in the previous year’s models, 

the reasonableness of the budgeted results 

included in the current year’s models and 

the tax legislation applicable where the 

deferred tax assets are recognised, as well 

as the reasonableness of the projections 

for future years and their consistency with 

those used in other judgements and 

estimates.  

We also involved our internal experts from 

the tax area in the analysis of the 

reasonableness of the tax assumptions 

considered on the basis of the applicable 

legislation. 

Lastly, we assessed whether Note 20 to 

the accompanying consolidated financial 

statements contains the disclosures 

required in this connection by the 

regulatory financial reporting framework 

applicable to the Group. 



- 7 - 

Other Information: Consolidated Directors' Report 

The other information comprises only the consolidated directors' report for 2017, the 

preparation of which is the responsibility of the Parent's executive director and which does not 

form part of the consolidated financial statements. 

Our audit opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the consolidated 

directors' report. Our responsibility relating to the information contained in the consolidated 

directors' report is defined in the audit regulations in force, which establish two distinct levels 

of review: 

a) A specific level that applies to the consolidated non-financial information statement, which 

consists solely of checking that the aforementioned information has been provided in the 

consolidated directors' report, or, otherwise, that the consolidated directors' report 

contains the corresponding reference to the separate report on non-financial information 

as provided for in the applicable legislation and, if this is not the case, reporting this fact. 

b) A general level applicable to the other information included in the consolidated directors' 

report, which consists of evaluating and reporting on whether the aforementioned 

information is consistent with the consolidated financial statements, based on the 

knowledge of the Group obtained in the audit of those consolidated financial statements 

and excluding any information other than that obtained as evidence during the audit, as 

well as evaluating and reporting on whether the content and presentation of this section 

of the consolidated directors' report are in conformity with the applicable regulations. If, 

based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there are material misstatements, 

we are required to report that fact. 

Based on the work performed, as described above, we have checked that the information 

described in section a) above is provided in the consolidated directors' report and that the other 

information in the consolidated directors' report is consistent with that contained in the 

consolidated financial statements for 2017 and its content and presentation are in conformity 

with the applicable regulations. 
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Responsibilities of the Parent's Executive Director and of the Audit Committee 

for the Consolidated Financial Statements 

The Parent's executive director is responsible for preparing the accompanying consolidated 

financial statements so that they present fairly the Group's consolidated equity, consolidated 

financial position and consolidated results in accordance with EU-IFRSs and the other provisions 

of the regulatory financial reporting framework applicable to the Group in Spain, and for such 

internal control as the executive director determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 

consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 

fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Group's executive director is responsible 

for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 

matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the 

executive director either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no 

realistic alternative but to do so. 

The Parent's audit committee is responsible for overseeing the process involved in the 

preparation and presentation of the consolidated financial statements. 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial 

Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial 

statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and 

to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 

conducted in accordance with the audit regulations in force in Spain will always detect a 

material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 

considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 

influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial 

statements. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements 

is included in Appendix I to this auditor's report. This description in Appendix I forms part of 

our auditor's report. 
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Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

Additional Report to the Parent's Audit Committee 

The opinion expressed in this report is consistent with the content of our additional report to 

the Parent's audit committee dated 23 May 2018.  

Engagement Period 

The Foundation's Board of Trustees Meeting held on 6 May 2016 appointed us as auditors for 

a period of one year from the year ended 31 December 2016. 

Previously, we were designated pursuant to a resolution of the Foundation's Board of Trustees 

for the period of one year and have been auditing the consolidated financial statements 

uninterruptedly since the year ended 31 December 1991, taking into account the content of 

Article 17.8 of Regulation (EU) No 537/2014 on specific requirements regarding statutory audit 

of public-interest entities. 

DELOITTE, S.L. 
Registered in ROAC under no. S0692 

Francisco Ignacio Ambrós 

Registered in ROAC under no. 20526 

23 May 2018 
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Appendix I to our auditor's report 

Further to the information contained in our auditor's report, in this Appendix we include our 

responsibilities in relation to the audit of the consolidated financial statements. 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial 

Statements 

As part of an audit in accordance with the audit regulations in force in Spain, we exercise 

professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:  

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial 

statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive 

to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 

for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 

higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 

omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 

an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 

accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Parent's executive director. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the use by the Parent's executive director of the going 

concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 

uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the 

Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 

exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in 

the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 

opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 

auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to 

continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial 

statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements 

represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 

presentation. 

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the 

entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated 

financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of 

the Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with the Parent's audit committee regarding, among other matters, the 

planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 

deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 
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We also provide the Parent's audit committee with a statement that we have complied with 

relevant ethical requirements, including those regarding independence, and we have 

communicated with it to report on all matters that may reasonably be thought to jeopardise 

our independence, and where applicable, on the related safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with the Parent's audit committee, we determine those 

matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of 

the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.  

We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public 

disclosure about the matter. 
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET  
at 31 December 2017 and 2016, in thousands of euros 

"LA CAIXA" BANKING FOUNDATION AND COMPANIES COMPOSING THE "LA CAIXA" BANKING FOUNDATION GROUP 
 

ASSETS      31/12/2017  31/12/2016(*)  

     

 NON-CURRENT ASSETS      

 Intangible assets   (Note 5)       1,027,861              4,758,563    

 Property, plant and equipment   (Note 6)           491,377              3,525,054    

 Investment properties   (Note 7)       1,136,744              4,630,650    

 Investments in associates and joint ventures   (Note 8)     18,158,383            15,273,709    

 Non-current financial assets   (Note 9)       1,039,610        221,067,435    

 Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss   (Note 2)     -            3,139,646    

 Held-to-maturity investments   (Note 2)     -            7,271,902    

 Derivatives   (Note 2)     -            3,059,635    

 Fair value changes of the hedged items in porfolio hedge of 
interest rate risk  

 (Note 2)     -               134,586    

 Assets under insurance and reinsurance contracts   (Note 2)     -               344,144    

 Deferred tax assets   (Note 20)       1,461,087            11,215,883    

          

 Total non-current assets      23,315,062         274,421,207    

     

 CURRENT ASSETS      

 Non-current assets held for sale   (Note 10)     -            7,308,937    

 Inventories   (Note 11)       1,636,850              1,669,227    

 Trade and other receivables   (Note 12)           101,414            51,702,407    

 Financial assets held for trading   (Note 2)     -          11,664,072    

 Held-to-maturity investments   (Note 2)     -            1,034,000    

 Other current financial assets   (Note 13)           307,956                 814,447    

 Cash and cash equivalents   (Note 14)           929,213            13,594,735    

          

 Total current assets         2,975,433            87,787,825    

          

 TOTAL ASSETS       26,290,495        362,209,032    

(*) Presented for comparison purposes only (see Note Basis of presentation - Comparison of information and changes in 
perimeter). 

 

The accompanying Notes 1 to 27 and Appendices I and II are an integral part of the consolidated balance 

sheet at 31 December 2017. 
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET  
at 31 December 2017 and 2016, in thousands of euros 

"LA CAIXA" BANKING FOUNDATION AND COMPANIES COMPOSING THE "LA CAIXA" BANKING FOUNDATION GROUP 

 
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES     31/12/2017 31/12/2016(*) 

     

EQUITY     

Capital, reserves and results (Note 15)   18,273,400 17,459,449 

     Share capital     5,868,000 5,868,000 

     Share premium      - - 

     Reserves     11,210,037 10,895,902 

     Other shareholder contributions     - - 

     Profit/(loss) attributable to the Group     1,195,363 695,547 

     Interim dividend paid     - - 

Valuation adjustments (Note 15.4)   (211,852) 363,543 

Minority interests (Note 15.5)   503,243 13,434,129 

          

Total equity     18,564,791 31,257,121 

     

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES         

Deferred income  (Note 16)   32,464 33,422 

Non-current provisions (Note 17)   147,984 4,882,467 

Non-current financial liabilities (Note 18)   7,020,601 64,820,093 

Fair value changes of the hedged items in portfolio hedge 
of interest rate risk 

(Note 2)   - 1,984,854 

Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit 
or loss 

(Note 2)   - 3,763,976 

Liabilities under insurance contracts (Note 2)   - 45,803,579 

Deferred tax liabilities (Note 20)   70,820 1,241,531 

          

Total non-current liabilities     7,271,869 122,529,922 

     

CURRENT LIABILITIES         

Current provisions (Note 17)   27,410 63,976 

Liabilities associated with non-current assets held for sale (Note 2)   - 86,039 

Current financial liabilities (Note 18)   117,842 205,179,619 

Financial liabilities held for trading - short positions (Note 2)   - 897,739 

Trade and other payables (Note 19)   305,616 383,928 

Other current liabilities (Note 19)   2,967 1,810,688 

          

Total current liabilities     453,835 208,421,989 

     

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES     26,290,495 362,209,032 

(*) Presented for comparison purposes only (see Note Basis of presentation - Comparison of information and changes in perimeter). 

 
 

The accompanying Notes 1 to 27 and Appendices I and II are an integral part of the consolidated balance 

sheet at 31 December 2017. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS  
for the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016, in thousands of euros 

"LA CAIXA" BANKING FOUNDATION AND COMPANIES COMPOSING THE "LA CAIXA" BANKING FOUNDATION GROUP 

(*) Restated as set out in Basis of presentation - Comparison of information and changes in consolidation perimeter. Presented for 

comparison purposes only. 

The accompanying Notes 1 to 27 and appendices I and II are an integral part of the consolidated 

statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2017. 

  31/12/2017 31/12/2016 

Restated (*) 

     
Sales and services (Note 21.1) 273,775  274,837  

Share of profit/(loss) of entities accounted for using the 

the equity method 
(Note 8) 865,553  678,319  

Return on equity instruments (Note 21.2) 26,650  25,282  

Gains/(losses) on financial assets and liabilities  311  1,054  

Gains/(losses) on transactions with group companies, associates 

and joint ventures 
(Note 21.3) 140,382  244,315  

Change in inventories of finished products and work in progress  459  247  

In-house work on non-current assets  257  - 

Procurements (Note 21.4) 38,137  (65,834) 

Other operating income  47,959  8,582  

Staff expenses (Note 21.5) (115,253) (107,046) 

Other operating expenses (Note 21.6) (601,703) (537,602) 

Depreciation and amortisation (Notes 5, 6, 7) (106,069) (109,161) 

Changes in provisions (Note 17) 813  (32,816) 

Impairment and gains/(losses) on disposal of non-current assets (Note 21.7) 6,030  (125,899) 

Impairment of investments in associates and joint ventures (Note 8) (1,104) - 

Impairment losses on financial instruments (Note 9) (2,415) (4,432) 

Negative goodwill recognised in profit or loss (Note 8) 6,443  - 

Other gains and losses  243  (3,802) 

OPERATING INCOME/(LOSS)  580,468  246,044 

Financial income (Note 21.8) 3,809  5,692  

Financial expenses (Note 21.8) (173,523) (245,808) 

Change in fair value of financial instruments 

(Notes 18.3 and 

21.8) 
10,856  (60,373) 

NET FINANCE COST  (158,858) (300,489) 

      
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX  421,610  (54,445) 

    
Income tax (Note 20) 161,803  296,187 

    
PROFIT/(LOSS) FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS  583,413  241,742 

    
Profit/(loss) from discontinued operations (Note 21.9) 1,637,552  1,007,237 

      
CONSOLIDATED PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE PERIOD  2,220,965  1,248,979 

    
Attributable to minority interests (non-controlling interests) (Note 15.5) 1,025,602  553,432 

From continuing operations  88,882  55,391 

From discontinued operations  936,720  498,041 

Attributable to owners of the Parent  1,195,363  695,547  

From continuing operations  494,530  185,407 

From discontinued operations  700,833  510,140 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (Part A) 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
for the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016, in thousands of euros 

"LA CAIXA" BANKING FOUNDATION AND COMPANIES COMPOSING THE "LA CAIXA" BANKING FOUNDATION GROUP 

 
 

    31/12/2017 31/12/2016 (*) 

PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE PERIOD 2,220,965 1,248,979 

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (642,049) (988,335) 

Items that will not be reclassified to profit and loss - - 

Items that may be reclassified to profit and loss (642,049) (988,335) 

  Foreign currency exchange (401,234) (28,948) 

    Translation gains/(losses) taken to equity (402,590) (29,095) 

    Amounts transferred to profit or loss 1,356 147 

  Cash flow hedges (effective portion)  (19,860) (67,583) 

    Valuation gains/(losses) taken to equity (17,387) (47,239) 

    Amounts transferred to profit or loss (2,473) (20,344) 

  Available-for-sale financial assets 79,349 (979,320) 

    Valuation gains/(losses) taken to equity 51,430 (578,099) 

    Amounts transferred to profit or loss 27,919 (401,221) 

  
Share of other recognised income and expense of investments in 
associate and joint ventures 

(298,678) 59,109 

  Income tax relating to items that may be reclassified to profit or loss (1,626) 28,407 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD 1,578,916 260,644 

     

  Attributable to minority interests (non-controlling interests) 958,948 2,208 

  Attributable to owners of the Parent 619,968 258,436 

(*) Presented for comparison purposes only (see Note Basis of presentation - Comparison of information and changes in perimeter). 

 

The accompanying Notes 1 to 27 and appendices I and II are an integral part of the consolidated 

statement of other comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2017. 



 
 

   
                                                                                                                          

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (Part B) 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF TOTAL CHANGES IN EQUITY  
for the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016, in thousands of euros 

"LA CAIXA" BANKING FOUNDATION AND COMPANIES COMPOSING THE "LA CAIXA" BANKING FOUNDATION GROUP 

 

  Equity attributable to the parent   Minority interests   

  Shareholders' equity           

EXERCISE 2017 Capital 
Accumulated 

Reserves 
(loss)  

Result of the 
exercise attributed 

to the Parent  

Total 
Shareholders' 

equity 

Accumulated other 
compressive 

income 
  

Accumulated other 
compressive 

income 
Other items Total equity 

                    

Opening balance (before restatement) 5,868,000 10,895,902 695,547 17,459,449 363,543   142,670 13,291,459 31,257,121 

Adjustment for changes in accounting criteria       -         - 

Adjustments for errors       -         - 

Opening balance at 31.12.2016 5,868,000 10,895,902 695,547 17,459,449 363,543   142,670 13,291,459 31,257,121 

Total income / (expenses) recognized     1,195,363 1,195,363 (575,395)   (66,654) 1,025,602 1,578,916 

Other changes in equity - 314,135 (695,547) (381,412) -   - (13,889,834) (14,271,246) 

Distribution of dividends / remuneration to shareholders       -       (95,732) (95,732) 

Transfers among components of equity   (536,618) (695,547) (1,232,165)       1,232,165 - 

Other increase / decrease in equity   850,753   850,753       (15,026,267) (14,175,514) 

Closing balance at 31.12.2017 5,868,000 11,210,037 1,195,363 18,273,400 (211,852)   76,016 427,227 18,564,791 

(*) Presented for comparison purposes only (see Note Basis of presentation - Comparison of information and changes in consolidation perimeter). 

The accompanying Notes 1 to 27 and appendices I and II are an integral part of the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year ended 31 December 2017. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (Part B) 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF TOTAL CHANGES IN EQUITY  
for the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016, in thousands of euros 

                      ”LA CAIXA” BANKING FOUNDATION AND COMPANIES COMPOSING THE "LA CAIXA" BANKING FOUNDATION GROUP  
 

 

  Equity attributable to the parent   Minority interests   

  Shareholders' equity           

EXERCISE 2016 Capital  
Accumulated 

Reserves 
(loss)  

Result of the 
exercise attributed 

to the Parent  

Total 
Shareholders' 

equity 

Accumulated other 
compressive 

income 
  

Accumulated 
other compressive 

income 
Other items Total equity 

                    

Opening balance (before restatement) 5,868,000 10,518,871 1,211,606 17,598,477 800,654   693,893 10,764,793 29,857,817 

Adjustment for changes in accounting criteria       -         - 

Adjustments for errors       -         - 

Opening balance at 31.12.2015 5,868,000 10,518,871 1,211,606 17,598,477 800,654   693,893 10,764,793 29,857,817 

Total income / (expenses) recognized     695,547 695,547 (437,111)   (551,223) 553,431 260,644 

Other changes in equity - 377,031 (1,211,606) (834,575) -     1,973,235 1,138,660 

Distribution of dividends / remuneration to shareholders       -       (220,759) (220,759) 

Transfers among components of equity   (457,417) (1,211,606) (1,669,023)       1,669,023 - 

Other increase / decrease in equity   834,448   834,448       524,971 1,359,419 

Closing balance at 31.12.2016 5,868,000 10,895,902 695,547 17,459,449 363,543   142,670 13,291,459 31,257,121 

(*) Presented for comparison purposes only (see Note Basis of presentation - Comparison of information and changes in consolidation perimeter). 

The accompanying Notes 1 to 27 and appendices I and II are an integral part of the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year ended 31 December 2017.  
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
for the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016, in thousands of euros 

"LA CAIXA" BANKING FOUNDATION AND COMPANIES COMPOSING THE "LA CAIXA" BANKING FOUNDATION GROUP 

 

 

 
31/12/2017 

31/12/2016 

Restated (*) 

 1. Cash flows from/(used in) operating activities  (485,638) (2,218,207) 

Profit/(loss) before tax  821,609  (41,029) 

Adjustment for: (Note 24) (1,001,952) 31,224 

Changes in working capital (Note 24) 142,379  (1,147,525) 

Other operating assets and liabilities  (400,040) (828,782) 

Interest paid  (139,770) (244,053) 

Interest received  11,335  1,801 

Tax recovered/(paid)  80,801  10,157 

2. Cash flows from/(used in) investing activities  2,302,188  2,878,237 

Dividends received  1,163,898  805,974 

Payments (-)  (220,477) (203,641) 

- Group companies, associates and joint ventures  (20,788) (44,411) 

- Property, plant and equipment, investment properties and other 
intangible assets  

(52,499) (88,592) 

- Available-for-sale financial assets  (126,727) (70,600) 

- Non-current assets held for sale   (12,566) (38) 

- Loans granted  (7,897)                                 -   

Proceeds (+)  1,358,767  2,275,904 

- Group companies, associates and joint ventures  1,253,499  2,029,322 

- Property, plant and equipment, investment properties and other 
intangible assets  

11,760  109,107 

- Available-for-sale financial assets  1,606  31,883 

- Non-current assets held for sale   68,302                                  -   

- Repayment of loans granted  23,600  105,592 

3. Cash flows from/(used in) financing activities  (3,066,183) 696,070 

Dividends paid  (100,000) - 

Proceeds and payments relating to equity transactions  5,887  - 

Distribution of reserves  (300,000) - 

Loans obtained  1,446,659  846,070 

Repayment of loans obtained  (4,118,729) (150,000) 

4. Cash flows from discontinued operations  (645,133) 5,181,666 

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  (1,894,766) 6,537,766 

Cash at beginning of period (Note 2) 13,594,735  7,015,962  

Derecognitions due to loss of control  (Notes 1, 2 and 3) (10,770,756) - 

Cash at end of period  929,213  13,553,728  

Cash generated (consumed) in the year  (1,894,766) 6,537,766  

(*) Restated as set out in Basis of presentation - Comparison of information and changes in consolidation perimeter. Presented for 
comparison purposes only. 
 

The accompanying Notes 1 to 27 and appendices I and II are an integral part of the consolidated statement 

of cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2017.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year 
ended 31 December 2017 

“LA CAIXA” BANKING FOUNDATION 

AND COMPANIES COMPOSING THE "LA CAIXA" BANKING FOUNDATION GROUP 

 

As required by current legislation governing the content of consolidated financial statements, these notes 

to the consolidated financial statements complete, extend and discuss the balance sheet, statement of 

profit or loss, statement of changes in equity and the statement of cash flows, and form an integral part 

of them to give a true and fair view of the equity and financial position of the "la Caixa" Banking 

Foundation Group at 31 December 2017, and the results of its operations, the changes in equity and the 

cash flows during the year then ended. 

1. Corporate information 

Fundación Bancaria Caixa d’Estalvis i Pensions de Barcelona, ”la Caixa”, (hereinafter, ”la Caixa” Banking 

Foundation, ”la Caixa” or the Parent) and its subsidiaries comprise the Caixa d’Estalvis i Pensions de 

Barcelona, ”la Caixa”, Banking Foundation Group (hereinafter, ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation Group, ”la 

Caixa” Group or the Group).  

The Caixa d’Estalvis i Pensions de Barcelona, ”la Caixa”, Banking Foundation is a non-profit banking 

foundation, the assets of which are permanently tied to the fulfilment purposes of general interest that 

are detailed in its bylaws and as a result of the transformation of Caixa d’Estalvis i Pensions de Barcelona 

into a banking foundation. 

On 6 October 2017, the Foundation's trustees resolved to relocate its registered office from Avenida 

Diagonal 621 - 629 (Barcelona) to Plaza Weyler, 3 (Palma de Mallorca). The Foundation's tax identification 

number (NIF) is G58899998. 

According to Law 26/2013, of December 27, on savings banks and banking foundations, the “la Caixa” 

General Assembly held on May 22, 2014 approved a motion to transform “la Caixa” into a banking 

foundation (“la Caixa” Banking Foundation) effective June 16, 2014 following its registration in the 

Ministry of Education, Culture and Sports Foundations Registry, (currently the Ministry of Justice), under 

number 1658. 

This transformation was carried out in accordance with Transitional Provision One of the aforementioned 

law that obliges all savings banks that carry on their business indirectly as a credit institution through a 

banking entity, and hold more than 10% of its capital, to transform into a banking foundation.  

The banking foundation is supervised by the Protectorate of the Ministry of Economy, Industry and 

Competition and the Bank of Spain with regard to its indirect ownership interest through CaixaBank, SA 

(CaixaBank) as set forth in the law on savings banks and banking foundations.  

The general purpose of ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation is to promote and develop social, charitable, 

welfare, educational and/or cultural projects and initiatives. Its primary activity is therefore to manage 

and carry out welfare projects and appropriately manage its investments, including the ownership interest 

in CaixaBank. The economic stake held by ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation in CaixaBank at 31 December 

2017 stood at 40.00% (45.32% at 31 December 2016). 
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”la Caixa” Banking Foundation manages its stake in CaixaBank indirectly through its 100% stake in Criteria 

Caixa, SAU (Criteria), an entity which also manages banking and business interests in strategic sectors, 

including banking, energy, infrastructure, services and real estate. 

Nature of the investment in CaixaBank 

In May 2016, the Board of Trustees of ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation and Criteria’s Board of Directors 
agreed to place on record their intent to comply, before the end of 2017, with the requirements 
announced by the European Central Bank (ECB) in order for Criteria to effectively relinquish control of 
CaixaBank for prudential deconsolidation purposes, in view also of the fact that the European banking 
resolution authorities will likely decide that the scope of resolution lies at the Criteria Group level, which 
would effectively tie all of ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation’s net worth to one single investment. 

The most significant conditions established by the European Central Bank are essentially threefold: 

a) Criteria’s stake in CaixaBank. Limited to 40% of the stake in CaixaBank for both voting and 
dividend rights. 

b) Corporate governance. Implementation of various measures to limit Criteria’s influence on 
CaixaBank’s governing bodies. 

c) Intra-group financing. Restrictions on CaixaBank lending to the Criteria Group/”la Caixa” Banking 
Foundation and vice-versa. These must be met within one year of the prudential deconsolidation. 

In order to comply with all of the conditions established by the ECB for prudential deconsolidation 

purposes, Criteria took the following steps in 2017: 

a) Criteria’s stake in CaixaBank. So as to reduce the stake in CaixaBank to a maximum of 40%, 
318,305,355 CaixaBank shares, owned by Criteria, was placed with institutional and/or qualified 
investors through an accelerated bookbuild on 6 February 2017, comprising approximately 5,322 
% of its share capital (see "Equity"). Following this placement, Criteria held 40% of all voting and 
dividend rights in CaixaBank, thereby complying with the first of the ECB's conditions. 

b) Corporate governance. During the second half of 2017, all the ECB's requirements were met by 
amending CaixaBank's By-laws and the “Protocol for managing the financial investment of ”la 
Caixa” Banking Foundation in CaixaBank”. 

c) Intra-group financing. The most significant steps taken here by Criteria included: 

1. Reducing funding with CaixaBank to below 5% of CaixaBank's eligible own funds on 
deconsolidation, as required by the European Central Bank, and then to 0% over the 

following 12 months. This percentage stood at 0.91% at 31 December 2017. 

2. Bar on CaixaBank customers lending directly or indirectly to Criteria or ”la Caixa” 
Banking Foundation. Following the redemption of the last subordinated debt issuance 
placed through CaixaBank’s branch network amongst the retail customers of EUR 1,505 
million in January 2017, neither Criteria nor “la Caixa” Banking Foundation have any 
funding from CaixaBank customers.   

In relation to this, on 26 September 2017 the Governing Council of the European Central Bank, having 
confirmed the loss of control by Criteria over CaixaBank, took a Decision that came into force on that date, 
pursuant to which Criteria is no longer under its supervision, and the new responsible group is that headed 
by CaixaBank. 

Thus Criteria ceased to be considered as a mixed financial holding company for the purposes of Regulation 
(EU) No 575/2013 and the responsible entity of a financial conglomerate, and is not required to comply 
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with the capital requirements of said regulation. Meanwhile, the Single Resolution Board considers that 
the scope of resolution lies at the CaixaBank consolidated level. 

In light of the steps taken by Criteria and “la Caixa” Banking Foundation for the prudential consolidation 
established by the European Central Bank, and as per International Financial Reporting Standard 10 (IFRS 
10 Consolidated Financial Statements) which states that an investor controls an investee when it has 
power over it, and in particular that: 

 The mechanisms laid down in CaixaBank's bylaws and the Protocol for managing the financial 
investment are such that it can be concluded Criteria and “la Caixa” Banking Foundation do not 
have the power to direct the relevant activities of CaixaBank, as decisions in this regard are taken 
by the Board of Directors and the board committees, and neither Criteria nor “la Caixa” Banking 
Foundation have the power to appoint a majority of these bodies' members. 

 The fact that the Protocol for managing the financial investment has to be approved by the Bank 
of Spain and that any amendments must be signed off by the European Central Bank, clearly 
mean that, once both documents have been authorised by the supervisory authorities, Criteria 
and “la Caixa” are not able to reverse the situation without the pertinent approvals from these 
bodies. In effect, this means it cannot appoint a majority of the members of CaixaBank's Board 
of Directors and therefore, it is impossible to have the power to direct CaixaBank's relevant 
activities.  

Therefore, it has been concluded that Criteria and ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation no longer have control 
over CaixaBank's relevant decisions. 

Considering the loss of control over relevant CaixaBank decisions, and in accordance with IFRS 10 ”la 
Caixa” Banking Foundation now accounts for its stake in CaixaBank as an associate holding using the equity 
method because it still has significant influence over CaixaBank. This has entailed derecognising the assets 
and liabilities associated with the stake in CaixaBank in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and 
recognising the stake held in CaixaBank at fair value when control was lost (see "Investments in associates 
and joint ventures"). 
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2. Basis of presentation 

2.1. Regulatory financial reporting framework 

The Group's consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue by the directors in accordance 
with the regulatory financial reporting framework applicable to the Group and established in: 

a) the International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as adopted by the European Union through 
EU regulations, in accordance with Regulation (EC) No 1606/2002 of the European Parliament and of 
the Council of 19 July 2002 and subsequent amendments; 

b) the Spanish Commercial Code and all other Spanish corporate law; and 

c) other applicable Spanish accounting regulations. 

2.2. True and fair view 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements, which were prepared from the accounting records 
of ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation and other Group entities and are presented in accordance with the 
regulatory framework for financial reporting applicable to them and, in particular, with the accounting 
principles and rules contained therein and, accordingly, present a true and fair view of the equity and 
financial situation of the Group at 31 December 2017, of its results and changes in equity and cash flows 
occurring during the financial year. The accompanying consolidated financial statements include certain 
adjustments and reclassifications required to apply the policies and criteria used by the Group companies 
on a consistent basis with those of  ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation. 

The accounting policies and measurement bases applied are specified in "Accounting policies and 
measurement bases" of these notes to the consolidated financial statements. All mandatory accounting 
principles and measurement bases with a significant effect on the consolidated financial statements were 
applied. 

Figures are presented in thousands of euros unless the use of another monetary unit is stated explicitly. 
Certain financial information in these notes was rounded off and, consequently, the figures shown herein 
as totals may differ slightly from the arithmetic sum of the individual figures given before them. 

In addition, in deciding which information to disclose in these consolidated annual financial statements, 
materiality was assessed in relation to the annual financial data. 
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Standards and interpretations issued by the International Accounting Standard Board (IASB) that became 
effective in 2017 

At the date of authorisation for issue of the consolidated financial statements, the main standards that 
became effective were as follows: 
 

Standards and interpretations Title 

Mandatory application 
for annual periods 

beginning on or after: 

      
Approved for use in the EU  

 Amendment to IAS 7 Disclosure Initiative 1 January 2017 

 Amendment to IAS 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses 1 January 2017 

Improvements to IFRS 
Standards 2014-2016 Cycle 

Clarification regarding IFRS 12 and its interaction with IFRS 5 
takes effect in this period. 

1 January 2017 

   
 

Amendment to IAS 7 Disclosure initiative 

In January 2016, the IASB amended IAS 7, requiring entities to provide disclosures that enable users of 
financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing activities, including both 
changes arising from cash flows and non-cash changes. It may therefore be necessary to disclose: (i) 
changes from financing cash flows; (ii) changes arising from obtaining or losing control of subsidiaries or 
other businesses; (iii) the effect of changes in foreign currency rates; (iv) changes in fair values; and (v) 
other changes. 

Amendment to IAS 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses 

With these amendments, the IASB clarifies that an entity must consider whether tax rules restrict the 
taxable profits that can be used to offset a deductible temporary difference. The amendments also 
provide guidance on how an entity must estimate future taxable profits, and set out the circumstances 
when taxable profits may include the recovery of certain assets for an amount higher than their carrying 
amount. 

Entities are required to apply these amendments retrospectively. However, on adopting the amendments 
for the first time, any change in equity in the first reporting period can be recognised under reserves. 
Entities applying this exemption must declare this. 

The aforementioned standards and interpretations have not had a significantly impact on the Group. 

Standards and interpretations issued by the IASB but not yet effective 

At the date of authorisation for issue of the accompanying consolidated financial statements, following 
are the most significant standards and interpretations for the Group issued by the IASB but not mandatory 
in the preparation of 2017 financial statements, either because their effective date is subsequent to the 
date of the consolidated financial statements or because they have not yet been endorsed by the 
European Union. 

The Group has elected not to early adopt these standards, where possible. The Group is also currently 
analysing all the future impacts of the adoption of these standards, but is unable to provide a reasonable 
estimate of their impact until this analysis has been carried out. 

(*) The IASB initially stipulated that this standard would be effective from 1 January 2017, although it subsequently issued a 
clarification of the standard postponing its effective date until 1 January 2018. 
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(*) The IASB initially stipulated that this standard would be effective from 1 January 2017, although it subsequently issued a 
clarification of the standard postponing its effective date until 1 January 2018. 

Approved for use in the EU  

 
Amendment to IFRS 4 Applying IFRS 9 Financial Instruments with IFRS 4 Insurance contracts 

The amendments give entities subject to IFRS 4 the option of applying IFRS 9 (overlay approach) or 
temporary exemption. 

IFRS 9  Financial instruments 

IFRS 9 will replace IAS 39 Financial Instruments: recognition and measurement and affects financial 
instruments that are both assets and liabilities, covering three main areas: a) classification and 
measurement; b) impairment; and c) hedge accounting. The date of first-time application is 1 January 
2018 and early adoption is permitted.  

a) Classification and measurement 

The new approach for classifying financial instruments will depend on the way in which the entity 
manages its financial instruments (its business model) and whether or not contractual cash flows exist. 
Financial instruments will be classified on initial recognition in three categories: (i) those measured at 
amortised cost; (ii) those measured at fair value with changes recognised in other comprehensive income 
(equity); and (iii) those measured at fair value with changes recognised in profit or loss. 

If the objective of the business model is to hold a financial asset so as to collect contractual cash flows 
comprising solely payments of principal plus interest, the financial asset is measured at amortised cost. If 
the objective of the business model is to both collect cash flows and sell the financial asset, it is carried at 

Standards and interpretations Title 

Mandatory application 
for annual periods 

beginning on or after: 

      
Approved for use in the EU  

Amendment to IFRS 4 
Applying IFRS 9 Financial Instruments with IFRS 4 
Insurance Contracts 

1 January 2018 
 

IFRS 9 Financial instruments 1 January 2018 

IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers 1 January 2018(*) 

Clarifications to IFRS 15 
Revenue from Contracts with Customers 
(clarifications) 

1 January 2018 
 

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2014-
2016 Cycle 

Minor corrections 
1 January 2018 

IFRS 16 Leases 1 January 2019 

   

Not approved for use in the EU  

Amendment to IFRS 2 
Classification and measurement of share-based 
payment transactions 

1 January 2018 

Amendement to IAS 40 Reclassification of investment properties 1 January 2018 

IFRIC 22 
Foreign currency transactions and advance 
consideration 

1 January 2018 
 

IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over income tax treatments 1 January 2019 

Amendment to IFRS 9 Prepayment features with negative compensation 1 January 2019 

Amendment to IAS 28 Long-term interests in associates and joint ventures 1 January 2019 

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2015-
2017 Cycle 

Minor corrections 
1 January 2019 

Amendment to IAS 19 Plan amendment, curtailment or settlement 1 January 2019 

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 1 January 2021 

Amendment to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 
Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor 
and its Associate or Joint Venture 

No scheduled date. 

   



 

”la Caixa” Banking Foundation Group – 2017 Financial Statements               15 
 

fair value through other comprehensive income. All other financial assets, including embedded 
derivatives, must be fully measured at fair value through profit or loss.  

However, if the objective is to hold specific equity instruments (which would otherwise be recognised at 
fair value through profit and loss) for trading, an entity may make an irrevocable election on initial 
recognition to present subsequent changes in the fair value in other comprehensive income, recognising 
in profit or loss dividends from that investment. 

In this regard, regarding quoted and unquoted equity instruments currently classified as available-for-sale 
financial assets (see "Non-current financial assets") with changes in fair value recognised in equity except 
when they are sold, in which case they are recognised in profit or loss, the Group has still not decided 
whether to recognise changes in fair value in profit or loss – which could increase the volatility of profit 
or loss – or opt to irrevocably classify the instruments in the new category recognising changes in fair 
value in equity, which means they can never be reclassified to profit or loss. In this regard, retained 
earnings totalled EUR 117,071 thousand at 31 December 2017 (see “Equity – Valuation adjustments”). 

IFRS 9 establishes similar categories for financial liabilities as those presently included in IAS 39. 

The Group does not envisage any material impacts on its balance sheet or equity due to applying the 
classification and measurement requirements of IFRS 9, other than those mentioned previously. 

b) Impairment losses 

It is precisely in respect of impairment of financial instruments, based on expected loss, where IFRS 9 
reflects the most substantial changes compared to the current model under IAS 39, which is based on the 
accounting of losses incurred. The new model of expected loss entails recording at the initial date of 
recognition of financial assets, the expected loss from a default event occurring in the subsequent 12 
months or the life of the contract, according to the extent of the credit risk to which the financial asset is 
exposed from initial recognition in the balance sheet or the application of the 'simplified models' that can 
be applied under the standard for certain financial assets. 

In particular, IFRS 9 requires an entity to use an impairment model as a basis for measuring its loan loss 
allowance. The model contains three stages. Measurement of expected loss depends on whether there 
has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, whereby: (i) 12-month expected 
credit loss (Stage 1) applies to all assets (from initial recognition) as long as there is no significant 
deterioration in credit quality; (ii) life-time expected loss (Stages 2 and 3) applies when a significant 
increase in credit risk has occurred on an individual or collective basis. For impaired financial assets in 
Stage 3, financial interest is accrued on the net carrying amount.  

The Group does not expect there will be a material impact. 

c) Hedge accounting 

The granularity in current IAS 39 requirements is replaced with a new model that better aligns hedge 
accounting with entities' risk management activities. There are changes with respect to IAS 39 in a number 
of other areas, such as hedged items, hedging instruments, the accounting of the time value of options 
and the assessment of effectiveness, which will enable Group entities to expand the transactions to which 
hedge accounting is applied and facilitate the application of hedge accounting, as well as the possibility 
of hedging non-financial risks. 

IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers 

This standard replaces all the previous standards on revenue recognition: IAS 11 Construction Contracts 
and IAS 18 Revenue, IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes, IFRIC 15 Agreements for the Construction of 
Real Estate, IFRIC 18 Transfers of Assets from Customers, and SIC 31 Revenue – Barter Transactions 
Involving Advertising Services.  
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According to the new requirements of IFRS 15, revenue shall be recognised to depict the transfer of goods 
or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be 
entitled in exchange for those goods and services. In particular, it establishes a new five-step model for 
recognising revenues from contracts with customers. 

Clarification of IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (clarifications) 

These clarifications concern identifying performance obligations, principle versus agent considerations, 
licensing and the recognition of the costs thereof at a point in time or over time, and a number of 
clarifications on transition relief. 

IFRS 16 Leases 

This standard replaces the current IAS 17 Leases and interpretations on leases (IFRIC 4 Determining 
whether an Arrangement contains a Lease, SIC-15 Operating Leases - Incentives and SIC-27 Evaluating the 
Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease).  

IFRS 16 establishes principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases, 
with the objective of ensuring that lessees and lessors provide relevant information that faithfully 
represents those transactions. IFRS 16 proposes a single model whereby all lessees recognise assets and 
liabilities in the balance sheet, with a similar impact as current finance leases (amortisation of the right-
of-use and financial expenses for the amortised cost of the liability). However, for lessors the proposal is 
to retain a dual accounting model for lessors, similar to the current IAS 17. 

The Group does not envisage any material impacts on its balance sheet or equity due to applying the 
aforementioned standards and interpretations. 

Not approved for use in the EU 

Amendment to IFRS 2 Classification and measurement of share-based payment transactions 

There are cases where a cash-settled share-based payment is modified, cancelling and substituting it with 
a new equity-settled share-based payment and, at the modification date, the fair value of the post-
modification awards is different to the value recognised for the original awards. Before the amendment 
was issued, there was diversity in the entities’ practice in the accounting treatment of these modifications.  

By way of these amendments, the IASB requires that an equity-settled share based payment transaction 
is recognised in equity on the modification date to the extent to which the goods and services have been 
received. This measurement will be performed by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments 
granted at the modification date. 

The liability for the share based payment originally settled in cash is derecognised on the modification 
date, as it is considered to have been settled when the entity grants the equity-settled share based 
payment replacing the cash-settled share-based payment. This is because, on the modification date, the 
entity is no longer under the obligation to transfer cash (or other assets) to the counterparty. Any 
difference between the carrying amount of the liability derecognised and the amount recognised in equity 
on the modification date is recognised immediately in profit or loss. 

Amendment to IAS 40 Reclassification of Investment Properties 

The amendment clarifies that a property shall be transferred to, or from, investment properties when, 
and only when, there is evidence of a change in use. 

IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration 

This interpretation clarifies the exchange rate to be used for transactions that include the receipt or 
payment of advance consideration in a foreign currency. 
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IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments 

This interpretation clarifies how to apply the recognition and measurement criteria of IAS 12 when these 
is uncertainty over whether the tax authority will accept a tax treatment used by the entity.  

Amendment to IFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation 

This amendment introduces change in the SPPI test (solely payments of principal and interest) so that in 
certain circumstances, assets that are prepayable by the borrower and involve the payment of 
compensation reflecting changes in interest rates, may be measured at amortised cost subject to the 
other IFRS 9 criteria. 

Amendment to IAS 28 Long-term Interests in associates and Joint Ventures 

This amendment clarifies that IFRS 9, including its impairment requirements, must be applied to long-
term loans to associates and joint ventures that form part of the net investment in said investees. Since 
IAS 28 does not establish any requirements for recognition or measurement of these long-term loans, 
they will be subject to IFRS 9. 

Amendment to IAS 19 Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement 

According to the proposed amendments, if a defined benefit plan changes (due to an amendment, 
curtailment or settlement), an entity shall use updated assumptions to calculate the service cost and net 
interest for the period after the change to the plan. 

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 

IFRS 7 was published in May 2017, replacing IFRS 4. It determines the principles for recognising, 
measuring, presenting and disclosing insurance contracts so that the entity provides relevant and reliable 
information enabling users of the information to determine the effect the contracts have on the financial 
statements.  

Amendment to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate 
or Joint Venture 

The amendment clarifies that recognition of any gain or loss for a transaction involving an associate or 
joint venture shall depend on whether the assets sold or contributed constitute a business. 

2.3. Responsibility for the information and for the estimates made 

The consolidated financial statements of “la Caixa” Banking Foundation Group for 2017 were authorised 
for issue by CEO on 29 March 2018. These financial statements have not yet been approved by the Board 
of Trustees. However, the Chief Executive Officer expects they will be approved without any changes. The 
consolidated financial statements of ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation Group for 2016 were approved by the 
Board of Trustees at the meeting of ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation's Board of Trustees on 18 May 2017 
and are filed at the Barcelona Companies' Registry.  

The preparation of these financial statements required the Chief Executive Officer to make certain 
judgements, estimates and assumptions in order quantify certain of the assets, liabilities, revenues, 
expenses and obligations shown in them. These estimates relate primarily to: 

 The useful life of and impairment losses on intangible assets and property, plant and equipment 
(Notes 5 and 6)  

 The measurement of goodwill and intangible assets (Note 5)  

 Impairment losses on investment properties and inventories (Notes 7 and 11) 

 The measurement of investments in associates and joint ventures (Note 8)  
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 Determination of the share of profit/(loss) in associates and joint ventures (Note 8)  

 The fair value of certain financial assets and liabilities (Notes 9, 13 and 18)  

 Impairment losses on certain financial assets (Note 9) 

 The measurement of the provisions required to cover labour, legal and tax contingencies, 
provisions for replacement and fees and other contingent liabilities (Note 17)  

 The income tax expense based on the income tax rate expected for the full year and the 
capitalisation and recoverability of tax assets (Note 20)  
 

These estimates were made on the basis of the best information available at the date of preparation of 
these financial statements. However, events may occur that make it necessary for them to be changed in 
future periods. Any such changes will be made prospectively. 

The accounting principles and policies and the measurement bases are described in Note 3. No criteria 
differing from such standards which may have a material effect have been applied. 

2.4. Comparison of information and changes in consolidation perimeter 

The 2016 figures presented in the accompanying 2017 financial statements are given for comparison 
purposes only. 

Due to the impacts of losing control over CaixaBank (see Nature of the investment in CaixaBank), in 
accordance with IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements, and so that it can be compared correctly with 
the financial information for 2017, the financial information for 2016 was restated. Consequently, the 
information for 2016 presented in these financial statements differs from that approved by the Board of 
Trustees of ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation on 18 May 2017.  

For an appropriate understanding and comparison of the consolidated financial position and equity of  ”la 
Caixa” Banking Foundation Group at 31 December 2017 to the situation prevailing at 31 December 2016, 
and of the consolidated results of its operations and its consolidated cash flows in 2017 to those for the 
previous year, the following details are provided: 

Restatement of the consolidated statement of profit or loss for 2016, authorised for issue by the Chief 
Executive Officer of ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation. 

As indicated in “Nature of the investment in CaixaBank”, as part of the prudential deconsolidation of 
CaixaBank, in 2017 Criteria and ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation carried out the measures required to 
comply with the conditions prescribed by the ECB to bring about the prudential deconsolidation, which in 
turn led to the loss of control over this investee from an accounting standpoint. The consolidated 
statement of profit or loss (and corresponding disclosures) and the consolidated statement of cash flows 
for 2016 have been restated to reflect the impact of classifying in the statement of profit and loss the 
business carried out by the CaixaBank Group as a discontinued operation, in application of IFRS 5 Non-
Current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations (see "Income and expenses – Profit/(loss) from 
discontinued operations"), as shown hereon: 
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a) Restatement of the consolidated statement of profit or loss for 2016. 
 

BANKING FORMAT - PREPARED BY THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER FOR THE 2016 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS    

         

(Thousands of euros) 

31/12/2016 
Banking 
business 

Reclassification of 
banking business as 

a discontinued 
activity 

31/12/2016 
Restated 

Interest income       6,711,074        6,705,608                5,466  

Interest expenses     (2,841,699)     (2,595,962)           (245,737) 

     

NET INTEREST INCOME       3,869,375        4,109,646                                      -          (240,271) 

     

Dividend income          223,900           198,618              25,282  

Share of profit/(loss) of entities accounted for using the equity method        1,308,536           630,217             678,319  

Fee and commission income        2,259,800        2,259,800                        -   

Fee and commission expenses        (171,598)        (171,657)                     59  

Gains/(losses) on derecognition of financial assets and liabilities not measured at fair value through profit 
or loss, net   

         790,282           786,714                 3,568  

Gains/(losses) on financial assets and liabilities held for trading (net)             17,334             21,175                (3,841) 

Gains/(losses) from hedge accounting, net          (46,358)            12,689              (59,047) 

Exchange differences (gain/(loss), net            28,717             28,562                    155  

Other operating income          850,924           568,620             282,304  

Other operating expenses      (1,118,478)        (996,541)           (121,937) 

Income from assets under insurance and reinsurance contracts          803,619           803,619                        -   

Expenses from liabilities under insurance and reinsurance contracts        (493,129)        (493,129)                       -   

     

GROSS INCOME       8,322,924        7,758,333                                      -            564,591  

Administrative expenses     (4,271,256)     (3,739,268)                                     -           (531,988) 

Staff expenses     (2,852,395)     (2,745,349)          (107,046) 

Other administrative expenses     (1,418,861)        (993,919)          (424,942) 

Depreciation and amortisation        (479,363)        (370,202)           (109,161) 

Provisions/(reversal) of provisions         (519,348)        (486,532)             (32,816) 

Impairment or reversal of impairment on financial assets not measured at fair value through profit or loss        (586,293)        (581,861)                                     -               (4,432) 

Available-for-sale financial assets        (235,869)        (233,048)              (2,821) 

Loans and receivables        (469,368)        (467,757)              (1,611) 

Held-to-maturity investments         118,944          118,944                       -   

     

NET OPERATING INCOME/(LOSS)       2,466,664        2,580,470                                      -          (113,806) 

Impairment or reversal of impairment on investments in associates and joint ventures            (3,986)            (3,986)                      -   

Impairment or reversal of impairment on non-financial assets        (329,022)        (228,414)                                     -           (100,608) 

Tangible assets        (323,023)        (224,279)            (98,744) 

Intangible assets            (2,367)               (503)              (1,864) 

Other            (3,632)            (3,632)                      -   

Gains/(losses) on derecognition of non-financial assets and investments, net            98,417         (140,990)            239,407  

Negative goodwill recognised in profit or loss            66,926             66,926                        -   

Profit/(loss) from non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale not qualifying as 
discontinued operations 

       (866,458)        (787,020)             (79,438) 

     

PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS       1,432,541        1,486,986                                      -             (54,445) 

Tax expense or income related to profit or loss from continuing operations        (182,618)        (478,805)           296,187  

PROFIT/(LOSS) AFTER TAX FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS       1,249,923        1,008,181                                      -            241,742  

Profit/(loss) before tax from discontinued operations               (944)               (944)  1,008,181        1,007,237  

PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE PERIOD       1,248,979        1,007,237                1,008,181        1,248,979  

Attributable to minority interests          553,432           497,525  497,525          553,432  

From continuing operations          553,432           497,525                               -              55,907  

From discontinued operations                     -                       -     497,525          497,525 

Attributable to owners of the Parent          695,547           509,712                   509,712          695,547 

From continuing operations          695,547           509,712                                -            185,835  

From discontinued operations                     -                       -               509,712 509,712 

 

  



 

”la Caixa” Banking Foundation Group – 2017 Financial Statements               20 
 

b) Restatement of 2016 consolidated statement of cash flows 

 

BANKING FORMAT - PREPARED BY THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER FOR THE 2016 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS    

      

    31/12/2016 
Discontinued  

Banking business 
31/12/2016        

Restated 

      

A) CASH FLOWS FROM/(USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES 10,800,498 (12,212,341) - (1,411,843) 

      

Profit/(loss) for the period 1,249,923 (1,017,889)   232,034 

Adjustments to obtain cash flows from operating activities 5,931,761 (6,173,600)   (241,839) 

  Depreciation and amortisation 479,363 (370,202)   109,161 

  Other adjustments 5,452,398 (5,803,398)   (351,000) 

Net increase/(decrease) in operating assets 1,607,280 (1,889,262)   (281,982) 

  Financial assets held for trading 1,867,991 (1,867,991)                        -   

  Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss (1,573,686) 1,573,686                        -   

  Available-for-sale financial assets (2,851,714) 2,812,997   (38,717) 

  Loans and receivables 1,194,317 (916,538)   277,779 

  Other operating assets 2,970,372 (3,491,416)   (521,044) 

Net increase/(decrease) in operating liabilities 1,918,728 (3,048,941)   (1,130,213) 

  Financial liabilities held for trading (1,911,681) 1,911,681                        -   

  Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss 1,688,575 (1,688,575)                        -   

  Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 5,509,237 (5,543,903)   (34,666) 

  Other operating liabilities (3,367,403) 2,271,856   (1,095,547) 

Income tax (paid)/received 92,806 (82,649)   10,157 

      

B) CASH FLOWS FROM/(USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES (1,656,812) 2,906,210 - 1,249,398 

Payments: (5,043,739) 4,910,698  (133,041) 

  Tangible assets (505,393) 459,494   (45,899) 

  Intangible assets (222,059) 179,366   (42,693) 

  Investments in associates and joint ventures (148,051) 104,890   (43,161) 

  Subsidiaries and other business units (1,250)                   -     (1,250) 

  Non-current assets and liabilities classified as held for sale (35,198) 35,160   (38) 

  Other payments related to investing activities (4,131,788) 4,131,788                        -   

Proceeds: 3,386,927 (2,004,488)   1,382,439 

  Tangible assets 248,034 (209,403)   38,631 

  Intangible assets 70,476                   -     70,476 

  Investments in associates and joint ventures 1,867,347 (699,607)   1,167,740 

  Non-current assets and liabilities classified as held for sale 1,201,070 (1,095,478)   105,592 

      

C) CASH FLOWS FROM/(USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES (2,607,237) 4,125,782 - 1,518,545 

Payments: (6,932,198) 6,932,198   - 

  Dividends  - -   - 

  Other payments related to financing activities (6,932,198) 6,932,198   - 

Proceeds: 4,324,961 (2,806,416)   1,518,545  

  Disposal of own equity instruments 1,306,416 (1,306,416)   - 

  Other proceeds related to financing activities 3,018,545 (1,500,000)   1,518,545  

D) EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATES CHANGES 1,317 (1,317)   - 

E) CASH FLOWS FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS                      -     5,181,666 5,181,666 

F) NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (A+B+C+D+E) 6,537,766 (5,181,666) 5,181,666 6,537,766 

G) CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF PERIOD 7,015,962     7,015,962 

H) CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF PERIOD (F+G) 13,553,728     13,553,728 
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Adaptation of the consolidated financial statements for 2016, authorised for issue by the Chief 
Executive Officer of ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation 

In light of ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation losing control over CaixaBank and this investee being recognised 
as an associate (see “Investments in associates and joint ventures”), the nature of ”la Caixa” Banking 
Foundation Group's  principal activities has changed considerably. Previously, the Group's consolidated 
financial statements were presented in the specific format for credit institution groups on a liquidity basis, 
as the banking business was the Group's most representative activity and because it was deemed to 
provided more relevant, reliable information.  

However, because of the loss of control over CaixaBank and therefore, its classification as an associate, 
”la Caixa” Banking Foundation Group's activities are no longer considered to be primarily banking 
activities, but holding activities, as Criteria accounts for the Group's main activity. This change in nature 
means that the most relevant method of presenting the Group's consolidated financial statements is to 
classify its assets and liabilities as current and non-current.  

Consequently, as stipulated in IAS 1, as the presentation of items in the Group's consolidated financial 
statements has changed, comparative amounts have been reclassified, unless reclassification was 
unworkable. 

The adaptation to the specific format for holding companies of the balance sheet, statement of profit or 
loss and statement of cash flows – all part of ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation Group's 2016 consolidated 
financial statements - is shown below. 

The reconciliation between the two presentation formats can be made using the alphanumerical code 
accompanying each heading. Assumptions have been used to adapt certain amounts of the banking 
business because of the difficulty of obtaining information to classify assets and liabilities as current or 
non-current. 
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Adaptation of assets in the consolidated balance sheet 

BANKING FORMAT PREPARED BY THE DIRECTORS IN 2016        HOLDING COMPANY FORMAT       

                          

   31/12/2016     31/12/2016  

  TOTAL  Holding 
company 

 Banking    TOTAL  Holding company  Banking  

                  

Cash and cash balances at central banks and other demand 
deposits 

13,553,728 1 293,771  13,259,957  A) NON-CURRENT ASSETS          

Financial assets held for trading 11,664,072 2                        
-   

 11,664,072  Intagible assets 4,758,563 18 1,071,211  3,687,352  

  Derivatives 9,575,832                         
-   

 9,575,832    Goodwill 3,053,364  2,519  3,050,845  

  Equity instruments  294,923                         
-   

 294,923   Other intangible assets 1,705,199  1,068,692  636,507  

  Debt securities 1,793,317                         
-   

 1,793,317  Property, plant and equipment 3,525,054 16 520,392  3,004,662  

Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss 3,139,646 4                        
-   

 3,139,646  Investment properties 4,630,650 17 1,198,404  3,432,246  

  Equity instruments  1,806,976                         
-   

 1,806,976  Investments in associates and joint ventures 15,273,709 14 8,856,398  6,417,311  

  Debt securities 1,332,670                         
-   

 1,332,670  Non-current financial assets 221,067,435  837,944  220,229,491  

Available-for-sale financial assets 65,430,925  721,618  64,709,307    Equity instruments 3,666,885 8 720,855  2,946,030  

  Equity instruments  3,666,885 8 720,855  2,946,030    Debt securities 62,325,179 9 763  62,324,416  

  Debt securities 61,764,040 9 763  61,763,277    Loans and receivables and other financial assets 116,326  116,326 7                           -    

Loans and receivables 206,521,322  222,158 C 206,299,164 A  Loans and receivables and other financial assets - 
banking business 

154,959,045 11                  -    154,959,045  

  Debt securities 561,139 9    561,139  Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or 
loss 

3,139,646 4                  -    3,139,646  

  Loans and advances 205,960,183  222,158  205,738,025  Held-to-maturiy investments 7,271,902 6                  -    7,271,902  

    Credit institutions 6,814,823  73,516  6,741,307  Derivatives - Hedge accounting 3,059,635 12                  -    3,059,635  

    Customers 199,145,360  148,642  198,996,718  Fair value changes of the hedged items in porfolio hedge of 
interest rate risk 

134,586 13                 -    134,586  

Held-to-maturity investments 8,305,902 B                        
-   

 8,305,902  Assets under insurance and reinsurance contracts 344,144 15                   -    344,144  

Derivates - Hedge accounting 3,059,635 12                        
-   

 3,059,635  Deferred tax assets 11,215,883 19 1,482,735  9,733,148  

Fair value changes of the hedged items in porfolio hedge of 
interest rate risk 

134,586 13                        
-   

 134,586  Total non-current assets 274,421,207  13,967,084  260,454,123  

Investments in associates and joint ventures 15,273,709 14 8,856,398  6,417,311          

  Associates 14,079,746  8,856,397  5,223,349          

  Joint ventures 1,193,963  1  1,193,962          

Assets under insurance and reinsurance contracts 344,144 15                        
-   

 344,144  B) CURRENT ASSETS             

Tangible assets 8,155,704  1,718,796  6,436,908  Non-current assets held for sale 7,308,937 23 904,077  6,404,860  

  Property, plant and equipment 3,525,054 16 520,392  3,004,662  Inventories 1,669,227 21 656,331  1,012,896  

    For own use 3,159,242  154,580  3,004,662  Trade and other receivables 51,702,407  131,301  51,571,106  

    Subject to "Obra Social" 365,812  365,812                         -      Trade receivables for sales and services 28,677  28,677 24                           -    

  Investment properties 4,630,650 17 1,198,404  3,432,246    Loans and receivables and other financial assets - 
banking business 

50,778,980 10                  -    50,778,980  

Intangible assets 4,758,563 18 1,071,211  3,687,352    Tax assets 890,447 20 98,321  792,126  

  Goodwill 3,053,364  2,519  3,050,845    Other loans 4,303  4,303 25                           -    

  Other intangible assets 1,705,199  1,068,692  636,507  Financial assets held for trading 11,664,072 2                  -    11,664,072  

Tax assets 12,106,330  1,581,056  10,525,274  Held-to-maturity investments 1,034,000 5                -    1,034,000  

  Current tax assets 890,447 20 98,321  792,126  Other current financial assets 814,447  32,464 26 781,983 22 

  Deferred tax assets 11,215,883 19 1,482,735  9,733,148  Cash and cash equivalents 13,594,735 1, 
27 

334,778  13,259,957  

Other assets 2,451,829  656,950  1,794,879        

  Inventories 1,669,227 21 656,331  1,012,896         

  Other assets 782,602  619 C 781,983 22 Total current assets 87,787,825  2,058,951  85,728,874  

Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for 
sale 

7,308,937 23 904,077  6,404,860             

Total assets 362,209,032  16,026,035  346,182,997  Total assets 362,209,032  16,026,035  346,182,997  
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Further details to better understand the adaptation of the assets side of the restated consolidated balance 

sheet: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

A - Loans and receivables and other financial assets – banking business 
  

 Thousands of euros  

 Loans and 
advances 

 Debt 
securities 

 
Total  

 

      

Maturing within 12 months 50,778,980 10 -  50,778,980  
Maturing after 12 months 154,959,045 11 561,139 9 155,520,184  

Total 205,738,025  561,139  206,299,164 A 

       

   

B - Held-to-maturity investments   

 Thousands of euros   

Maturing within 12 months 1,034,000 5 

Maturing after 12 months 7,271,902 6 

Total 8,305,902 B 

   

   

C - Loans and receivables and other financial assets/Other – holding business   

 Thousands of euros   

Loans and receivables and other non-current financial assets 116,326 7 
Trade receivables for sales and services 28,677 24 
Other loans 4,303 25 
Other current financial assets 32,464 26 
Other cash equivalents 41,007 27 

Total 222,777 C 
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Adaptation of liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet 

BANKING FORMAT PREPARED BY THE DIRECTORS IN 2016 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS           HOLDING COMPANY FORMAT             
                                

    31/12/2016     31/12/2016   

  TOTAL   
Holding 

company 
  Banking     TOTAL   

Holding 
company 

  Banking   

                EQUITY             

Financial liabilities held for trading 10,292,514   216   10,292,298   Capital, reserves and results 17,459,449           

  Derivatives 9,394,775   216 9 9,394,559 10   Share capital 5,868,000 1         

  Short positions 897,739 11                -     897,739     Share premium                     -             

Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss 3,763,976 12                -     3,763,976     Reserves 10,895,902 2         

  Deposits 3,763,976                  -     3,763,976     Other shareholder contributions                     -             

       Customers 3,763,976                   -     3,763,976     Profit/(loss) attributable to the Group 695,547 3         

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 260,307,834   8,160,646   252,147,188 A   Interim dividend paid                    -             

  Deposits 225,524,947   3,831,551   221,693,396   Valuation adjustments 363,543           

       Central banks 30,029,382                  -     30,029,382     Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss                     -             

       Credit institutions 10,124,654   3,831,551 17 6,293,103     Items that will be reclassified to profit or loss 363,543           

       Customers 185,370,911                  -     185,370,911     Available-for-sale financial assets 52,722 6         

  Debt securities issued 31,600,534   3,892,520 17 27,708,014     Hedging instruments 4,746 5         

  Other financial liabilities 3,182,353   436,575 B 2,745,778     Translation differences 345,289 4         

Derivatives - Hedge accounting 653,415   27,871 9 625,544 20   Companies consolidated using the equity method (39,214) 7         

Fair value changes of the hedged items in portfolio hedge of interest rate risk 1,984,854 21 -     1,984,854   Minority interests 13,434,129 8         

Liabilities under insurance contracts 45,803,579 22 -     45,803,579   Total equity 31,257,121           

Provisions 4,953,632   217,561 C 4,736,071 23                 

  Pensions and other post-employment defined benefit obligations 2,031,164   2,552   2,028,612   NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES             

  Other long-term employee benefits 975,614   2,847   972,767   Deferred income  33,422   33,422 32 -     

  Pending legal issues and tax litigation 633,360   136   633,224  Non-current provisions  4,882,467   146,396 28 4,736,071 23 

  Commitments and guarantees given 228,553   -     228,553   Non-current financial liabilities 64,820,093   5,546,272   59,273,821   

  Other provisions 1,084,941   212,026   872,915     Interest-bearing loans and borrowings and bonds and other marketable debt 5,451,598   5,451,598 17 -     

Tax liabilities 1,246,598   63,769   1,182,829     Debt securities - banking business 23,161,014   -     23,161,014 15 

  Current taxt liabilities 5,067   4,786 35 281 24   Other financial liabilities 428,983   68,205 31 360,778 18 

  Deferret tax liability 1,241,531 25 58,983   1,182,548     Financial liabilities held for trading - derivatives 19,579   19,579 9 -     

Other liabilities 1,859,470   53,932 B 1,805,538 26   Derivatives - Hedge accounting 632,434   6,890 9 625,544 20 

Liabilities included in disposal groups classified as held for sale 86,039 27 -     86,039     Deposits - banking business 35,126,485   -     35,126,485 13 

                Fair value changes of the hedged items in portfolio hedge of interest rate risk 1,984,854 21 -     1,984,854   

Total liabilities 330,951,911   8,523,995   322,427,916   Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss 3,763,976 12 -     3,763,976   

                Liabilities under insurance contracts 45,803,579 22                -     45,803,579   

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 17,459,449           Deferred tax liabilities 1,241,531 25 58,983   1,182,548   

Capital 5,868,000 1         Total non-current liabilities 122,529,922   5,785,073   116,744,849   

Share premium -                             

Retained earnings 10,895,902 2         CURRENT LIABILITIES             

Other reserves -             Current provisions 63,976   63,976 29 -     

Profit/(loss) attributable to owners of the parent 695,547 3         Liabilities associated with non-current assets held for sale 86,039 27                     -     86,039   

Less: Interim dividends -             Current financial liabilities 205,179,619   2,286,149   202,893,470   

ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 363,543             Interest-bearing loans and borrowings and bonds and other marketable debt 2,272,472   2,272,472 17 -     

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss -               Debt securities-banking business 4,547,000                       -     4,547,000 16 

Items that will be reclassified to profit or loss 363,543             Other financial liabilities 2,397,059   12,059 30 2,385,000 19 

  Foreign currency exchange 345,289 4           Financial liabilities held for trading - derivatives 9,394,559                       -     9,394,559 10 

  Hedging derivatives. Cash flow hedges (effective portion) 4,746 5           Derivatives - Hedge accounting 1,618   1,618 9 -     

  Available-for-sale financial assets 52,722 6           Deposits - banking business 186,566,911                      -     186,566,911 14 

  Debt instruments 166,246           Financial liabilities held for trading - short positions 897,739 11                     -     897,739   

  Equity instruments (113,524)           Trade and other payables 383,928   383,647   281   

  Share of other recognised income and expense of investments in associates and joint ventures (39,214) 7           Trade and other payables 366,952   366,952 33 -     

MINORITY INTERESTS (non-controlling interests) 13,434,129 8           Current tax liabilities 16,976   16,695 35 281 24 

Accumulated other comprehensive income 142,670           Other current liabilities 1,810,688   5,150 34 1,805,538 26 

Other items 13,291,459           Total current liabilities 208,421,989   2,738,922   205,683,067   

Total equity 31,257,121                           

Total equity and total liabilities 362,209,032           Total liabilities and equity 362,209,032   8,523,995   322,427,916   
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Further details to better understand the adaptation of the liabilities side of the consolidated balance sheet 
to the specific format for a holding group: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

A - Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost – banking business  

 Thousands of euros  

 Current Non-current Total  

Deposits 186,566,911 14 35,126,485 13 221,693,396  
Central banks 3,249,000   26,780,382   30,029,382  
Credit institutions 5,027,000   1,266,103   6,293,103  
Customers 178,290,911   7,080,000   185,370,911  

Debt securities issued 4,547,000 16 23,161,014 15 27,708,014  
Other financial liabilities 2,385,000 19 360,778 18 2,745,778  

 Total   193,498,911   58,648,277    252,147,188 A 

       

B - Other financial liabilities and Other liabilities – holding business   

   

 Thousands of 
euros 

 

Non-current financial liabilities/Other liabilities 68,205 31 

Subsidies 33,422 32 

Current financial liabilities/Other liabilities 4,870 30 

Trade and other payables 366,951 33 

Current tax liabilities 11,909 35 

Current accruals 5,150 34 

Total 490,507 B 

   

   

C – Provisions - holding business:   

 Thousands of 
euros 

 

Non-current provisions 146,396 28 

Current provisions 63,976 29 

Current payables to suppliers of fixed assets 7,189 30 

Total 217,561 C 
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Adaptation of the consolidated statement of profit or loss 

BANKING FORMAT - PREPARED BY THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER FOR THE 2016 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS HOLDING COMPANY FORMAT    

           

(Thousands of euros) 

31/12/2016 
Restated 

  

31/12/2016 
(restated and 

adapted)  
   

         

Interest income              5,466  12 CONTINUING OPERATIONS      

Interest expenses         (245,737) 13 Sales and services            274,837  18    

  
 

 Share of profit/(loss) of entities accounted for using the equity 
method  

           678,319  1    

NET INTEREST INCOME         (240,271)  Return on equity instruments              25,282  2    

   Gains/(losses) on financial assets and liabilities                1,054  17    

Dividend income            25,282  2 
 Profit/(losses) on transactions with Group companies, 
associates and joint ventures 

           244,315  21    

Share of profit/(loss) of entities accounted for using the equity method           678,319  1 Change in inventories of finished products and work in progress                   247  22    

Fee and commission income                      -    In-house work on non-current assets                      -       

Fee and commission expenses                   59  14 Procurements            (65,834) 8    

Gains/(losses) on derecognition of financial assets and liabilities not measured at 
fair value through profit or loss, net   

             3,568  A Other operating income                8,582  19    

Gains/(losses) on financial assets and liabilities held for trading (net)              (3,841) 17  Staff expenses          (107,046) 3    

Gains/(losses) from hedge accounting, net           (59,047) 16  Other operating expenses          (537,602) 14    

Exchange differences (gain/(loss), net                 155  B  Depreciation and amortisation          (109,161) 4    

Other operating income          282,304  C  Changes in provisions            (32,816) 5    

Other operating expenses          (121,937) I  Impairment and gains/(losses) on disposal of assets          (125,899) 8    

Income from assets under insurance and reinsurance contracts                     -    Impairment of stakes in joint ventures and associates                      -   7    

Expenses from liabilities under insurance and reinsurance contracts                     -    Impairment losses on financial instruments              (4,432) 6    

   Other gains                3,540  20    

GROSS INCOME          564,591    Other losses              (7,342) 23    

    OPERATING PROFIT/(LOSS)             246,044      

Administrative expenses         (531,988)   Financial income                5,692  12    

Staff expenses        (107,046) 3  Financial expenses          (245,808) 13    

Other administrative expenses        (424,942) 14  Change in fair value of financial instruments            (60,373) 16    

Depreciation and amortisation         (109,161) 4  NET FINANCE COST          (300,489)     

Provisions/(reversal) of provisions            (32,816) 5       

Impairment or reversal of impairment on financial assets not measured at fair 
value through profit or loss 

            (4,432) 6 PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX             (54,445) 
 

   

Available-for-sale financial assets            (2,821)        

Loans and receivables            (1,611)   Income tax             296,187  9    

Held-to-maturity investments                    -          

         

NET OPERATING INCOME/(LOSS)         (113,806)  PROFIT/(LOSS) FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS            241,742      

Impairment or reversal of impairment on investments in associates and joint 
ventures 

                    -   7 Profit/(loss) from discontinued operations         1,007,237  10    

Impairment or reversal of impairment on non-financial assets         (100,608) 8       

Tangible assets          (98,744)  CONSOLIDATED PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE PERIOD         1,248,979      

Intangible assets            (1,864)        

Other                    -    Attributable to minority interests            553,432  11    

Gains/(losses) on derecognition of non-financial assets and investments, net          239,407  E From continuing operations 55,391     

Negative goodwill recognised in profit or loss                     -    From discontinued operations 498,041     

Profit/(loss) from non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale 
not qualifying as discontinued operations 

          (79,438) F Attributable to owners of the Parent            695,547  15    

   From continuing operations 185,407     

PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS           (54,445)  From discontinued operations 510,140     

Tax expense or income related to profit or loss from continuing operations          296,187  9       

PROFIT/(LOSS) AFTER TAX FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS          241,742         

         

Profit/(loss) before tax from discontinued operations       1,007,237  10       

PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE PERIOD       1,248,979         

Attributable to minority interests          553,432  11       

From continuing operations            55,391         

From discontinued operations          498,041         

Attributable to owners of the Parent          695,547  15       

From continuing operations          185,407         

From discontinued operations          510,140         
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Further details to better understand the adaptation of the consolidated statement of profit or loss to the 
specific format for a holding company: 

A - Gains/(losses) on disposal of financial assets or liabilities not valued at fair value with changes in profit 
or loss (net) 

 

 Thousands of euros  

Losses on financial transactions (1,326) 16 

Gains/(losses) on financial instruments 4,895 17 

 3,568 A 

 

 

 

 
F - Gains/losses on non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale and discontinued 
operations (net)  
 Thousands of euros  

Impairment and gains/(losses) from non-current assets held for sale (107,164) 8 

Gains/(losses) on transactions with Group companies, associates and joint ventures 27,726 21 

Total (79,438) F 

B- Exchange differences   

 Thousands of euros  

Exchange gains 226 12 

Exchange losses (71) 13 

Total 155 B 

C - Other operating income   

 Thousands of euros  

Services provided 230,515 18 

Lease income 39,666 18 

Other operating income 8,582 19 

Other gains 3,540 20 

Total 282,303 C 

D -  Other operating expenses   

 Thousands of euros  

Changes in inventories (1,876) 22 

Operating expenses related with properties (52,292) 14 

Other operating expenses (60,427) 14 

Other sundry write-downs (7,342) 23 

Total (121,937) D 

E- Gains/(losses) on derecognition of non-financial assets and investments, net  

 Thousands of euros  

Profit/(losses) on transactions with Group companies, associates and joint ventures 216,589 21 

Gain or loss arising from the sale of intangible assets, property, plant and equipment 
and investment properties 22,094 

8 

Changes in inventories 2,123 22 

Sale of inventories 4,656 18 

Procurements (6,055) 8 

Total 239,407 E 
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Adaptation of the consolidated statement of cash flows 

  

BANKING FORMAT - PREPARED BY THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER FOR THE 
2016 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS   

HOLDING COMPANY FORMAT 
  

       

    
31/12/2016        

Restated 
   

31/12/2016 
(restated and 

adapted)  

       

A) CASH FLOWS FROM/(USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES (1,411,843)   1. Cash flows from/(used in) operating activities (2,218,207)  

    Profit/(loss) before tax (41,029) 1 

Profit/(loss) for the period 232,034 1 Adjustment for: 31,224 1 

Adjustments to obtain cash flows from operating activities (241,839) 1 Changes in working capital (1,147,525) 3 

  Depreciation and amortisation 109,161  Other operating assets and liabilities (828,782) 9 

  Other adjustments (351,000)  Interest paid (244,053) 3 

Net increase/(decrease) in operating assets (281,982)  Interest received 1,801 3 

  Financial assets held for trading                      -    Tax recovered/(paid) 10,157 4 

  Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss                      -         

  Available-for-sale financial assets (38,717) 2 2. Cash flows from/(used in) investing activities 2,878,237  

  Loans and receivables 277,779 3 Dividends received 805,974 3 

  Other operating assets (521,044) 9 Payments (-) (203,641)  

Net increase/(decrease) in operating liabilities (1,130,213)   Group companies, associates and joint ventures  (44,411) 6 

  Financial liabilities held for trading                      -   
 

   Property, plant and equipment, investment properties and 
other intangible assets 

(88,592) 
5 

  Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss                      -       Available-for-sale financial assets (70,600) 2 

  Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost (34,666) 9    Non-current assets held for sale (38) 7 

  Other operating liabilities (1,095,547) 9    Loans granted                     -    

Income tax (paid)/received 10,157 4 Proceeds (+) 2,275,904  

     Group companies, associates and joint ventures  2,029,322 3 

B) CASH FLOWS FROM/(USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES 1,249,398 
 

   Property, plant and equipment, investment properties and 
other intangible assets 

109,107 
8 

       Available-for-sale financial assets 31,883 2 

Payments: (133,041)     Repayment of loans granted                     -    

  Tangible assets (45,899) 5    Non-current assets held for sale 105,592 10 

  Intangible assets (42,693) 5    

  Investments in associates and joint ventures (43,161) 6 3. Cash flows from/(used in)  financing activities 696,070  

  Subsidiaries and other business units (1,250) 6 Dividends paid -  

  Non-current assets and liabilities classified as held for sale (38) 7 Distribution of reserves -  

  Other payments related to investing activities                      -    Loans obtained 846,070 9 

Proceeds: 1,382,439  Repayment of loans obtained (150,000) 9 

  Tangible assets 38,631 8    

  Intangible assets 70,476 8 4. Cash flows from discontinued operations 5,181,666 11 

  Investments in associates and joint ventures 1,167,740 3    

  Non-current assets and liabilities classified as held for sale 105,592 10 NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 6,537,766  

C) CASH FLOWS FROM/(USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES 1,518,545  Cash at beginning of period 7,015,962 12 

Payments: -  Cash at end of period 13,553,728 13 

  Dividends  -  Cash generated (consumed) in the year 6,537,766  

  Other payments related to financing activities -     

Proceeds: 1,518,545      

  Disposal of own equity instruments -     

  Other proceeds related to financing activities 1,518,545  9    

D) EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATES CHANGES -     

E) CASH FLOWS FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 5,181,666 11    

F) NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
(A+B+C+D+E) 

6,537,766 
    

G) CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF PERIOD 7,015,962 12    

H) CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF PERIOD (F+G) 13,553,728 13    
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2.5. Seasonality of operations 

The cyclical or seasonal nature of the operations of the companies composing ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation 
Group is not significant. Specific disclosures are therefore not included in these explanatory notes to the 
consolidated financial statements for 2017. 

Nevertheless, pursuant to the interpretation of IFRIC 21, certain taxes and levies are expensed when the 
payment obligation arises, as per prevailing regulations. The Group recognises property tax on 1 January 
each year. An expense of EUR 71 million was recognised in the statement of profit or loss for the year ended 
31 December 2017, EUR 16 million under "Other operating expenses" and EUR 55 million under "Profit/(loss) 
before tax from discontinued operations" (EUR 74 million in the previous year, EUR 15 million under "Other 
operating expenses" and EUR 59 million under "Profit/(loss) before tax from discontinued operations").  

 

2.6. Subsequent events 

Between 31 December 2017 and the date these annual consolidated financial statements were authorised 
for issue, no events occurred with a material impact that are not described in the remaining explanatory 
notes.  
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3. Accounting policies and measurement bases 

The principal accounting policies and principles and measurement bases used in preparing ”la Caixa” 

Banking Foundation Group's consolidated financial statements for 2017, in accordance with International 

Financial Reporting Standards adopted by the European Union, were as follows: 

3.1. Basis of consolidation 

In addition to data relating to the parent, the consolidated financial statements also contain information on 

subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures. The procedure for including the assets and liabilities of these 

companies was based on the type of control or influence exercised over them, the detail being as follows: 

Subsidiaries 

The Group considers as subsidiaries companies over which it has the power to exercise control. Control is 
evidenced when it has: 

 power to direct the relevant activities of the investee, i.e. the rights (legal or by-law provisions or 
through agreements) that confer the ability to direct the activities of the investee that significantly 
affect the investee’s returns, 

 the present (practical) ability to exercise the rights to exert power over the investee to affect its 
returns, and, 

 exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee. 

In general, voting rights give the ability to direct the relevant activities of an investee. To calculate voting 

rights, all direct and indirect voting rights, as well as potential voting rights (e.g. call options on equity 

instruments of the investee) are considered.  

In some circumstances, a company may have power to direct the activities without holding a majority of the 

voting rights. 

In these cases, the investor considers whether it has the practical ability to direct the relevant activities 

unilaterally. Relevant activities include establishing financial and operating decisions, or appointing and 

remunerating governing bodies, among others. 

The figures for subsidiaries are consolidated, without exception, on the grounds of their activity, with those 

of ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation using the full consolidation method, which involves aggregating the assets, 

liabilities, equity, income and expenses of a similar nature included in their separate accounting records. 

The carrying amount of direct and indirect investments in the share capital of the subsidiaries is eliminated 

in proportion to the percentage of ownership in the subsidiaries held by virtue of these investments. All 

other balances and transactions between consolidated companies are eliminated on consolidation. 

The share of third parties in the equity and profit and loss of ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation Group is shown 

under “Minority interests” in the consolidated balance sheet and “Profit/(loss) attributable to minority 

interests” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss, respectively. 

The results of subsidiaries acquired during the year are consolidated from the date of acquisition. Similarly, 
the results of subsidiaries that are no longer classified as subsidiaries in the year are consolidated at the 
amount generated from the beginning of the year up to the date on which control is lost. 

According to IFRS 10, on loss of control of a subsidiary, the assets, liabilities, minority interests and other 
items recognised in valuation adjustments are derecognised, and the fair value of the consideration 



 

”la Caixa” Banking Foundation Group – 2017 Financial Statements               31 
 

received and any retained investment recognised. The difference is recognised in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss. 

In addition, on loss of control of a subsidiary, the parent recognises any investment retained in the former, 
measured at the date of the loss of control, and subsequently accounts for it and for any amounts owed by 
or to the former subsidiary in accordance with the relevant IFRSs. The remeasured fair value is regarded as 
the fair value on initial recognition of a financial asset in accordance with IFRS 9 or the cost on initial 
recognition of an investment in an associate or joint venture, if applicable.  

Acquisitions and disposals of investments in subsidiaries without a change of control are accounted for as 
equity transactions, with no gain or loss recognised in the statement of profit or loss. The difference 
between the consideration paid or received and the decrease or increase in the amount of minority 
interests, respectively, is recognised in reserves. 

Relevant information on these entities is disclosed in Appendix I. The above information is based on the 
most recent actual or estimated data available at the time of preparation of these Notes. 

Joint ventures 

The Group considers as joint ventures those which are controlled jointly under a contractual arrangement, 
by virtue of which, decisions on relevant activities are taken unanimously by the entities that share control 
with rights over the net assets.  

Investments in joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method, i.e. in the proportion to the 
Group’s share of the assets of the investee, after adjusting for dividends received and other equity 
eliminations. 

The amortisation of intangible assets with a finite useful life identified as a result of a Purchase Price 
Allocation (PPA) is recognised with a charge to “Share of profit/(loss) of entities accounted for using the 
equity method” in the statement of profit or loss. 

At 31 December 2017, the Group had no stakes in joint ventures. 

Associates 

Associates are companies over which the Group exercises significant direct or indirect influence, but which 
are not subsidiaries or joint ventures. In the majority of cases, significant influence is understood to exist 
when the company holds 20% or more of the voting rights of the investee. If it holds less than 20%, 
significant influence is evidenced by the circumstances indicated in IAS 28. The existence of significant 
influence is usually evidenced by representation on the board of directors, participation in policy-making 
processes, material transactions between the entity and its investee, interchange of managerial personnel 
or the provision of essential technical information. 

Exceptionally, investees in which more than 20% of the voting rights is held, but it can clearly be 
demonstrated that significant influence does not exist, and therefore it effectively does not have the power 
to govern the Entity’s financial and operating policies, are not considered associates. 

The most representative investments in which the Group has significant influence with a stake of less than 
20% are as follows: 

 Bank of East Asia (BEA): the relationship with this investee began in 2007, and it was reclassified as 
an associate in 2009. Criteria and this bank have entered into a strategic investment and 
collaboration agreement. An individual representing Criteria sits on BEA's Board of Directors as well 
as on its Appointments Committee. CaixaBank, a Group associate, is a BEA banking partner in 
carrying out commercial activities. Collaboration agreements have also been arranged between 
the BEA foundation and ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation. At 31 December 2017, the Group had a 
stake of 17.44% in BEA (see "Investments in associates and joint ventures").  
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 Grupo Financiero Inbursa (GFI): the relationship with this investee began in 2008, with an initial 
stake of 20%. GF Inbursa has been classified as an associate since that time. Criteria has a 
shareholders agreement with GFI’s controlling shareholders. GFI's board of directors has two 
members related to Criteria, one of which is also a member of GFI's Corporate Practice Committee 
and the other is a member of its Management, Credit and Risks Committee. They are also (non-
voting) attendees of the Audit Committee. CaixaBank, a Group associate, is a GFI banking partner 
in carrying out commercial activities. At 31 December 2017, the Group had a stake of 9.10% in GFI 
(see “Investments in associates and joint ventures”). 

In the consolidated financial statements, investments in associates are accounted for using the equity 
method, i.e. in proportion to the Group’s share of the assets of the investee, after adjusting for dividends 
received and other equity eliminations. The profits and losses arising from transactions with an associate 
are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the share capital of the associate. The Group’s share 
of the profit or loss according to its economic stake is recognised in the statement of profit or loss. 

The Group has not used the financial statements of companies accounted for using the equity method that 
refer to a different date than that of the Group's Parent. 

The amortisation of intangible assets with a finite useful life identified as a result of a Purchase Price 
Allocation (PPA) is recognised with a charge to “Share of profit/(loss) of entities accounted for using the 
equity method” in the statement of profit or loss. 

Relevant information on these companies is disclosed in Appendix II and, where appropriate, under 
"Investments in associates and joint ventures". For listed companies, the latest public figures are shown. 
Otherwise, the information relates to the latest actual or estimated data available at the date of preparation 
of these notes to the financial statements. 

Impairment of investments in companies accounted for using the equity method 

Impairment of investments accounted for using the equity method is determined by comparing their 
recoverable amount (the higher of value in use and fair value less costs to sell) with their carrying amount 
provided that there is evidence that the investment may have become impaired. 

The Group has a methodology in place for performing a quarterly assessment of potential indications of 
impairment in the carrying amount of these stakes. Specifically, it assesses investees’ business performance 
and, where applicable, the companies’ share prices throughout the period and the target prices published 
by renowned independent analysts. The Group uses the data to determine the recoverable value of the 
investment and, if this exceeds the carrying amount, it considers that there are no indications of 
impairment. 

The Group also carries out impairment tests each six months to assess the recoverable amount of its stakes 
and verify the valuation adjustments recognised. Generally accepted valuation methods are employed, 
including discounted cash flow (DCF) models, dividend discount models (DDM), and other methods.  

The impairment losses on assets of this nature are reversed if there were changes in the estimates used to 

determine the recoverable amount. Both the impairment loss and the reversal of an impairment loss are 

recognised in the consolidated statement of profit and loss. In this respect, an impairment loss is reversed 

only to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset after the reversal does not exceed the amount 

which would appear in the accounting records if the aforementioned impairment loss had not been 

previously recognised. 
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Business combinations 

Accounting standards define business combinations as the combination of two or more entities within a 
single entity or group of entities. “Acquirer” is defined as the entity which, at the date of acquisition, obtains 
control of another entity. 

For business combinations in which the Group obtains control, the cost of the combination is calculated. 
Generally, it will be the fair value of the consideration transferred. This consideration includes the assets 
transferred by the acquirer, the liabilities assumed by the acquirer to former owners of the acquiree and 
the equity interests issued by the acquirer. 

In addition, the acquirer recognises, at the acquisition date, any difference between: 

i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration transferred, of the minority interests and the 
previously held equity interest in the company or business acquired, and  

ii) the net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed, measured at their fair 
value. 

Any positive difference between i) and ii) is recognised under “Intangible assets – Goodwill” in the balance 
sheet provided it is not attributable to specific assets or identifiable intangible assets of the company or 
business acquired. Any negative difference is recognised under “Negative goodwill recognised in profit or 
loss” in the statement of profit or loss. 

 

3.2. Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment consists of properties, land, furniture, IT equipment and other fixtures 

owned or acquired under finance leases that the Group holds for its own use or for the production or supply 

of goods and services that are expected to be used for more than one year. 

Property, plant and equipment are generally stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any 

impairment losses determined by comparing the carrying amount of each item to its recoverable amount. 

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method, on the basis of the acquisition cost of the assets 

less their residual value, based on estimated useful life. Land is not depreciated, since it is considered to 

have an indefinite useful life. The annual charge for the depreciation of property, plant and equipment is 

recognised under “Depreciation” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and is based on the years 

of estimated useful life of the various assets, as follows: 

Asset class Estimated useful life 

  
Buildings 20 - 50 years 

Plant and machinery 3 - 13 years 

Furniture and other fixtures 3 - 17 years 

Electronic equipment 3 - 10 years 

Other 3 - 10 years 

 

At the end of each reporting period, the Group assesses tangible assets for any indications that their net 

carrying amount exceeds their recoverable amount, understood as fair value less costs to sell and value in 

use. 
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Any impairment loss determined is recognised with a charge to “Impairment and gains/(losses) on disposal 

of non-current assets” in the statement of profit or loss and a reduction in the carrying amount of the asset 

to its recoverable amount. 

Similarly, when there are indications of a recovery in the value of the assets, a reversal of the impairment 

loss recorded in prior periods is recognised. In no circumstances may the reversal of an impairment loss on 

an asset raise its carrying amount above that which it would have had no impairment losses had been 

recognised in prior years. 

Likewise, the estimated useful lives of tangible assets are reviewed each year or whenever indications are 

noted which make it advisable to do so and, where appropriate, the depreciation charges are adjusted in 

the statement of profit or loss of future years. 

Upkeep and maintenance expenses are recognised under “Other operating expenses” in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss. Conversely, the amounts invested in improvements that help to increase the 
capacity or efficiency or lengthen the useful life of such assets are recognised as a higher cost. 

 

3.3. Intangible assets 

Intangible assets are identifiable non-monetary assets without physical substance acquired from third 

parties or developed internally. However, only intangible assets whose cost can be determined objectively 

and from which it is considered probable that future economic benefits will be generated are recognised. 

Intangible assets are recognised initially at acquisition or production cost and are subsequently measured 

at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. 

Thus heading primarily includes the administrative concessions of Saba Infraestructuras, SA's car parks 

business. In general, service concession arrangements are recognised as assets at the amounts paid to 

obtain the concession.  

Accounting for public and private concession of services is regulated by IFRIC 12, in effect since 1 January 

2010, when: 

 the grantor controls or regulates the services for which the concessionaire is to provide the 
infrastructure, to whom the services are to be provided and at what price, and 

 the grantor controls any significant residual interest in the infrastructure at the end of the term of 
the agreement. 

In such concession agreements, the concessionaire acts as a provider of services – specifically, of 

infrastructure improvement or construction services and of operation and maintenance services during the 

term of the agreement. The consideration charged for these services is recognised according to the type of 

contractual right received. Administrative concessions are recognised under "Intangible assets – 

Concessions" as per the model for intangible assets which considers that demand risk is assumed by the 

concessionaire. 

Administrative concessions have a finite useful life and the cost thereof is recognised as an intangible asset, 

while the amortisation charge is recognised in profit and loss over the concession period on a straight-line 

basis. 
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The average amortisation period for the intangible assets presented in the balance sheet is as follows: 

Asset class Estimated average useful life 

  
Service concession arrangements As per the useful life of the concession 

Computer software 

 
3-10 years 

Other intangible assets 3-10 years 

Estimated depreciation of intangible assets is recognised in the year it occurs under “Amortisation and 

depreciation” in the statement of profit or loss, and reversals of impairment losses are recognised under 

"Impairment and gains/(losses) on disposal of non-current assets". 

The policies for recognising impairment losses on these assets and for reversing impairment losses 

recognised in prior years are similar to those for tangible assets. 

In the specific case of administrative concessions, they are mostly allocated to the car park management 

cash-generating unit (CGU). This CGU was tested for impairment to verify whether it generated sufficient 

cash flows to support the value of its assets. 

Goodwill 

Goodwill represents the payment made by the acquirer in anticipation of future economic benefits from 
assets that are not capable of being individually identified and separately recognised. Goodwill is only 
recognised in the acquisition of a business combination for valuable consideration.  

In business combinations, goodwill arises as the positive difference between: 

 the consideration transferred plus, as appropriate, the fair value of any previously-held equity 
interest in the acquiree and the amount of minority interests; and 

 the net fair value of the identifiable assets acquired less the liabilities assumed. 

Goodwill is recognised in "Intangible assets – Goodwill" and is not amortised. 

Goodwill relating to associates and joint ventures accounted for using the equity method is presented under 

“Non-current assets – Investments in associates and joint ventures” in the consolidated balance sheet 

together with the amount represented by the stake in the entity’s capital. 

An increase or a decrease in an investment in a subsidiary that does not give rise to a loss of control is 

treated as an equity transaction. Therefore, the goodwill paid would be recognised directly in the Group’s 

equity, with no effect on goodwill or on the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 

At the end of each reporting period or whenever there are indications of impairment, an estimate is made 

of any impairment that reduces the recoverable to below carrying amount and, where there is impairment, 

the goodwill is written down with a balancing entry in "Impairment and gains/(losses) on disposal of non-

current assets" in the statement of profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised for goodwill are not reversed 

in a subsequent period. 
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3.4. Investment properties 

“Investment properties” in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet includes the net values of land, 
buildings and other structures held either to earn rentals or for capital appreciation. 

Investment properties are measured at cost less any accumulated depreciation and any accumulated 

impairment losses.  

The costs of expansion, modernisation or improvements leading to increased productivity, capacity or 

efficiency or to a lengthening of the useful lives of the assets are recognised as additions to the cost of the 

related assets, whereas upkeep and maintenance expenses are charged to the statement of profit or loss 

for the period in which they are incurred.  

In relation to projects in progress, only the costs of construction and financial expenses are capitalised, 

provided that they had been incurred before the assets became ready for their intended use and the 

duration of the construction work exceeded one year. 

The Group did not capitalise any financial expenses in 2017 or 2016. 

Investment properties under construction is transferred to "Investment properties" when the assets become 

ready for use. 

The Group depreciates its investment properties on a straight-line basis at annual rates based on the 

following years of estimated useful life: 

 Estimated useful life 

Buildings 50 years 

Facilities and furniture 10 - 12 years 

 
The gains or losses arising on the sale or derecognition of an asset are calculated as the difference between 

its carrying amount and its selling price, and are recognised under “Impairment and gains/(losses) on 

disposal of non-current assets” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 

Impairment 

Periodically, the Group compares the carrying amount of the various investment properties with their 
recoverable amount, which is the higher of value in use and fair value less costs to sell. Fair value is 
determined on the basis of appraisals or valuations made by independent experts. These appraisals are no 
more than two years old and are subsequently adjusted in accordance with an internal valuation model.  
 
In this respect, the Group has a corporate policy that guarantees the professional competence and the 
independence and objectivity of external valuation agencies, under which these agencies must comply with 
neutrality and credibility requirements so that use of their estimates does not undermine the reliability of 
their valuations. This policy stipulates that all appraisers used by the Group in Spain must be included in the 
Bank of Spain's Official Registry.  
 
The Group has made a detailed study of the segmentation of its assets, drawing up an individual action plan 
for each property segment. For each of the asset segments defined, the internal valuation model adjusts 
appraisals primarily taking into account the difference between the real sale price of the assets and their 
appraisal value, for those properties sold by the Group in the last 24 months, in addition to other factors 
such as marketing costs and the future rental performance of certain assets.  
 
When the aforementioned amount of the asset is less than its carrying amount, the Group recognises the 
appropriate impairment loss with a charge to the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 



 

”la Caixa” Banking Foundation Group – 2017 Financial Statements               37 
 

 
Furthermore, when there are indications of a recovery in the value of the assets, a reversal of the 
impairment loss recorded in prior periods is recognised. In no circumstances may the reversal of an 
impairment loss on an asset raise its carrying amount above that which it would have had no impairment 
losses had been recognised in prior years. 

 

3.5. Leases 

Finance leases 

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the leased asset to the lessee are 

considered finance leases. All other leases are classified as operating leases. 

In finance leases in which the Group acts as a lessee, the Group recognises the cost of the leased asset in 
the consolidated balance sheet, based on the nature of the leased asset, and, simultaneously, it recognises 
a liability for the same amount. This amount is the lower of the fair value of the leased asset at the inception 
of the lease or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments, plus any purchase option, when 
there is no reasonable doubt that it will be exercised. The calculation does not include contingent payments, 
service costs or taxes that can be passed on by the lessor. The total finance charge on the lease is taken to 
the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year in which it is incurred, using the effective interest 
method. Contingent payments are expensed on an accruals basis. 

Assets recognised for these types of transactions are depreciated on the basis of their nature using criteria 
similar to those applied to other items of property, plant and equipment. 

Operating leases 

Lease income and expenses from operating leases are recognised in income on an accrual basis. 

In addition, when the Group acts as lessor, the acquisition cost of a leased asset is classified in the balance 
sheet according to its nature, increased by any directly attributable contract expenses, which are 
subsequently expensed throughout the life of the lease arrangement following the same criteria used to 
recognise lease income.  

Any collection or payment, other than deposits, that might be made when arranging an operating lease will 

be treated as a prepaid lease collection or payment, which will be taken to profit or loss over the lease term 

in accordance with the time pattern in which the benefits of the leased asset are provided or received. 

 

3.6. Financial instruments (excluding Cash and cash equivalents and Derivative financial 
instruments) 

Financial instruments are recognised initially in the consolidated balance sheet when the Group becomes a 

party or legal to the contract or legal transaction in accordance with the provisions thereof. Financial assets 

and liabilities are recognised from the date on which the legal right to receive or a legal obligation to pay 

cash arises.  

3.6.1. Classification and measurement of financial assets and liabilities 

Financial assets are classified in the balance sheet for management and measurement purposes under the 

following categories: “Available-for-sale financial assets – Equity instruments” and “Loans and receivables 

and other financial assets”. 
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Financial liabilities are classified under "Non-current financial liabilities" and "Current financial liabilities". 

Available-for-sale financial assets 

This heading in the consolidated balance sheet includes securities not classified as held for trading, or as 

held-to-maturity investments or as loans and receivables, as well as equity instruments issued by entities 

other than associates, provided that they are not classified as held for trading, or other financial assets at 

fair value through profit or loss.  

As a general rule, this category includes all the stakes in companies over which the Group does not have 

significant influence or control. They are classified as financial assets unless the intention is to dispose of 

the investment within 12 months from the consolidated balance sheet date, in which case they are classified 

as current assets. At 31 December 2017, this category included mainly equity investments in listed 

companies. 

These assets are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration paid, plus transaction costs.  

They are subsequently recognised at fair value. Where they are actively traded on organised financial 

markets, fair value is calculated in relation to the closing market price. When fair value cannot be 

determined in a sufficiently objective manner they are measured at cost, net of any impairment. 

Changes in the fair value of financial assets after acquisition are recognised, net of the tax effect, with a 

balancing entry under “Equity - Valuation adjustments – Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss – 

Available-for-sale financial assets” until the financial asset is derecognised. On derecognition, the balance 

recognised in equity is taken to “Gains/(losses) on financial assets and liabilities” in the consolidated 

statement of profit or loss.  

Interest or dividend income on securities is recognised under “Return on equity instruments” in the 

consolidated statement of profit or loss. Any impairment losses are recognised in accordance with the 

principles indicated in "Impairment of financial assets" 

Loans and receivables and other financial assets 

This heading basically comprises:  

 Loans to associates, joint ventures or related parties carried at amortised cost, determined using 

the effective interest rate method.  

 Guarantees and deposits carried at amortised cost, which does not differ significantly from their 

nominal amount. 

 Trade receivables from the sale of goods or provision of services are measured at the nominal 

amount of the debt, which is similar to fair value on initial recognition. 

Any impairment losses on these financial assets are recognised in accordance with the principles indicated 

in the section on Impairment of financial assets.  

Non-current and current financial liabilities 

Financial liabilities include accounts payable by the Group that have arisen from the purchase of goods or 

services in the normal course of the Company's business and those which, not having commercial substance, 

cannot be classed as derivative financial instruments. 

The financial liabilities included in this category (including interest-bearing loans and borrowings and bonds 

issued) are initially measured at fair value adjusted by the amount of the transaction costs directly 

attributable to the issue or contracting of the financial liability, which will be assigned to the statement of 
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profit or loss through applying the effective interest method until maturity. These liabilities are 

subsequently measured at amortised cost. 

The accrued interest borne on financial liabilities measured at amortised cost is recognised under 
“Financial expenses” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.  

3.6.2. Fair value of financial instruments 

Upon initial recognition, all financial instruments are recognised at fair value, which, unless there is evidence 

to the contrary, is the transaction price. Thereafter, at a specified date, the fair value of a financial 

instrument is the amount for which it could be delivered, if an asset, or settled, if a liability, in a transaction 

carried out between knowledgeable, willing parties on an arm’s-length basis. The most objective and 

common reference for the fair value of a financial instrument is the price that would be paid for it on an 

organised, transparent and deep market (“quoted price” or “market price”). 

If there is no market price for a given financial instrument, its fair value is estimated on the basis of the price 

established in recent transactions involving similar instruments and, in the absence of this information, of 

valuation techniques commonly used by the international financial community, taking into account the 

specific features of the instrument to be measured and, particularly, the various types of risk associated 

with it. 

For financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are classified as Level 1, 2 or 3 depending on the 

extent to which the inputs used are observable and their importance when measuring fair value overall, as 

described below: 

 Level 1. On the basis of quoted prices in active markets; 

 Level 2: using valuation techniques in which the assumptions correspond to market data that is 
observable, directly or indirectly, or quoted prices for similar assets in active markets. 

 Level 3: using valuation techniques in which some of the main assumptions are not supported by 
observable market data. 

For ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation Group most of its financial assets and liabilities are classified as Levels 1 
and 3. The objective reference for determining the fair value of most available-for-sale financial assets, 
capital instruments and derivatives traded on organised markets is their quoted prices in active markets 
(Level 1). 

In contrast, for the fair value of loans and receivables and financial liabilities measured at amortised cost is 
estimated based on expected discounted cash flows, bearing in mind the estimate of interest rate, credit 
and liquidity risks in the discount rate (Level 3).  For unquoted equity instruments, also classified in Level 3, 
acquisition cost less any impairment loss determined based on publicly available information is considered 
the best estimate of fair value. 

The fair values of ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation Group's financial instruments at 31 December 2017 and 
2016 are provided under “Non-current assets” and “Current and non-current liabilities”. 

3.6.3. Impairment of financial assets 

A financial asset is considered to be impaired when there is objective evidence of an adverse effect on the 
future cash flows that were estimated at the transaction date, or when its carrying amount may not be fully 
recovered. At least at each reporting date the Group tests financial assets not measured at fair value through 
profit or loss for impairment.  

As a general rule, the carrying amount of impaired financial instruments is adjusted with a charge to the 

consolidated statement of profit or loss for the period in which the impairment becomes evident, and the 
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reversal, if any, of previously recognised impairment losses is recognised in the consolidated statement of 

profit or loss for the period in which the impairment is reversed or reduced, except in the case of equity 

instruments classified as available for sale, since this impairment is not considered to be reversible. 

Equity instruments classified as available for sale 

In accordance with the methodology established by the Group, the indicators used to assess the impairment 

of these instruments listed on secondary markets are, inter alia, the quoted market price at year-end, a 

significant or prolonged decrease in market value to below cost, the dividends paid in recent years, the 

expected dividends and the expectations in the market in which the investee operates. The purpose of these 

indicators is to assess the existence of objective evidence of impairment. However, a decline in fair value to 

below the cost of acquisition is not in itself evidence of impairment. 

The Group uses its expert judgment to individually measure all its investments, using the generally accepted 

valuation methods indicated in the preceding paragraph. In general, it is assumed that an instrument has 

been impaired if its share price falls by 40% for an 18 month period without a recovery in its value. 

Impairment losses may nonetheless be recognised before this period has expired and before the share price 

has fallen by this amount. 

An impairment loss on equity instruments is calculated individually and once there is objective evidence of 

a loss as a result of an event or group of events with an impact on estimated future cash flows, it is equal to 

the difference between their acquisition cost and fair value, less any impairment loss previously recognised 

in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.  

Derecognition of financial instruments 

The Group derecognises the financial assets when they expire or the rights on the cash flow from the 
corresponding financial asset are assigned and the risks and rewards inherent to ownership have been 
substantially transferred. 

Conversely, the Group does not derecognise the financial assets and recognises a financial liability for the 

same amount of the consideration received in financial asset assignments in which the risks and rewards 

inherent to ownership are substantially retained. 

Financial liabilities shall equally be derecognised when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged 

or cancelled or expires. 

 

3.7. Derivatives and hedges 

The Group uses financial derivative instruments as a financial risk management tool. When these 
transactions meet certain requirements, they qualify for hedge accounting. 

When the Group designates a transaction as a hedge, this is done at inception of the transaction or of the 
instruments included in the hedge and the hedging relationship is documented in accordance with the 
regulations in force. The hedge transaction documentation duly identifies the hedging instrument or 
instruments, and the hedged item or forecast transaction, the nature of the risk being hedged and how the 
hedging instrument’s effectiveness will be assessed over its entire life.  

“la Caixa” Banking Foundation Group considers hedge transactions to be those that are highly effective. A 
hedge is considered to be highly effective if, during its expected life, the changes in fair value or in the cash 
flows that are attributed to the hedged risk are almost entirely offset by changes in the fair value or in the 
cash flows, as appropriate, of the hedging instrument or instruments. 
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To measure the effectiveness of hedges, an analysis is performed to determine whether if, at the inception 
of the hedge and during its life, it can be expected, prospectively, that the changes in fair value or cash flows 
of the hedged item that are attributable to the hedged risk are nearly completely offset by changes in the 
fair value or cash flows of the hedging instrument and, retrospectively, that the actual results of the hedge 
are within a range of 80% to 125% of the results of the hedged item.  

Hedge transactions performed by “la Caixa” Banking Foundation Group are classified into two categories:  

 Fair value hedges, which hedge the exposure to changes in fair value of financial assets and 
liabilities or unrecognised firm commitments, or an identified portion of such assets, liabilities or 
firm commitments, that is attributable to a particular risk, provided that it affects the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss 

 Cash flow hedges, which hedge exposure to variability in cash flows that is attributable to a 
particular risk associated with a recognised financial asset or liability or with a highly probable 
forecast transaction and could affect profit or loss. 

In the specific case of financial instruments designated as hedged items or qualifying for hedge 
accounting, gains and losses are recognised as follows:  

 In fair value hedges, the gains or losses on the hedging instrument or on the hedged item for the 
portion attributable to the hedged risk are recognised directly in the statement of profit or loss.  

 In cash flow hedges, the gains or losses arising on the portion of the hedging instruments qualifying 
as an effective hedge are recognised temporarily in equity under "Items that may be reclassified to 
profit or loss”, and are not recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss until the gains 
or losses on the hedged item are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss or until 
the date of maturity of the hedged item in certain situations in which hedge accounting is 
discontinued. The gains or losses on the derivative are recognised under the same heading of the 
statement of profit or loss as gains or losses on the hedged item. The ineffective portion of the 
gains or losses the hedging instrument are recognised directly under "Net finance - Change in the 

fair value of financial instruments” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 

The Group discontinues hedge transactions when the hedging instrument expires or is sold, when the hedge 
no longer qualifies for hedge accounting or, lastly, when the designation as a hedge is revoked. 

When hedging derivatives no longer meet the requirements for hedging accounting, they are reclassified as 
trading derivatives. For fair value hedges, the previously recognised gains or losses on the hedged item are 
recognised in the statement of profit or loss using the effective interest rate method at the date hedge 
accounting is discontinued. For cash flow hedges, the cumulative gain or loss recognised in equity remains 
in equity until the forecast transaction occurs, at which point it is recognised in the statement of profit or 
loss. However, if it is expected that the transaction will not be carried out, the cumulative gain or loss is 
recognised immediately in the statement of profit or loss. 

 

3.8. Inventories 

Inventories, which consists mainly of real estate assets (land, property developments under construction 

and completed properties), are measured at the lower of their acquisition price, production cost including 

any financial charges accrued during production, and net realisable value. Net realisable value is defined as 

the estimated selling price less the estimated costs of production, acquisition and sale.  

The production cost includes direct and indirect construction costs in addition to the financial expenses 

incurred in financing the construction work while in progress, so long as the construction work takes longer 

than a year. 
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The Group did not capitalise any financial expenses in 2017 or 2016. 

Net realisable value is determined on the basis of appraisals or valuations made by independent experts. 

These appraisals are no more than two years old and are subsequently adjusted in accordance with an 

internal valuation model.  

In this respect, the Group has a corporate policy that guarantees the professional competence and the 

independence and objectivity of external valuation agencies, under which these agencies must comply with 

neutrality and credibility requirements so that use of their estimates does not undermine the reliability of 

their valuations. This policy stipulates that all valuation agencies and appraisers used by the Group in Spain 

must be included in the Bank of Spain's Official Registry.  

The Group has made a detailed study of the segmentation of its assets, drawing up an individual action plan 

for each property segment. For each of the asset segments defined, the internal valuation model adjusts 

appraisals primarily taking into account the difference between the real sale price of the assets and their 

appraisal value, for those properties sold by the Group in the last 24 months, in addition to other factors 

such as marketing costs and the future rental performance of certain assets. 

The Group makes the appropriate valuation adjustments, which are recognised as an expense in the 

statement of profit or loss when the net realisable value of the inventories is lower than the acquisition cost 

(or production cost.) 

Any write-downs to inventories or subsequent reversals of write-downs are recognised under “Procurement 

- Impairment of inventories” in the statement of profit or loss for the year in which the write-down or 

reversal occurs.  

Prepayments made in connection with call options on properties are recognised as inventory prepayments 

and it is assumed that expectations regarding the conditions enabling their exercise will be met. 

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories is derecognised and an expense 

recognised in the statement of profit or loss for the period in which the related revenue is recognised. The 

expense is recognised under “Procurements” in the statement of profit or loss. 

 

3.9. Non-current assets classified as held for sale and discontinued operations 

Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale 

Assets recognised under this heading in the balance sheet reflect the carrying amount of individual assets 
or disposal groups, or assets that form part of a line of business that will be disposed of (discontinued 
operation) whose sale is highly probable in their present condition within one year from the reporting date. 
Assets that will be disposed of within a year but where disposal is delayed by events and circumstances 
beyond the Group’s control may also classified as held for sale, when there is sufficient evidence that the 
Company is still committed to selling them. The carrying amount of these assets will be recovered principally 
through a sale transaction. 

These assets or disposal groups are not depreciated and are measured at the lower of their carrying amount 

or fair value less costs to sell. Any additional impairment is taken to the statement of profit or loss.  

When an asset ceases to be classified as a non-current asset held for sale, the asset is measured at the lower 

of the carrying amount when the asset was classified as non-current and its recoverable amount at the date 

of the reclassification. 
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Discontinued operations 

Discontinued operations are a component of the Group that either has been disposed of or is classified as 

held for sale, and: 

- Represents a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations. 

- Is part of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of business or geographical 

area of operations; or 

- Is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale. 

When an operating fulfils the requirements to be considered discontinued, the Group presents as a single 

heading the profit or loss from the discontinued operation, including any loss that may derive from 

recognising the operation at the lower of its carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell, and the loss or 

gain on disposal of the asset. This is the case when the sale of the asset is highly probable, the asset is 

available for immediate sale in its present conditions, and the sale is expected to be completed sale within 

12 months from the date the asset is classified as held for sale. 

 

3.10. Cash and cash equivalents 

The Group recognises under “Cash and cash equivalents” cash on hand and in bank accounts, short-term 

deposits and other highly liquid investments that will mature within three months from the date on which 

they were arranged. 

 

3.11. Foreign currency transactions 

The “la Caixa” Banking Foundation Group’s functional and presentation currency is the euro. Therefore, all 
balances and transactions denominated in currencies other than the euro are deemed to be denominated 
in foreign currency. The presentation currency is the currency in which “la Caixa” Banking Foundation 
Group’s financial statements are presented.  

All foreign currency transactions are recorded, on initial recognition, by applying the spot exchange rate 
between the functional currency and the foreign currency. 

At the end of each reporting period, foreign currency monetary items, including unmatured purchase and 
sale contracts considered as hedges, are translated to euros using the average exchange rate prevailing on 
the spot currency market at the end of each period. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of 
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated to euros using the exchange rate at the date of acquisition. 
Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated to euros using the exchange 
rates at the date when the fair value is determined. 

Unmatured forward foreign exchange purchase and sale transactions not considered as hedges are 
translated to euros at the year-end exchange rates on the forward currency market. 

The exchange rates used in translating the foreign currency balances to euros are those published by the 
European Central Bank at 31 December of each year. 

The exchange differences arising on the translation of foreign currency balances and transactions to the 
functional currency of the Group are generally recognised under “Financial income - Exchange gains and 
Financial expenses - Exchange differences” in the statement of profit or loss. However, exchange differences 
arising on changes in the value of non-monetary items are recognised under “Equity – Accumulated other 
comprehensive income – Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss – Foreign currency exchange” in the 
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balance sheet until they are realised, and exchange differences arising on financial instruments classified as 
at fair value through profit or loss are recognised in the statement of profit or loss with no distinction made 
from other changes in fair value. 

 

3.12. Equity 

The parent's share capital is represented by ordinary shares. 

  

3.13. Provisions and contingent liabilities 

Provisions cover present obligations at the date of preparation of the financial statements arising from past 

events which could give rise to a loss that is considered likely to occur and which is certain as to its nature 

but uncertain as to its amount and/or timing.  

Contingent liabilities are possible obligations that arise from past events and whose existence will be 

confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events not wholly within the 

control of the Group. Contingent liabilities are not recognised for accounting purposes, while disclosures 

thereon are made, as the case may be, in the notes to the consolidated financial statement. 

The “la Caixa” Banking Foundation Group’s financial statements include all the material provisions with 

respect to which it is considered more likely than not that the obligation will have to be settled. Provisions 

are recognised on the liability side of the balance sheet on the basis of the obligations covered, e.g. 

provisions for employee benefits, provisions subject to IFRIC 12, provisions for taxes and other legal 

contingencies, and provisions for other liabilities.  

Provisions, which are quantified based of the best information available on the consequences of the event 

giving rise to them and are re-estimated at the end of each reporting period, are used for specific 

expenditures for which the provision was originally recognised. Provisions are fully or partially reversed 

when the obligations cease to exist or are reduced. 

After applying IFRIC 12, future actions are determined that must be taken by the Group's concessionaires in 

order to maintain and restore infrastructure. The corresponding provisions are therefore recognised in 

accordance with IAS 37, on the basis of the best estimates of the disbursement required to carry out the 

aforesaid actions at the consolidated balance sheet date. 

Provisions are recognised under “Non-current provisions” and "Current provisions" in the balance sheet. 

 

3.14. Income tax 

The income tax expense is expensed during the year and recognised in the consolidated statement of profit 

or loss, except when it derives from a transactions, the gain or loss from which is recognised directly in 

equity. In that case, the income tax is also recognised with a balancing entry in the Group’s equity. 

Income tax expense is calculated as the sum of the current tax for the year resulting from applying the tax 

rate to the taxable profit for the year and any changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised in the 

year in the statement of profit or loss, less any allowable tax deductions. 
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Temporary differences, tax loss carryforwards pending offset and unused tax deductions are recognised as 

deferred tax assets and/or deferred tax liabilities. The amounts are recognised at the tax rates that are 

expected to apply when the asset is realised or the liability is settled. 

Deferred tax assets are only recognised when it is considered probable that the consolidated entities will 

obtain sufficient future taxable profits against which to offset them.  

Deferred tax liabilities arising from temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries, associates 

and joint ventures are not recognised when the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the 

temporary difference and, in addition, it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the 

foreseeable future. 

The deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised are reassessed at the end of each reporting period to 

determine whether they still exist, and appropriate adjustments are made on the new estimates. The Group 

assesses the recoverable amount of its recognised tax assets every six months to ensure recovery. 

Tax assets that are expected to be recovered in the next 12 months are recognised in the balance sheet 

under "Current tax assets"; those to be recovered in subsequent years are recognised under "Deferred tax 

assets". Equally, tax liabilities in the balance sheet under "Current tax liabilities" comprises the tax payable 

in the next 12 months; "Deferred tax liabilities" include amounts to be settled in the future. 

 

3.15. Deferred income 

Government grants awarded to Group companies are recognised at fair value when there is reasonable 
assurance that the grants will be received and the Group will comply with all the conditions attaching to 
them. 

Government grants related to costs are deferred and recognised as income over the periods necessary to 
match them with the related costs which they are intended to compensate, on a systematic basis. 

Government grants related with acquisitions of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and 
investment properties are recognised in the consolidated balance sheet as a reduction in the gross value of 
the financed asset. Grants related to depreciable assets are recognised as income over the periods and in 
the proportions in which the depreciation expense on those assets is recognised, reducing the depreciation 
expense for the period. 

 

3.16. Recognition of income and expenses 

Income and expense are recognised on an accrual basis, i.e. when the real flow of goods or services relating 

to the item arises, regardless of when the resulting monetary or financial flow arises. Revenue is measured 

at the fair value of the consideration received, net of discounts and taxes. 

The most significant criteria used by the Group to recognise its revenue and expenses are summarised as 

follows:  

Income from services rendered 

Revenue from sales is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods sold 
have been transferred to the buyer, and the Company retains neither continuing managerial involvement 
to the degree usually associated with ownership nor effective control over the goods sold. 
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Revenue from the rendering of services is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the 
transaction at the end of the reporting period, provided the outcome of the transaction can be estimated 
reliably.  

Dividend income 

Dividends received from other companies that are not group companies, associates or joint ventures are 

recognised as income when the consolidated entities’ right to receive them arises, which is the date of the 

resolution of the relevant managing body of the investee. 

Other income and other expenses 

Pursuant to paragraph 14 of IFRIC 12, the headings "Other operating income" and "Other operating 

expenses" in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year include the revenue and costs relating 

to infrastructure construction or upgrade services performed during the year. No margin is recognised for 

this activity as the Group does not perform any construction activities, acquiring infrastructure from third 

parties at fair value. 

Interest income, interest expense and similar items 

Interest income, interest expenses and similar items are generally recognised on an accrual basis, regardless 

of when the resulting monetary or financial flow arises. Interest income, interest expenses and similar items 

are recognised by applying the effective interest method.  

 

3.17. Related party transactions 

The Group carries out all related party transactions at market value. Furthermore, transfer prices are 

adequately underpinned and, accordingly, the Group's directors do not expect any impact on its financial 

position or performance in the future. 

 

3.18. Termination benefits 

Under current legislation, the Group is required to make severance payments to employees terminated 

under certain conditions. Therefore, severance payments that may be reasonably quantified are expensed 

in the year in which the decision to terminate the employment relationship is made. 

 

3.19. Environmentally-related activities 

Outlays made to comply with mandatory environmental requirements are recognised as an expense or 
investment, depending on their nature. Amounts recognised as investments are depreciated based on their 
useful life. 

No provision for environmental risks and expenses has been recognised as it is considered that there are no 
contingencies associated with environmental protection. 
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3.20. Current/Non-current classification 

In the accompanying balance sheet, assets and liabilities maturing within no more than twelve months are 

classified as current items and those maturing within more than twelve months are classified as non-current 

items, except for inventories, which are classified as current assets, since they are assets that will be realised 

in the Group's normal operating cycle. The normal operating cycle is the time between the acquisition of 

assets for inclusion in the various property developments and the realisation of the related goods in the 

form of cash or cash equivalents.  

Also, financial liabilities are classified as non-current if the Group has the irrevocable right to meet the 

related payments within more than twelve months from the reporting date. 

 

3.21. Statement of changes in equity. Part A) Statement of other comprehensive income 

This statement presents the income and expense recognised as a result of the Group’s activity in the period, 
with a distinction between those taken to profit or loss in the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income directly in equity. 

The items used to present the statement of other comprehensive income are as follows: 

i) The profit or loss for the year. 

ii) Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss: The net income or expense recognised definitively 
in equity. 

iii) Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss: The net income or expense recognised temporarily in 
equity as "Accumulated other comprehensive income". 

iv) The tax accrued on the previous items. 

v) The total recognised income and expense calculated as the sum of the above items. 

 

3.22. Statement of changes in equity. Part B) Statement of total changes in equity 

This statement presents all changes in the Group’s consolidated equity, including those due to accounting 
policy changes and error corrections. This statement presents a reconciliation between the carrying amount 
of each component of equity at the beginning and the end of the period, grouping movements by nature 
under the following headings:  

i) Adjustments due to accounting policy changes and error adjustments: includes changes in equity as 
a result of the retrospective restatement of financial statement balances on account of changes in 
accounting policies or for correction of errors. 

ii) Total comprehensive income: represents the aggregate of all items recognised in the statement of 
changes in equity income part A) comprehensive income, outlined above. 

iii) Other changes in equity: includes the remaining items recognised in equity, such as capital increases 
or decreases, distribution of dividends, treasury share transactions, equity-based payments, 
transfers between equity items, and any other increase or decrease in equity. 

  



 

”la Caixa” Banking Foundation Group – 2017 Financial Statements               48 
 

3.23. Statements of cash flows 

The following terms are used in the presentation of the statement of cash flows: 

 Cash flows: inflows and outflows of cash and cash equivalents, which are short-term, highly liquid 
investments subject to a low risk of changes in value. 

 Operating activities: the indirect method is used to present cash flows from operating activities, 
which are the principal revenue-producing activities, and other activities that are not investing or 
financing activities.  

 Investing activities: the acquisition, sale or other disposal of non-current assets, such as equity 
investments and strategic investments, and other investments not included in cash and cash 
equivalents. 

 Financing activities: activities that result in changes in the size and composition of equity and 
liabilities do not form part of operating activities.  
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4. Risk management 

Following the reorganisation of ”la Caixa” Group in 2014 (see Note 1), ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation now 

directly manages the welfare projects that have historically characterised ”la Caixa”, and the other activities 

not associated with the welfare projects are managed through a single entity, Criteria, which holds the 

ownership interests of ”la Caixa” Group.  

This structure maximises the efficiency of available resources and the specialisation of the various activities 

carried out by the Group. The Group is therefore able to achieve the highest standards of quality when 

managing its welfare projects and the business risks associated with its investment objectives. 

Business not associated with social action is managed by CriteriaCaixa, without prejudice to the risk 

management activities and models in place at each investee. Existing synergies among the risk management 

processes at subsidiaries are, however, maximised.  

The main risks to which the "la Caixa" Group could be exposed due to its social activity are the following: 

 Reputational risk in the management of social activity: 

- General strategy on the management of social activity. 

- Management of the activities carried out and application of the annual budget. 

- Selection for the development of activities and programs. 

 Situation of own resources. Adequacy of own funds and availability of highly liquid assets against 
possible needs of Own Resources of the investee. 

 Operational risk. Monitoring and control of the execution of the activities and programs carried out 
and their quality, especially the subcontracting policy that regulates the agreements signed for the 
development of the activities and programs of the “Obra Social”, as well as the adequacy of the 
platforms and computer applications that support the management and activities developed (integrity, 
confidentiality and availability). 

 Regulatory compliance risk. Compliance with the legal requirements to which the "la Caixa" Banking 
Foundation is subject due to its nature, especially the obligations of Corporate Governance, existence 
of a regulatory and control environment that defines responsibilities of the different areas of the entity, 
as well as compliance with current legislation in the signing of agreements and agreements. 

 

Control environment 

Economic management is one of the relevant aspects for the "la Caixa" Banking Foundation due to its 

commitment to transparency with the different interest groups. The entity continuously watches over the 

optimization of economic resources and the proper management and execution of the various activities it 

develops, mainly based on: 

 An organizational model based on budget planning and execution in a decentralized manner in each of 

the areas of activity, but supervised and managed globally by the area of Finance and Management 

Control through a corporate information and budget management system administered by this area. 

 The application of objective procedures for the selection of suppliers and collaborating entities through 

standardized procedures that are subsequently ratified by the Commission of Hiring. 

Likewise, for the "la Caixa" Banking Foundation, compliance with regulations and budgets in key terms, 

which maintains an organizational structure based on the existence of a regulatory environment and control 

led by various specialized areas in the different areas of internal control. 
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In addition, the most significant programs carried out by "la Caixa"'s welfare projects are periodically subject 

to review of procedures and budgetary compliance carried out by external consultants and auditors as well 

as by the Internal Audit function, which is responsible for reporting to the Audit Committee for the proper 

functioning of the internal control system of the "la Caixa" Group. 

 

Criteria's main risk management functions are described below: 

On 26 September 2017, the Governing Council of the European Central Bank confirmed the loss of control 

by Criteria over CaixaBank and took a Decision that came into force on that date, pursuant to which Criteria 

is no longer under its supervision, and the new responsible group is that headed by CaixaBank. 

Consequently, in the fourth quarter of 2017, Criteria launched a review of its Corporate Risk Management 

model (CRM) in order to bring it into line with the standards required of an investment holding company 

rather than those required of a parent of a banking group. 

On 25 January 2018, Criteria's Board of Directors approved the GRM policy, which provides a framework for 
the establishment of the CRM model for the Criteria Group, including Criteria and the companies under its 
direct management which it fully owns. The main features of the Model are as follows: 

 Control environment: promote a risk management and control culture, informing all employees of 
updates made to the CRM policies and procedures and offering regular training. 

 Setting of corporate targets: based on the Group's mission and vision, these targets are the basis and 
starting point for risk identification and assessment and control activities. 

 Risk identification and assessment: detection of risks that could prevent corporate targets from being 
achieved, and their assessment considering probability of occurrence and impact (economic, 
reputational and in relation to business continuity). 

 Control activities: ensure the efficiency of the guidelines of set by Management in a control risk 
framework, associating controls to risks in order to reduce their probability of occurrence and/or 
impact. 

 Monitoring and reporting: controlling risk development for each area and/or business, monitor control 
assessment and assess their effectiveness in order to report to the Governing Bodies. 

 Supervision: ensure the efficiency of the GRM model by verifying the existence of controls to mitigate 
risks and check they function correctly. 
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Risk categories 

As per the methodology set forth in the international standards of the Committee of Sponsoring 

Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO), the  model establishes four categories of risks which, 

should they arise, could hinder the Group achieving its objectives: 

 Strategic: risks associated with the achievement of corporate targets. 

 Financial: risks associated with the main financial variables. There are seven subcategories: 

- Liquidity: the risk of insufficient liquid assets to meet the contractual maturities of liabilities, 
regulatory requirements or business needs. 

- Credit: the possibility of potential losses arising from a counterparty not meeting its payment 
obligations.  

- Impairment of equity portfolio: possible loss or impairment to the economic profitability of the 
Group's business activities.  

- Impairment of real estate assets: possible impairment of real estate assets.  

- Impairment of other assets: possible impairment of Group assets that are not holdings or real estate 
assets.  

- Market: the possibility that the value of a financial instrument may vary as a result of changes in the 
prices of shares, interest rates or foreign exchange rates.  

- Reliability of financial reporting: the possibility that the integrity, reliability and quality of financial 
information may be affected. 

 Operational: risk of loss arising from mistakes or inadequate management of internal processes, people, 
systems, the use of assets or operating infrastructure. 

 Legal and compliance: risk relating to compliance with laws, regulation or market standards in the areas 
where the Group operates, in addition to compliance with internal policies. 

Criteria control environment 

To work correctly, the GRM Model uses a methodological approach based on the three lines of defence 
model, on which different levels of activity are defined to ensure that risks are managed and monitored 
efficiently. 
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The Board of Directors, through the Audit and Control Committee, supervises the efficacy of the Company's 

internal control and risk management systems. 

The Audit and Control Committee also oversees internal audit services and the entire process of 

preparing and presenting Criteria's financial information prior to approval by the Board. 

First line of defence. The Group's Areas / Businesses are responsible for: 

a. Identifying, assessing, mitigating and controlling risks, following the approved internal policies and 
procedures. 

b. Reporting to the second line of defence on the status of the risks for which they are responsible. 

c. Maintaining effective internal control and consistently implementing risk control procedures. 

Second line of defence. It comprises the following functions: 

a. Internal Control 

b. Internal Control over Financial Reporting  

c. Regulatory Compliance 

a. Internal Control 

The Internal Control function is responsible for: 

 Defining the GRM Model and participating actively in the preparation of risk strategies and in key 
decisions about their management. 

 Consistently monitoring the effectiveness and development of the controls and risks, reporting to the 
Management Committee. 

 Monitoring and ensuring the standardisation of the CRM Model, and keeping it updated. 

 Implementing the corresponding improvements to the GRM Model. 

The function also reports to the following information to the Governing Bodies: 

 Annually: all risks in each area / business, the controls implemented and their effectiveness, in addition 
to the established action plans. 

 Six monthly: any changes in significant and/or emerging risks and/or risks that have already 
materialised. 

 Immediately: all risks that could pose a threat to the Group's existence or continuity. 

The Annual Corporate Governance Report provides a more detailed description of the Criteria Group's GRC 
model. 

b. Internal Control over Financial Reporting  

The ICFR function monitors whether the practices and processes in place at the Group ensure the reliability 
of the financial information and compliance with applicable regulations. 
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Criteria’s Board of Directors is responsible for ensuring there is an adequate and effective Internal Control 
over Financial Reporting System (ICFRS) in place. Then Audit and Control Committee is responsible for 
assessing whether the ICFR system works correctly. Lastly, Criteria's ADGM of Finance, Resources and HR is 
responsible for the system's design, implementation and performance. 

The model is based on the international standards developed by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations 
of the Treadway Commission (COSO), as well as a number of general principles and best practices 
recommended by the Spanish Securities Market Regulator (CNMV) in the draft Guidelines on Internal 
Control over Financial Reporting in Listed Companies, published in June 2010. 

In the fourth quarter of 2017, once the process of removing control over major CaixaBank decisions was 
complete and within the framework of the review and adaptation of the ICFRS to Criteria's new status, a 
new ICFRS policy and process was drawn up to replace the former ICFRS internal regulation that had been 
written when CaixaBank was fully consolidated by Criteria, in response to the holding company's new status. 

The mechanisms comprising the risk management and control systems regarding the process of publishing 
the Company’s financial information are explained in more detail in the Annual Corporate Governance 
Report. 

c.   Regulatory Compliance 

As established by Criteria's Corporate Risk Management Model, the objective of the Regulatory Compliance 
function is to supervise, defined as risk arising relating to compliance with the laws, regulations and 
standards of the market in which Criteria operates, in addition to internal rules, and which could result in 
administrative or legal sanctions or reputational damage. 

Oversight of compliance risk is carried out through the establishment of controls in the second line of 
defence, which allow for the detection of potential deficiencies in the procedures implemented in Criteria 
to ensure compliance with regulations in all its areas of activity. When deficiencies are detected, it develops, 
together with the areas affected, proposals for improvement initiatives, which are monitored regularly until 
they are effectively implemented. Best practices in integrity and rules of conduct are also followed at the 
Company, such as the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, the Internal Rules of Conduct on Matters 
Relating to the Securities Market, the Sanctions and International Financial Countermeasures Policy, the 
Crime Prevention Policy and the Code of IT Use.  

Criteria's objective is to minimise the probability of these risks occurring and, if they do, to detect, report 
and address the weaknesses promptly. 

Compliance risk is managed through the following structure: 

 The Audit and Control Committee: Its functions include supervising compliance with the Internal 
Rules of Conduct on Matters Related to the Securities Market and other obligatory corporate 
policies, codes and manuals, as well as, in general, rules on corporate governance applicable to the 
Parent Company. 

 Management Committee: Fosters the compliance culture across the organisation, and controls and 
monitors compliance risk and the measures put in place to mitigate this risk. 

 Crime Prevention Committee: supervises the implementation of and compliance with the Crime 
Prevention Policy. 

 Internal Rules of Conduct on Matters Related to the Securities Market Committee: This committee 
oversees compliance with the rules of conduct of the securities market and the internal rules of 
conduct on matters related to the securities market, their procedures and other additional 
regulations. 
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 Business and management areas: The ultimate exponent of the top tier control of the Group's 
activity, establishing controls over these risks as experts in this area. Its main duties include: 

o Apply current regulations and identify potential compliance risks, developing and rolling 
out mitigation measures. 

o Implement appropriate first level controls to ensure compliance with the aforementioned 
obligations.  

 Advisory functions: The internal and external experts who advise on specialist areas. These include 
Legal Advisory, the Board Secretary's Office, external advisors, etc. The functions include: 

o Advise business and management areas on keeping internal regulations up-to-date with 
current regulations. 

o Interpret laws and regulations. 

o Provide knowledge and analysis of current and planned regulations, projecting their 
potential impact on Criteria.  

Regulatory compliance risk is not limited to any specific area, but rather the entire Group. All employees 
must ensure compliance with prevailing regulations, applying procedures that capture regulations in their 
activity.  

In order to manage compliance risk, the management and governing bodies encourage the dissemination 
and promotion of the values and principles set out in the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics and other 
rules of conduct, and their members, as well as other employees, executives and officers must ensure 
compliance to these as a core criteria guiding their day-to-day activities. Criteria also has a whistle-blowing 
channel on its corporate intranet used to submit enquiries about interpretation and application of the Code 
of Business Conduct and Ethics, the Code of Information Systems Use,  the Crime Prevention Policy and the 
Internal Control over Financial Reporting (ICFR) Policy, and to report any breaches of the aforesaid internal 
rules. 

Therefore, the areas whose business is exposed to compliance risk implement and manage level one 
controls to detect potential non-compliance risks and act effectively to mitigate them. They must also 
ensure that their procedures are at all times consistent with current legislation, regulatory standards and 
codes of conduct and standards, putting in place mechanisms to prevent issues arising, detect trends and 
understand new developments as they arise. Cooperation with advisory functions is therefore essential.  

Third line of defence. Internal audit 

The Internal Audit function, reporting to the Internal Audit and Control department, is responsible for 
informing the Audit and Control Committee of the performance of the internal control system at the Group.  

Pursuant to the principles of independence and objectivity, and applying a systematic and disciplined 
approach, Internal Audit performs assurance and consulting services that add value to the Group. 

Its main duties include: 

 Assessing the effectiveness and efficiency of the internal control systems established to mitigate the 
associated risks, with a special focus on: 

o Compliance with prevailing external legislation and requirements of supervisors. 

o Compliance with internal policies and regulations, and alignment with best sector practices 
and uses. 
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o The reliability and integrity of financial and operational information, including the 
effectiveness of Internal Control over Financial Reporting (ICFR). 

o The economical and efficient use of resources by the Group. 

 Adding value by proposing recommendations to address weaknesses detected in reviews conducted 
and monitoring their implementation by the appropriate centres. 

 Reporting regular relevant information to Senior Management and the Audit and Control Committee 
on the conclusion of tasks carried out, weaknesses identified and recommendations made. 

 

4.1. Financial risk management 

The Group's activities are exposed to various financial risks which, as explained beforehand, are divided into 
seven sub-categories: 

- Liquidity 

- Credit risk 

- Impairment of equity portfolio 

- Impairment of real estate assets 

- Impairment of other assets: This category includes tax assets, which are reviewed every six months 
by the tax group by analysing the recoverable amount thereof (see "Tax position and income tax"). 

- Market risk 

- Reliability of financial reporting 

 Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk relates to the possibility of a company not being able to meet its payment obligations because 

it cannot sell a financial instrument sufficiently quickly without incurring significant additional costs or 

needing additional finance. The liquidity risk associated with the possibility of not converting financial 

investments into cash is of little significance, as these investments are generally quoted on deep, active 

markets.  

In the management of its liquidity, Criteria takes into account the generation of sustained and significant 

cash flows by its businesses and investments, and the capacity to analyse its investments which, in general, 

are quoted on deep, active markets, maintaining an adequate long-term financing structure. 

Criteria monitors liquidity risk by consistently monitoring management indicators: debt ratio (considering 

the market value of listed investees), liquidity available at certain terms, and the interest coverage ratio. 

Practically all the Group's financing matures in the long term. In this regard, the Group continues its efforts 

to diversify funding sources, and manage the repayment terms of its debt and the cost thereof. 

Maturity of financial assets and liabilities of the Group is shown in the corresponding Notes to the financial 

statements. 
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Credit risk 

Credit risk refers to the risk of incurring losses through breach of contractual payment obligations by a 

debtor or changes in the risk premium relating to the financial solvency of the debtor.  

The main credit risk relates to the investments in associates, mainly listed associates, and is not the same 

as the risk related to the market value of their shares. The risk in investments of this nature is associated 

with the performance of the business of the investee, and the possible bankruptcy thereof, since the market 

price of the shares is a mere indicator. In general, this risk can be classified as a credit risk. Criteria's 

Investments area monitors the results generated by Criteria's holdings, carries out regular impairment tests 

and analyses the corresponding returns for the Group. 

There are also credit risks when the Group invests surplus cash. The Group has a policy of investing surplus 
cash in very liquid financial products, offered or deposited in solvent entities, or in entities in which the 
Group's net position in these is in debit. 

Impairment risk (of investments, real estate assets and other assets) 

Impairment of its investees is the main risk in Criteria's business model, which is natural in a company whose 

corporate purpose is the holding of such stakes. This impairment risk derives from Criteria’s business 

activities suffering losses or a decline in earnings caused by adverse movements in market prices or investee 

insolvency. 

Criteria's Investment area monitors these stakes on an ongoing case-by-case basis to be able, at any time, 

to take the most appropriate decisions on the basis of observed and predicted market performance and of 

the Group’s strategy. Their value is also subject to ongoing monitoring, in order to assess whether there is 

any objective evidence of impairment, as described in 'Investments in associates and joint ventures'. 

Monitoring of the main investees is also performed by analysts responsible for monitoring changes in 

economic and financial data and for understanding and issuing alerts in the event of changes in regulations 

and business and fluctuations in competition in the countries and sectors in which the investees operate. 

Further, to ensure that the portfolio of real estate assets is recognised at its fair value in the balance sheet, 

the Group uses internal models to determine the adjustments to the main valuation given by full individual 

appraisals or to appraisals by independent experts carried out on a regular basis (see “Accounting policies 

and measurement bases”). In particular, the internal valuation model factors in, among others, the Group's 

sales experience for each type of asset or the estimated sales costs to disposal of the asset.  

Real estate assets are managed in order to recover the investment and generate additional returns either 

by way of leasing (investment properties), property development or a general plan to sell (inventories). 

Market risk 

This refers to the risk that the value of a financial instrument may vary as a result of changes in the price of 

shares, interest rates or foreign exchange rates. Possible consequences of these risks are decreases in equity 

and losses arising due to changes in market prices and/or losses on the medium to long-term positions 

composing the investment portfolio, rather than the trading portfolio. 

Criteria has set its own limits for trading derivative transactions, which have been approved by its Board of 

Directors. These are based on VaR (value at risk) and seek to limit potential losses that could arise on such 

business.  

  



 

”la Caixa” Banking Foundation Group – 2017 Financial Statements               57 
 

Price risk 

At 31 December 2017, 99% of the market value of the Group's investments in capital instruments classified 

as associates and available-for-sale financial assets comprised listed securities. As a result, it is exposed to 

the market risk generally associated with listed companies. Listed securities are exposed to fluctuations in 

price and trading volume due to factors beyond the Group’s control. 

 Interest rate risk 

This relates mainly to changes in borrowing costs on floating-rate debt. Therefore, the risk is mainly linked 

to the Group’s indebtedness. As part of its efforts to manage interest rate risk, the Company assesses 

potential fluctuations in financial expenses stemming from exposure of derivatives and debt instruments to 

changes in the structure of the market rate curve. 

The market interest rate affects financial profit since certain financial liabilities are arranged at a floating 

rate (tied to Euribor). Accordingly, there is considerable exposure to interest rate changes. The effect on 

profits, based on the instruments quoted at the reporting date, is shown below: 

 Millions of euros 

Variation Effect on profit/(loss) before 

tax 

-50 bp 13 

+50 bp (7) 

+100 bp (2) 

The Group regularly monitors the impact of interest rate fluctuations. 

In order to mitigate the risk of fluctuations in interest rates on floating rate borrowings, Criteria's 

management evaluates whether or not to arrange swaps depending on current and forecast interest rates. 

In that regard, the Group, with 77% of its debt being at fixed rates, has entered into certain floating-to-fixed 

interest rate swaps. 

Foreign currency risk 

The functional currency of the majority of the assets and liabilities recognised in the Group's balance sheet 

is the euro. The main balance sheet assets subject to exchange rate fluctuations are as follows: 

Balance sheet heading Assets Currency 

Millions of 

euros (1) Comments 

     

Investments in associates and joint ventures 
GF Inbursa MXN 805 See Note 8. 

 
The Bank of 

East Asia 
HKD 2,339 See Note 8. 

(1) Equivalent euro value at 31 December 2017 

Management regularly assesses the advisability of arranging hedges in respect of its exchange risks.  

The Group may also be indirectly exposed to foreign currency risk through the foreign currency investments 

made by investees due, in certain cases, to the major international presence of these companies. These risks 

are assessed and, if applicable, covered by the investee itself. 

Risk associated the reliability of financial reporting 

This refers to the risk posed to the integrity, reliability and quality of financial information. As described 

beforehand, the Group has a suitable and effective Internal Control over Financial Reporting System. 
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5. Intangible assets 

Changes in this balance sheet heading in 2017 and 2016 are as follows: 

 Thousands of euros 

 31/12/2016 

Derecognitions 
due to loss of 
control (Notes 

1, 2 and 3) 

Additions 
and 

depreciations 

Derecognitions 
and 

applications 
Transfers 

Changes 
in 

perimeter 
and Other 

31/12/2017 

Goodwill 3,053,364 (3,050,845) 907 - - 389 3,815 

        

Other intangible assets        

Research and development 237 - - - - - 237 

Concessions 1,509,853 (18,059) 11,554 (6,870) 4,652 (1,506) 1,499,624 

Patents, licences, trademarks 
and similar 

141 (135) - - - 1 7 

Computer software 1,019,337 (989,069) 6,017 (415) (145) (35) 35,690 

Other intangible assets 446,683 (415,003) 2,005 (1,734) (550) (525) 30,876 

        

Accumulated depreciation        

Research and development (4) - - - - - (4) 

Concessions (439,129) 4,619 (58,720) 5,305 (67) 1,060 (486,932) 

Patents, licences, trademarks 
and similar 

(7) 6 - - - - (1) 

Computer software (620,794) 604,940 (4,899) 139 (1) 11 (20,604) 

Other intangible assets (170,603) 163,612 (900) 4 1 188 (7,698) 

        

Impairment allowances (40,515) 12,582 - 566 117 101 (27,149) 

Total 4,758,563 (3,687,352) (44,036) (3,005) 4,007 (316) 1,027,861 

  

  Thousands of euros 

  31/12/2015 Additions and 

depreciations 

Derecognitions 

and applications 

Transfers Changes in 

perimeter and Other 

31/12/2016 

Goodwill 3,052,114 1,250 - - - 3,053,364 

             

Other intangible assets             

Research and development 237 - - - - 237 

Concessions 1,572,271 22,929 (30,908) 838 (55,277) 1,509,853 

Patents, licences, trademarks and similar 137 - - - 4 141 

Computer software 888,461 176,322 (45,114) (41) (291) 1,019,337 

Other intangible assets 556,643 22,735 (127,878) (1,513) (3,304) 446,683 

             

Accumulated depreciation             

Research and development - (4) - - - (4) 

Concessions (418,705) (50,534) 29,405 235 470 (439,129) 

Patents, licences, trademarks and similar (7) - - - - (7) 

Computer software (561,134) (111,716) 43,992 482 7,582 (620,794) 

Other intangible assets (177,455) (64,580) 20,574 (1) 50,859 (170,603) 

             
Impairment allowances (38,106) (3,715) 1,349 - (43) (40,515) 

Total 4,874,456 (7,313) (108,580) - - 4.758.563  
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"Concessions" primarily corresponds to the concessions to operate car parks. The asset to be recognised 
(value of the concession or value of the right to charge the users for a public service) as consideration for 
the construction services or infrastructure improvements is measured in accordance with IFRIC 12 (see 
"Accounting policies and measurement bases". The asset is amortised using the straight-line method over 
the term of concession. 

Details of the main administrative concessions are provided, by legal form and geographical area, in "Other 
relevant information". 

The concession agreements include commitments to invest in improvements, in addition to those 
recognised as a provision for replacement work. At 31 December 2017, these amounts totalled EUR 153,173 
thousand (EUR 159,882 thousand in 2016) and basically correspond to car parks under construction in the 
Saba Italia subgroup and to Barcelona d’Aparcaments Municipals, SA, subject to sufficient demand 
supporting their economic viability. 

At 31 December 2017, grants totalling EUR 24,562 thousand (EUR 21,298 thousand in 2016) related to 
concession assets are recognised as a reduction in intangible assets. Of these grants, EUR 20,762 thousand 
(EUR 17,505 thousand in 2016) correspond to the subgroup Saba Italia. An amount of EUR 720 thousand 
(EUR 717 thousand in 2016) has been taken to income on a straight-line basis over the useful life of the 
financed assets, reducing the depreciation expense for the period. 

At 31 December 2017, there were intangible assets pledged as collateral with a carrying amount of EUR 
33,994 thousand (EUR 43,221 thousand at 31 December 2016), corresponding to the Saba Chile subgroup 
and to Sociedad Concesionaria Plaza de la Ciudadanía, SA. The balance in 2016 also included assets of the 
Saba Italia subgroup for EUR 5,625 thousand securing the mortgage cancelled in 2017. 

There is a mortgage promise over the right in rem of the car parks of Barcelona d’Aparcaments Municipals, 
SA linked to the syndicated loan granted to this company. 

Financial expenses capitalised in 2017 totalled EUR 657 thousand (EUR 751 thousand in 2016). 

The column “Derecognitions due to loss of control” corresponds to the derecognition of the banking business 
performed by CaixaBank and its group as a result of losing control over this investee and it being accounted 
for using the equity method (see “Corporate information”). 

"Changes in perimeter and Other" basically relates to translation differences.  

At 31 December 2017, fully depreciated assets still in use amounted to EUR 33,807 thousand. 

The Group has insurance policies to cover the risks to which its intangible assets are subject. It is considered 
that these policies offer sufficient cover at 31 December 2017. 

Impairment test of the car park management CGU 

”la Caixa” Banking Foundation Group estimates recoverable amount of the car park management CGU based 
on value in use, which was determined by discounting the cash flows the Group expects to be generated 
over the concession periods. The Group also updates the projected cash flows every six months to factor in 
any potential deviations in the recoverable amount estimation model. The test carried out at 31 December 
2017 confirmed that the projections used in the previous impairment test compared to the actual figures 
would not have affected the previous conclusions. Therefore, no impairment losses were recognised in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss. 

The assumptions used in the cash flow projection are based on macroeconomic data on each country and 
sector obtained from renowned external sources. The following assumptions were also used: 

- risk-free rate of 4%, 
- individualised discount rates for each country ranging between 7.1% and 8.6%, and 
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- in the case of car parks operated under concession, the projection covered the period to expiration 
of the contract, without considering any rollovers. In the case of car parks owned outright, a growth 
rate of 1.5% was used to calculate residual value. 

”la Caixa” Banking Foundation Group performs a sensitivity analysis on the most significant variables. In this 
respect, in addition to the baseline scenario, possible variations in the main assumptions used in the model 
have been calculated: i) risk-free rate: +0.5%, -0.5%; ii) discount rate: +0.5%, -0.5%.  

Following the analysis performed, in 2017, no amount of impairment was recognised in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss. 
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6. Property, plant and equipment 

Changes in this balance sheet heading in 2017 and 2016 are as follows: 

 

  
Thousands of euros 

  31/12/2016 

Derecognitions 
due to loss of 

control (Notes 1, 
2 and 3) 

Additions 
and 

depreciations 

Derecognitions 
and 

applications 
Transfers 

Changes in 
perimeter 
and Other 

31/12/2017 

Transaction 7,024,939  (6,187,947) 24,586  (8,251) (84,992) 17,667  786,002  

Land and buildings 3,108,362  (2,620,053) 341  (3,466) (65,157) 15,468  435,495  

Plant and other property 
and equipment 

3,890,645  (3,567,894) 14,122  (4,785) 2,891  2,199  337,178  

Fixet assets in course of 
construction and advances 

25,932  - 10,123  - (22,726) - 13,329  

                

Accumulated depreciation (3,443,066) 3,159,665  (19,256) 5,096  15,748  (2,835) (284,648) 

Buildings (574,602) 472,730  (6,959) 729  14,627  (2,731) (96,206) 

Plant and other property 
and equipment 

(2,868,464) 2,686,935  (12,297) 4,367  1,121  (104) (188,442) 

                

Impairment allowances (56,819) 23,620  - 3,455  20,458  (691) (9,977) 

Land and buildings (45,459) 12,260  - 3,455  20,458  (691) (9,977) 

Plant and other property 
and equipment 

(11,360) 11,360  - - - - - 

                

Total 3,525,054  (3,004,662) 5,330  300  (48,786) 14,141  491,377  

 

  Thousands of euros 

  31/12/2015 
Additions 

and 
depreciations 

Derecognitions 
and 

applications 
Transfers 

Changes in 
perimeter and 

Other 
31/12/2016 

Transaction  7,172,077 282,915   (265,315)  (164,738)  -  7,024,939 

Land and buildings 3,322,667  32,000  (49,226) (197,079) - 3,108,362  

Plant and other property and 
equipment 

3,832,915  235,227  (216,089) 38,592  - 3,890,645  

Fixet assets in course of construction 
and advances 

16,495  15,688  - (6,251) - 25,932  

        

Accumulated depreciation (3,532,456) (164,501) 220,085 33,806 - (3,443,066) 

Buildings (600,802) (31,928) 27,712  30,416  - (574,602) 

Plant and other property and 
equipment 

(2,931,654) (132,573) 192,373  3,390  - (2,868,464) 

        

Impairment allowances (73,027) 10,542 812 4,854 - (56,819) 

Land and buildings (60,935) 11,091  812  3,573  - (45,459) 

Plant and other property and 
equipment 

(12,092) (549) - 1,281  - (11,360) 

              

Total 3,566,594  128,956  (44,418) (126,078) - 3,525,054  

 

At 31 December 2017, the net asset value (NAV) of welfare projects amounted to EUR 369,941 thousand 
(EUR 365,542 thousand at 31 December 2016). The property, plant and equipment of the "la Caixa" Banking 
Foundation is used to develop its social-welfare and cultural activities (Caixaforum, Cosmocaixa and  elderly 
centers, among others). 
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In 2017, transfers from "Land and buildings" are due to the classification of several properties previously 
earmarked for own use and leased out to several CaixaBank Group companies (two office blocks at Calle 
Provençals 39 and Via Laietana 56 in Barcelona, two premises in Marbella and a property in Seville) to 
"Investment properties" as a result of losing control of the CaixaBank Group, as described in "Corporate 
information". The total net amount of these transfers was EUR 50,955 thousand.  

The column “Derecognitions due to loss of control”  corresponds to the derecognition of the banking 
business performed by CaixaBank and its group as a result of losing control over this investee and it being 
accounted for using the equity method (see “Corporate information”). 

"Changes in perimeter and Other" corresponds primarily to changes in consolidation perimeter and 
translation differences. In 2017, this includes the acquisitions of two proprietary car parks by Saba 
Infraestructuras for a net amount of EUR 14,941 thousand. 

At 31 December 2017 and 2016, there were no commitments to construct items of property, plant and 
equipment. 

Disposals in 2017, which related mainly to buildings, technical facilities, furniture, and fixtures, equipment, 
generated a gain of EUR 182 thousand, recognised under “Impairment and gains/(losses) on disposal of non-
current assets” in the accompanying consolidated statement of profit or loss (see "Income and expenses", 
section "Impairment and gains/(losses) on disposal of non-current assets"). 

Every six months, ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation tests the car parks management CGU for impairment. This 
CGU comprises the investments in property, plant and equipment associated with this business (see 
"Intangible assets"). 

In 2017, no impairment was recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year (see note 
entitles "Income and expenses", section D entitled "Impairment and gains/(losses) on disposal of non-current 
assets"). 

At 31 December 2017, fully depreciated assets still in use amounted to EUR 147,219 thousand. 

The Group takes out insurance policies to cover the possible risks to which its items of property, plant and 
equipment are subject. At the end of 2017, assets were fully insured against these risks. 
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7. Investment properties 

Changes in this balance sheet heading in 2017 and 2016 are as follows: 

 Thousands of euros 

 31/12/2016 

Derecognitions 
due to loss of 

control (Notes 1, 
2 and 3) 

Additions 
and 

provisions 

Derecognitions 
and 

applications 
Transfers 

Changes in 
perimeter 
and Other 

31/12/2017 

Transaction        

Land and buildings 6,373,155 (4,649,556) 271 (6,679) 65,640 (2,306) 1,780,525 

Other investment properties 112,563 (86,817) 2 - 4,684 - 30,432 

        

Accumulated depreciation        

Buildings (281,033) 172,250 (20,849) 619 (12,435) 77 (141,371) 

Other investment properties (20,318) 14,228 (1,445) - (1,056) - (8,591) 

        

Impairment allowances        

Land and buildings (1,553,717) 1,117,649 (71,522) 1,246 (17,861) (46) (524,251) 

                

Total 4,630,650 (3,432,246) (93,543) (4,814) 38,972 (2,275) 1,136,744 

 
 
 
 Thousands of euros 

 
31/12/2015 

Additions 
and 

provisions 

Derecognitio
ns and 

applications Transfers 

Changes in 
perimeter 
and Other 31/12/2016 

Transaction       

Land and buildings 6,008,735 213,292 (171,668) 322,796 - 6,373,155 

Other investment properties 131,835 6,265 (9,746) (15,791) - 112,563 

       

Accumulated depreciation       

Buildings (230,866) (78,867) 29,199 (499) - (281,033) 

Other investment properties (21,935) (9,160) 3,161 7,616 - (20,318) 

       

Impairment allowances       

Land and buildings (1,339,800) (78,305) 62,731 (198,343) - (1,553,717) 

       

Total 4,547,969 53,225 (86,323) 115,779 - 4,630,650 

 

As explained in "Property, plant and equipment", ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation Group has transferred 
properties formerly for own use and recognised under the heading "Property, plant and equipment" to 
"Investment properties"  for a net amount of EUR 50,955 thousand, as these assets are no longer leased to 
Group companies. 

At 31 December 2017, the most significant investment properties held for use as rentals and recognised 
under “Investment properties” relate to an office building located at calle Provençals 39 (Barcelona), the 
former ”la Caixa” central services office located at Via Laietana 56 (Barcelona), a commercial building 
located at calle Ribera (Valencia), a residential building located at calle República Argentina 258 (Barcelona) 
and a residential building located at calle Gran Via de les Corts Catalanes 655 (Barcelona). 

The column “Derecognitions due to loss of control” corresponds to the derecognition of the banking business 
performed by CaixaBank and its group as a result of losing control over this investee and it being accounted 
for using the equity method (see “Corporate information”). 
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During 2017, where the fair value of investment properties based on appraisals and valuations conducted 
by independent valuers was lower than the carrying amount, the Group recognised impairment amounting 
to EUR 71,522 thousand under "Impairment and gains/(losses) on disposal of non-current assets" (see 
"Income and expenses") in the accompanying statement of profit or loss. 

The real estate assets classified under "Investment properties" are measured using internal models for 
calculating recoverable amounts, which are used as inputs for revised appraisals. The method for measuring 
these assets is described in "Accounting policies and measurement bases". The fair value thereof, calculated 
using the Group’s internal models at 31 December 2017, totals EUR 1,257,684 thousand. The fair value of 
real estate assets classified as investment properties, based on the fair value hierarchy, is classified as Level 
2. 

The carrying amount of investment properties generating rental income in 2017 was EUR 1,162,505 
thousand. 

Rental income accrued on the operation of investment properties is recognised under “Sales and services" 
in the statement of profit or loss (see "Income and expenses"), and totalled EUR 41,320 thousand in 2017, 
while the associated expenses recognised in the accompanying statement of profit or loss amounted to EUR 
16,534 thousand. 

The value of fully depreciated investment properties in use at 31 December 2017 was EUR 3,165 thousand. 
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8. Investments in associates and joint ventures 

The breakdown of the cost of investments in associates and joint ventures is as follows: 

Breakdown of investments in associates and joint ventures 

Thousands of euros 31/12/2017 31/12/2016 

    
Investments in associates 

18,269,650 14,740,883 

 CaixaBank, SA 9,720,392 - 

 Gas Natural SDG, SA 4,027,565 4,103,331 

 The Bank of East Asia, LTD 2,338,927 2,449,647 

 Abertis Infraestructuras, SA 1,262,954 1,529,672 

 Grupo Financiero Inbursa, SAB de CV 804,699 781,123 

 Vithas Sanidad, SL 89,422 85,383 

 Repsol, SA (*) - 2,903,712 

 Banco BPI, SA (*) - 1,445,812 

 Erste Group Bank, AG (*) - 1,272,003 

 Other companies 25,691 170,200 

    

Investments in joint ventures - 1,194,000 

 SegurCaixa Adeslas, SA de Seguros Generales y Reaseguros (*) - 1,052,668 

 Comercia Global Payments, Entidad de Pago, SL (*) - 91,459 

 Other companies (*) - 49,873 

Subtotal 18,269,650 15,934,883 

    

Less:   

 Impairment allowances (111,267) (661,174) 

    
Total 18,158,383 15,273,709 

(*) Associates and joint ventures, the stakes in which were held through the CaixaBank Group at 31 

December 2016. 

 

The detail of goodwill included in the cost of investments in associates and joint ventures at 31 December 

2017 and 2016 is as follows: 
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Breakdown of goodwill 

Thousands of euros 31/12/2017 31/12/2016 

   
The Bank of East Asia, LTD (*) 671,772 770,126 

Abertis Infraestructuras, SA 638,604 651,014 

Gas Natural SDG, SA 389,421 389,421 

Grupo Financiero Inbursa, SAB de CV (*) 225,595 245,172 

Vithas Sanidad, SL 15,493 15,493 

Other 5,569 17,965 

Banco BPI, SA (**) - 350,198 

SegurCaixa Adeslas, SA de Seguros Generales y Reaseguros (**) - 299,618 

   
Total 1,946,454 2,739,007 

   
(*) Equivalent value in euros of goodwill recorded in foreign currency. 

(**) Associates and joint ventures, the stakes in which were held through the CaixaBank Group at 31 December 2016. 

 

The tables below show the changes in the heading "Investments in associates and joint ventures" in 2017 

and 2016: 

Changes in investments - 2017 

Thousands of euros 

Underlying 

carrying amount Goodwill 

Impairment 

allowances Total  

     
Balance at 31/12/2016 13,195,875 2,739,007 (661,174) 15,273,708 

     
Derecognitions due to loss of control (Notes 1, 2 and 3) (6,300,541) (667,781) 551,011 (6,417,311) 

Addition of CaixaBank 9,863,700 - - 9,863,700 

Acquisitions and capital increases/Additions due to 

impairment 47,894 5,568 (1,104) 52,358 

Disposals and capital reductions (30,729) (12,410) - (43,139) 

Profit/(loss) for the period 865,553 - - 865,553 

Dividends declared (594,134) - - (594,134) 

Translation differences (278,116) (117,930) - (396,046) 

Valuation adjustments - investees (177,753) - - (177,753) 

Reclassifications and other (*) (268,553) - - (268,553) 

     
Balance at 31/12/2017 16,323,196 1,946,454 (111,267) 18,158,383 

(*) Primarily includes the change in reserves of associates. 
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Changes in investments - 2016 

Thousands of euros 

Underlying 

carrying amount Goodwill 

Impairment 

allowances Total  

     
Balance at 31/12/2015 14,492,449 2,894,608 (621,154) 16,765,903 

     
Acquisitions and capital increases 161,449 12,754 (15,821) 158,382 

Disposals and capital reductions (2,047,805) (164,390) 9,827 (2,202,368) 

Profit/(loss) for the period 1,308,536 - - 1,308,536 

Dividends declared (717,147) - - (717,147) 

Translation differences (20,996) (12,694) - (33,690) 

Changes in consolidation method 19,701 15,519 - 35,220 

Valuation adjustments - investees 48,536 - - 48,536 

Reclassifications and other (48,848) (6,790) (34,026) (89,664) 

     
Balance at 31/12/2016 13,195,875 2,739,007 (661,174) 15,273,708 

     

The following is a list of the acquisitions and disposals made in 2017.  

Breakdown of acquisitions and disposals - 

2017    

Acquisitions and capital increases    

Thousands of euros 

Underlying 

carrying amount Goodwill  Total 

    

The Bank of East Asia, LTD 32,674 - 32,674 

Other 15,220 5,568 20,788 

    
Total 47,894 5,568 53,462 

    
Disposals and capital reductions    

    

Thousands of euros 
Underlying 

carrying amount Goodwill  Total 

Abertis Infraestructuras, SA (30,659) (12,410) (43,069) 

Other (70) - (70) 

    
Total (30,729) (12,410) (43,139) 

 

The main changes in 2017 are as follows: 

CaixaBank 

As a result of Criteria losing control over CaixaBank in the second half of 2017 (see “Corporate information”), 

40.00% of the remaining stake in CaixaBank has been accounted for using the equity method. On applying 

IFRS 10, “la Caixa” Banking Foundation has derecognised the assets and liabilities from CaixaBank in the 

consolidated statement of profit or loss and has recognised the remaining stake held in CaixaBank at fair 

value when control was lost.  

The 26 September 2017 has been taken as the date of reference when calculating the fair value of the stake 

in CaixaBank on reclassification, as this is the date on which the Governing Council of the European Central 

Bank informed Criteria of its decision that Criteria would no longer be under its supervision, bringing to an 

end the Criteria-CaixaBank deconsolidation, after confirming fulfilment of all the conditions demonstrating 
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control over CaixaBank had been lost. Since CaixaBank is a listed company, its fair value at 26 September 

2017 equals its share price at that date, i.e. EUR 4,120/share. This has involved recognising a net revaluation 

of EUR 117 million under "Profit/(loss) before tax from discontinued operations" in the statement of profit 

or loss for the year (see "Income and expenses"). 

Subsequently, on classifying CaixaBank as an associate and in accordance with IAS 28, the stake was 
measured at the value of “la Caixa” Banking Foundation's share in the net fair value of CaixaBank's 
identifiable assets and liabilities. A Purchase Price Allocation (PPA) was therefore carried out. It was 
determined that the fair value of the CaixaBank Group's assets and liabilities attributable to “la Caixa” 
Banking Foundation totalled EUR 9,864 million. The assets and liabilities on which the fair value exercise 
were performed are as follows:  
 

i) Loans and receivables, the fair value of which was primarily obtained by applying the 
estimated percentages of expected loss to loans and advances to customers, determined 
basically in accordance with the characteristics of the financing granted and the collateral of 
the debt. 

ii) Real estate assets, the fair value of which was obtained considering appraisals available and 
other parameters such as the type, use and location of the assets, sales experience, sales costs, 
etc. 

iii) Non-listed holdings, the fair value of which was estimated using a variety of generally accepted 
valuation techniques, primarily dividend discount and analysis using multiples and prices 
based on recent transactions. 

iv) Intangible assets, the fair value of which was estimated as follows: 
a. The relief-from-royalties method was used for estimating the fair value of the brand. 
b. The estimated cost savings method was used for determining the value of core deposits. 
c. The multi period excess earnings method (MEEM) was used for intangible assets deriving 

from relationships with customers in the asset management business. 
 
Following this exercise, “la Caixa” Banking Foundation Group recognised a positive amount equivalent to 
the negative difference arising on consolidation of EUR 6 million under “Negative goodwill recognised in 
profit or loss” in the accompanying consolidated statement of profit or loss (before and after tax). 
 
The amortisation of identified intangible assets with a finite useful life is recognised with a charge to “Share 
of profit/(loss) of entities accounted for using the equity method” in the accompanying consolidated 
statement of profit or loss for 2017, totalling EUR 44 million. 
 

Abertis Infraestructuras, SA ("Abertis") 

During 2017, Criteria directly sold on the market 90,038 shares in Abertis Infraestructuras, SA (0,009% of 
total capital), for EUR 1,674 thousand, generating a consolidated gross gain of EUR 1,053 thousand. 
Meanwhile, Inversiones Autopistas, SA (55.54% owned by Criteria) sold on the market a total of 9,725,052 
Abertis shares, representing 0,982% of share capital for EUR 181,028 thousand. A consolidated capital gain 
before minority interests of EUR 139,523 thousand was generated (see “Income and expenses – 
Gains/(losses) on transactions with Group companies, associates and joint ventures”). 

At 31 December 2017, “la Caixa” Banking Foundation Group held an 18.44% economic stake in Abertis, 
15.07% of which was held directly by Criteria and the rest through Inversiones Autopistas, SA. The “la Caixa” 
Banking Foundation Group's stake conferring voting rights in Abertis stands at 21.14% including the 6.07% 
interest held through Inversiones Autopistas, SA. The stake conferring voting rights totals 21.55%, including 
the shareholder agreements with Inversiones Autopistas SA's other shareholders. 
 
The Bank of East Asia, Limited (“BEA”) 

In 2017, Criteria received 13,980,154 BEA shares by way of a scrip dividend. The Group’s stake in The Bank 
of East Asia, Limited at 31 December 2017 was 17.44%. 
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Grupo Financiero Inbursa, SAB de CV (GFI) 

In 2017, Criteria received a total de 6,236,581 GFI shares by way of a scrip dividend and comprising treasury 

shares.  

The Group’s stake in Grupo Financiero Inbursa, SAB de CV at 31 December 2017 was 9.10%. 

The market value of listed companies classified as associates and the percentage stake held at 31 December 

2017 and 2016 are shown in the table below: 

Main listed companies 

 
 

31/12/2017  31/12/2016 

Thousands of euros  % interest Market value  
% 

interest Market value 

       
CaixaBank, SA  40.00% 9,304,581  - - 

Gas Natural SDG, SA  24.44% 4,707,732  24.44% 4,380,025 

Abertis Infraestructuras, SA  18.44% 3,388,249  18.99% 2,500,054 

The Bank of East Asia, LTD  17.44% 1,742,404  17.33% 1,701,822 

Grupo Financiero Inbursa, SAB de CV  9.10% 824,001  9.01% 865,610 

Repsol, SA (*)  - -  10.05% 1,976,047 

Erste Group Bank, AG (*)  - -  9.92% 1,186,298 

Banco BPI, SA (*)  - -  45.50% 749,727 

       
Market value   19,966,967   13,359,583 

       
(*) Associates and joint ventures, the stakes in which were held through the CaixaBank Group at 31 December 

2016. 

 

Impairment of equity investments 

For the purpose of assessing the recoverable amount of stakes in associates, the Group has a methodology 
in place for performing a quarterly assessment of potential indicators of impairment in the carrying amount 
of these investments. Specifically, it assesses investees’ business performance and, where applicable, the 
companies’ share prices throughout the period and the target prices published by renowned independent  
analysts. The Group uses the data to determine the recoverable value of the investment and, if this exceeds 
the carrying amount, it considers that there are no indications of impairment. 

The “la Caixa” Banking Foundation Group carried out impairment tests to assess the recoverable amount of 
its investments and verify the valuation adjustments recognised. Generally accepted valuation methods are 
employed, for example, DCF (discounted cash flow) models, DDM (dividend discount) models, and others. 
It did not consider potential control premiums in any of the valuations.  

The balance sheet and statement of profit or loss projections used, in certain cases, a 5-year time horizon, 
and in others, the concession terms, relevant investment plans, the locations of investments in emerging 
economies, and other similar factors. The projections are updated and adjusted on a half-yearly basis. 

The assumptions used are based on macroeconomic data on each country and sector obtained from 
renowned external sources and published strategic plans of listed companies or internal strategic plans in 
the case of non-listed entities. The assumptions used are as follows: 
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 Individual discount rates for each activity and country, ranging from 8.9% to 9.4% for banking stakes 
and from 5.6% to 10.7% for other significant stakes (between 5.9% and 10.9% in the stress tests 
carried out at 31 December 2016). 

 The growth rates used to calculate residual value beyond the projected period are between 1.6% 
and 3.9% for banking stakes and 1.5% for other material stakes (between 0.5% and 3.8% in the 
impairment tests performed at 31 December 2016). These growth rates were estimated based on 
the data of the latest projected period and never exceed nominal GDP growth estimated for the 
country or countries in which the investees operate.  

Given the uncertainty inherent in these hypotheses, sensitivity analyses are performed to confirm whether 
the recoverable amount continues to exceed the carrying amount of the investee. In this regard and further 
to the baseline scenario included in the impairment tests, possible variations in the main hypotheses, 
including the various business drivers and statements of profit or loss of investees, have been considered 
to assess the resistance of the value of these investments to more adverse scenarios. 

The following sensitivity analyses were carried out: 

a) For banking stakes: possible variations in the main assumptions used in the model, among others, 
the discount rate: -0.5%, + 0.5%, and growth rate: -0.5%, +0.5% and sustainable ROE: -1%, +1% , in 
addition to the business volume, net interest income, fees and commissions, cost-to-income and 
cost of risk.  

b) For Abertis: variations in the main assumptions used in the model, discount rate: -0.5%, +0.5% and 
growth in traffic (average daily flow): -1%. 

c) For Gas Natural: possible variations in the main assumptions used in the model, discount rate: -
0.5%, + 0.5%, and growth rate: -0.5%, +0.5%. 

 

The analyses conducted revealed the need to charge the sum of EUR 1,104 thousand against 2017 profit, 
recognising it under “Impairment of investments in associates and joint ventures” in the consolidated 

statement of profit or loss. 

The tables below show the changes in impairment allowances for investments in associates in 2017 and 
2016: 

Changes in impairment allowances for investments in associates 

   

Thousands of euros 31/12/2017 31/12/2016 

    
Opening balance 661,174 621,154 

Plus:   

 Allowances recognised in profit or loss 1,104 3,986 

 Transfers and other - 42,891 

Less:   

 Derecognitions due to loss of control (Notes 1, 2 and 3) (551,011) - 

 Amounts used - (6,857) 

    
Closing balance 111,267 661,174 

 
 
Financial information on companies accounted for using the equity method 
 
Appendix II discloses the percentage of ownership, share capital, reserves, results, and interim dividends, 
other equity, dividends from the total investment, carrying amount of the direct investment, share price at 
31 December 2017 and average share price for the last quarter of 2017 for each of the stakes in associates. 
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Summarised financial information on significant associates accounted for using the equity method, based 
on the latest information available at the date of preparation of these annual financial statements, is as 
follows: 

 

 

(figures in millions of euros or the 

corresponding local currency) CaixaBank 

The Bank of 

East Asia (*) GF Inbursa (*) Abertis Gas Natural 

      

Nature of the company's activities note (1) note (2) note (3) note (4) note (5) 

Country of incorporation and countries of 
operation 

Spain 
Hong Kong, 

China Mexico 
Spain, France, 

Brazil, Chile 

Registered office in 
Spain. Operating in 

more than 30 
countries across 
the globe, with 

significant 
presence in Latin 

America (primarily 
Chile, Colombia, 

Brazil and Mexico). 

Ownership interest at 31/12/2017 40.00% 17.44% 9.10% 21.14% 24.44% 

Dividends received 311 - 14 169 245 

Reconciliation of financial information 

related to fair value adjustments at the time 

of acquisition and adjustments due to 

changes in accounting policy 

 

 

Adjustments for 

standardisation with 

IFRS, mainly for 

measurement of 

credits   
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(figures in millions of euros or the corresponding local 

currency) 

CaixaBank 

The Bank of 

East Asia (*) GF Inbursa (*) Abertis Gas Natural 

Summarised financial information for the last 

available period 

31/12/2017 

 

31/12/2017  

(*) 

 

31/12/2017  

(*) (**) 

31/12/2017 

 

31/12/2017 

 

Current assets - - - 5,627 11,083 

Non-current assets 383,186 808,942 517,675 24,203 36,239 

Current liabilities - - - 3,849 7,608 

Non-current liabilities 358,503 707,728 383,536 21,205 21,409 

Ordinary income 6,970 26,814 47,221 5,136 23,306 

Profit/(loss) from continuing operations 1,720 6,370 20,138 927 1,237 

Profit/(loss) from discontinued operations (after tax) (2) 4,145 - 72 460 

Other comprehensive income (55) 2,915 - (285) (1,037) 

Total comprehensive income  1,663 13,430 20,138 714 660 

Attributable net profit 1,684 9,347 19,985 897 1,360 

      

      

(figures in millions of euros or the corresponding local 

currency) 
CaixaBank 

The Bank of 

East Asia (*) GF Inbursa (*) Abertis Gas Natural 

Summarised financial information at 

31/12/2016 

 

31/12/2016  

(*) 

 

31/12/2016  

(*) (**) 

31/12/2016 

 

31/12/2016 

 

Current assets - - - 4,398 8,213 

Non-current assets 347,927 765,706 530,348 26,788 38,901 

Current liabilities - - - 3,727 7,176 

Non-current liabilities 324,372 679,070 412,998 20,558 20,933 

Ordinary income 6,753 25,007 31,804 4,533 21,908 

Profit/(loss) from continuing operations 1,056 3,525 12,468 1,004 1,518 

Profit/(loss) from discontinued operations (after tax) (1) 304 - 7 193 

Other comprehensive income  (1,354) (1,870) - 328 560 

Total comprehensive income  (299) 1,959 12,468 1,339 2,271 

Attributable net profit 1,047 3,723 12,504 796 1,347 

      
Exchange rate on 31/12/2017  9.37 23.66   
Average exchange rate on 31/12/2017  8.80 21.33   

 

(*) Financial information in local currency (except for the dividend of The Bank of East Asia and of Grupo Financiero Inbursa which 
is expressed in euros). 
(**)Financial reporting under local rules. 
(1) CaixaBank is the leading retail bank in Spain, boasting the country's largest customer base (13.8 million in Spain). Through 
VidaCaixa, it occupies first place in the market for savings insurance and pension plans.  It had a network of over 5,000 branches at 
the end of 2017. 
(2) BEA is a Hong-Kong based independent bank also positioned in China, with a network of approximately 108 branches. It offers 
retail, corporate and investment banking services.  
(3) GFI offers corporate and retail banking services, asset management, life and non-life insurance products, as well as brokerage 
and securities custodian services in Mexico. It had more than 900 branches at the end of 2017.  
(4) Abertis is the leading international group in the management of motorways by kilometres managed, with over 8,600 high quality 
and capacity roads in 14 countries in Europe, the Americas, and Asia. 
(5) Gas Natural, pioneer in gas and electricity integration, is a multinational group operating in more than 30 countries and with 
nearly 22 million customers. The company’s core business lies in the regulated and liberated gas and electricity markets, with a 
growing contribution from its overseas activity. 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

https://www.abertis.com/es/el-grupo/autopistas
http://www.gasnaturalfenosa.com/es/actividades/lineas+de+negocio/1285338591925/aprovisionamiento+y+transporte+de+gas.html
http://www.gasnaturalfenosa.com/es/actividades/lineas+de+negocio/1285338591963/generacion+de+electricidad.html
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9. Non-current financial assets 

The breakdown of these headings at 31 December 2017 and 2016 in the accompanying consolidated 

balance sheets is as follows:  

 
Thousands of euros 

 
31/12/2017 31/12/2016 

Available-for-sale financial assets - Equity instruments 968,714 3,666,885 

Available-for-sale financial assets - Debt instruments 818 763 

Debt instruments (Notes 1, 2 and 3) - 62,324,416 

Loans and receivables and other financial assets 70,078 116,326 

Loans and receivables and other financial assets - banking business  

(Notes 1, 2 and 3) 
- 154,959,045 

Total 1,039,610 221,067,435 

 

The maturities of the Group's non-current financial assets at 31 December 2017 are given below: 

2017 Maturity (Thousands of euros)  

Type of financial item 
Between 1 and 

3 years 

From 3 to 5 

years 

Over 5 years or 

with no specified 

maturity 

Total 

Available-for-sale financial assets - 

Equity instruments 
- - 968,714 968,714 

Available-for-sale financial assets - 

Debt instruments 
800 - 18 818 

Loans and receivables and other 

financial assets 
33,290 5,041 31,747 70,078 

Total 34,090 5,041 1,000,479 1,039,610 

 

9.1. Available-for-sale financial assets – Equity instruments 

The table below presents a breakdown at 31 December 2017 and 2016 of the market value of the ownership 

interests in the main quoted companies classified as available-for-sale equity instruments, as it is considered 

that the Group does not exercise significant influence over them. 

  
Market value of listed companies classified as available-for-sale 

 

Thousands of euros 31/12/2017  31/12/2016 

    
Company % interest Market value  % interest Market value 

      
Suez, SA  5.86% 535,932  5.89% 465,693 

Cellnex Telecom, SA 5.94% 294,048  5.77% 182,593 

Telefónica, SA (1) 0.13% 55,323  5.15% 2,288,453 

      
Market value  885,303   2,936,739 

(1) At 31 December 2016, the stake in Telefónica, SA was held by virtue of the stake in CaixaBank, SA. At 31 December 2017, the stake 

was held directly by Criteria. 
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Details of the changes in “Available-for-sale financial assets – Equity instruments” according to the nature 

of the transactions in 2017 and 2016 are as follows: 

 

Thousands of euros 31/12/2017 31/12/2016 

Opening balance 3,666,885 4,192,513 

   
Derecognitions due to loss of control (Notes 1, 2 and 3) (2,946,030) - 

Acquisitions and capital increases 126,727 176,781 

Sales (1,160) (88,586) 

Transferred to profit or loss - (201,523) 

Adjustments to market value 124,426 (424,446) 

Transfers and other (1,252) 248,015 

Amounts used 750 - 

Impairment losses (1,632) (235,869) 

   
Closing balance 968,714 3,666,885 

 

The most significant changes in 2017 in available-for-sale equity instruments were as follows: 

Suez, SA  

In May 2017, as part of the capital increase carried out to partly finance the acquisition of GE Water, Criteria 
subscribed 2,798,111 shares and paid out EUR 44,210 thousand. 

Furthermore, Criteria acquired 518,670 shares in Suez (0.08% of its share capital), for EUR 7,719 thousand 
during 2017.  

In 2017, Suez, SA carried out several capital increases reserved for its employees, which had the effect of 
diluting Criteria's stake by 0.11%. 

At 31 December 2017, the Group's total stake in Suez was 5.86% (5.89% at 31 December 2016). 

Cellnex Telecom, SA 

During 2017, Criteria acquired 410,661 shares in Cellnex Telecom, SA (0,177% of total capital), for EUR 5,592 
thousand.  

The Group’s ownership interest in Cellnex Telecom, SA was 5.94% at 31 December 2017 (5.77% at 31 
December 2016). 

Telefónica, SA 

Criteria acquired 6,809,000 shares in Telefónica, SA (0.13% of its share capital), for EUR 55,821 thousand 
during 2017. 

 The Group's stake in Telefónica, SA was 0.13% at 31 December 2017 (Criteria did not have a direct stake in 
Telefónica at 31 December 2016). 

Derecognitions due to loss of control  

“Derecognitions due to loss of control” corresponds to the derecognition of the banking business performed 
by CaixaBank and its group as a result of losing control over this investee and it being accounted for using 
the equity method (see "Corporate information"). 
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Impairment 

At 31 December 2017, the Group tested all the capital instruments classified as “Available-for-sale financial 
assets – Equity instruments” for impairment to recognise any corrections to their carrying amounts, as 
applicable. In this respect, quoted equity instruments are considered to be impaired in the event of a 
continued decline in price over a period of one-and-a-half years or more than 40%. 

The analyses conducted revealed the need to charge the sum of EUR 1,632 thousand against 2017 profit 
under "Impairment losses on financial instruments" in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.  

At 31 December 2017, key data on the main investments classified as available-for-sale financial assets are 
as follows: 

Millions of euros      

Company name Registered office % interest 

% voting 

rights Equity 

Latest published 

profit/(loss) 

Telefónica, SA (1) Gran Vía, 28  28013 Madrid 0.13% 0.13% 26,618 3,132 

Cellnex Telecom, SA (1) Calle Juan Esplandiú, 11-13, Madrid 5.94% 5.94% 645 33 

Suez, SA (1) 

Tour CB21 – 16, Place de l’Iris - 

92040 Paris – La Défense – France 5.86% 5.86% 9,066 302 

Aigües de Barcelona Empresa 

Metropolitana del Cicle Integral de 

l’Aigua, SA (2) Calle General Batet 1-7 Barcelona 15.00% 15.00% 370 28 

      
      
(1) Listed company. Information on equity and latest published profit/(loss) is at 31/12/2017. 

(2) Non-listed company. Information on equity and latest published profit/(loss) is at 31/12/2016. 

 

9.2. Loans and receivables and other financial assets 

The detail of this heading at 31 December 2017 and 2016 is as follows:  

 
Thousands of euros 

 31/12/2017 31/12/2016 

Non-current loans to associates and joint ventures (Note 24) 2,238 2,180 

Other non-current loans 15,336 36,643 

Derivative instruments (Note 18.3) 438 - 

Other non-current financial assets 54,937 78,633 

Impairment of other non-current loans (2,871) (1,130) 

Total 70,078 116,326 

 

This heading includes mainly the grants considered to be refundable awarded to “la Caixa” Banking 
Foundation by public bodies, yet to be received, non-current loans granted to associates and joint venture, 
or third parties, in addition to security deposits provided in connection with properties where “la Caixa” 
Banking Foundation Group is lessee. 

On 15 June 2017, Resort Holdings, BV (a company that indirectly owns 100% of Port Aventura 
Entertainment, SA) repaid in full, and in advance of the maturity date, the subordinated loan of EUR 20 
million extended to it by Criteria on 11 February 2014, accruing interest at a rate of 10.25% and maturing in 
2021. Unpaid accrued interest of EUR 7,713 thousand was also settled. 

At 31 December 2017, EUR 1,526 thousand was recognised for the impairment of non-current loans to 
venture capital companies under the heading "Impairment losses on financial instruments" in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss. 
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9.3. Fair value of financial assets 

The fair value of the main financial assets and their carrying amounts at 31 December 2017 and 2016 are as 

follows: 

Financial assets      

 
31/12/2017  31/12/2016 

Thousands of euros Carrying amount Fair value  

Carrying 

amount Fair value 

       

Available-for-sale financial assets - Equity instruments 968,714 968,714  720,855 720,855 

Available-for-sale financial assets - Debt instruments 818 818  763 763 

Loans and receivables 16,319 16,319  38,612 38,612 

Current and non-current deposits 20,416 20,416  20,000 20,000 

Derivative instruments 438 438  - - 

       
 

The following table shows the main financial assets at 31 December 2017 and 2016 as per the measurement 

method used to calculated their fair value (see “Accounting policies and measurement bases – Financial 

instruments (excluding cash and cash equivalents and financial derivative instruments)”). 

Financial assets 

 

 31/12/2017 31/12/2016 

Thousands of euros Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

Available-for-sale financial assets - Equity 

instruments 885,303 - 83,411 648,286 - 72,569 

Available-for-sale financial assets - Debt 

instruments 818 - - 763 - - 

Loans and receivables - - 16,319 - - 38,612 

Current and non-current deposits - - 20,416 - - 20,000 

Derivative instruments - 438 - - - - 

Total 886,121 438 120,146 649,049 - 131,181 

 

The Group's process for determining fair value ensures that its instruments are measured appropriately. 

Most of the financial instruments recognised as “Available-for-sale financial assets – Equity instruments” 

have, as the objective reference for determining their fair value, quoted prices in active markets (Level 1) 

and, therefore, the fair value is determined on the basis of the price that would be paid for it on an 

organised, transparent and deep market (“quoted price” or “market price”). 

For unquoted available-for-sale financial assets – equity instruments, classified in Level 3, acquisition cost 

less any impairment loss determined based on publicly available information is considered the best estimate 

of fair value. 

There were no transfers between levels 1 and 3 during 2017 and 2016. 
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Movements in Level 3 financial assets 

Movements in Level 3 balances in 2017 were as follows: 

Level 3 movements - 2017  

Thousands of euros 

Available-for-sale financial 

assets. Equity instruments 

   
Balance at 31/12/2016 72,569 

Total gains or losses (786) 

 To profit or loss (1,536) 

 To equity valuation adjustments 750 

Acquisitions and capital increases 13,386  

Sales and other (972) 

   
Balance at 31/12/2017 83,411 
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10. Non-current assets held for sale 

The detail of the balances of this heading of the accompanying consolidated balance sheet is as follows: 
  

 Thousands of euros 

 31/12/2017 31/12/2016 

Real estate assets - 6,718,873 

Other non-current assets held for sale from the banking business (see Notes 1, 2 and 

3) 
- 590,064 

Total - 7,308,937 

 

Real estate assets 

At 31 December 2016, balance sheet item includes real estate assets from purchases or foreclosures in 

payment of loans owned by Criteria and the CaixaBank Group. Real estate assets from CaixaBank have been 

derecognised in 2017 due to the loss of control over it (see “Corporate information”). Criteria has also 

reclassified real estate assets it owns that derived from foreclosures in payment of loans to “Inventories”, 

having determined that they no longer meet the conditions established in IFRS 5 to be recognised as non-

current assets held for sale. 

Changes in this balance sheet heading in 2017 and 2016 are as follows: 

 
Thousands of euros 

 

31/12/2016 

Derecognitions 

due to loss of 

control (Notes 1, 

2 and 3) 

Additions 

and 

provisions 

Derecognitions 

and 

applications 

Changes 

in 

perimeter 

and Other Transfers 31/12/2017 

Foreclosed real estate assets 13,086,784 (10,614,244) 15,380 (113,745) 837 (2,375,012) - 
 

Impairment allowances for 

foreclosed real estate assets (6,367,911) 4,799,448 64,209 58,106 - 1,446,148 - 

Total 6,718,873 (5,814,796) 79,589 (55,639) 837 (928,864)  - 

 Thousands of euros 

 
31/12/2015 

Additions and 
provisions 

Derecognitions 
and 

applications Transfers 

Changes in 
perimeter and 

Other 31/12/2016 

Foreclosed real estate assets 13,667,383 1,133,172 (1,660,345) (53,426) - 13,086,784 
 
Impairment allowances for 
foreclosed real estate assets (5,776,091) (926,560) 666,107 (331,367) - (6,367,911) 

Total 7,891,292 206,612 (994,238) (384,793) - 6,718,873 

 

Disposals during the year relate to the cost of residential properties sold in 2017, generating gains of EUR 

12,663 thousand (see "Impairment and gains/(losses) on disposal of non-current assets"). 

In 2017, the Group recognised a reversal of impairment of EUR 64,209 thousand in relation to the increase 

in value of those non-current assets held for sale whose fair value was higher than their carrying amount in 

accordance with the criteria described in "Accounting policies and measurement bases" (see "Impairment 

and gains/(losses) on disposal of non-current assets"). 
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11. Inventories 

The detail of the balances of this heading of the accompanying consolidated balance sheet is as follows: 
  

 Thousands of euros 

 31/12/2017 31/12/2016 

Inventories from the holding business 1,636,850 656,331 

Goods for resale 1,631,472 656,331 

Advance payments to suppliers 5,378 - 

Foreclosure assets from CaixaBank (Notes 1, 2 and 3) - 968,203 

Inventories from the banking business (Notes 1, 2 and 3) - 44,693 

Total 1,636,850 1,669,227 

 

“Inventories – Goods for resale”, mainly consists of land, developments in progress and finished properties, 
measured at the lower of cost, including borrowing costs, and realisable value, understood to be the 
estimated net selling price less the estimated construction and marketing costs. 

At 31 December 2017, Advances to suppliers includes EUR 5,378 thousand, corresponding primarily to cash 

advances transferred from “Non-current assets held for sale” to "Inventories" in the accompanying 

consolidated balance sheet. 

Movements in inventories from the holding business for 2017 and 2016 are as follows: 

 Thousands of euros 

 31/12/2016 
Additions 

and 
provisions 

Derecognitions 
and applications 

Transfers 
Changes in 

perimeter and 
Other 

31/12/2017 

Land and lots 1,366,196 3,854 (24,579) 2,387,045 47 3,732,563 

Other inventories 15,388 39 (427) (5,978) - 9,022 

Advance payments to suppliers - 2,923 (2,327) 4,782 - 5,378 
 
Impairment of land and building 
lots and other inventories (725,253) 50,749 15,569 (1,451,178) - (2,110,113) 

Total 656,331 57,565 (11,764) 934,671 47 1,636,850 

 

 Thousands of euros 

 31/12/2015 
Additions and 

provisions 

Derecognitions 
and 

applications 
Transfers 

Changes in 
perimeter 
and Other 

31/12/2016 

Land and lots 1,356,753 4,859 (11,837) 16,421 - 1,366,196 

Other inventories 20,803 543 (1,094) 1,109 (5,973) 15,388 

Advance payments to 
suppliers 

- - - - - - 

 
Impairment of land and 
building lots and other 
inventories 

(677,830) (59,779) 7,148 4,849 359 (725,253) 

Total 699,726 (54,377) (5,783) 22,379 (5,614) 656,331 

 

Disposals during the year relate to the cost of land and residential properties sold in 2017, which generated 

gains of EUR 5,377 thousand.  
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The real estate assets classified under "Inventories" are measured using internal models for calculating 

recoverable amounts, which are used as inputs for revised appraisals. The method for measuring these 

assets is described in "Accounting policies and measurement bases". The fair value thereof, calculated using 

the Group’s internal models at 31 December 2017, totals EUR 1,740,694 thousand. 

During 2017, where the fair value of inventories based on appraisals and valuations conducted by 

independent valuers was higher than the carrying amount, the Group recognised reversal of impairment 

amounting to EUR 50,749 thousand under Procurements (see "Income and expenses") in the accompanying 

statement of profit or loss.  
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12. Trade and other receivables 

Details of the balances under this heading of the accompanying consolidated balance sheet are as follows:  

 Thousands of euros 

 31/12/2017 31/12/2016 

Trade receivables for sales and services 16,649 28,677 

Receivables from associates (Note 24) 4,120 - 

Loans and receivables and other financial assets from 

CaixaBank (Notes 1, 2 and 3) 
- 50,778,980 

Tax assets (Note 20) 76,249 890,447 

Other loans 4,396 4,303 

Total 101,414 51,702,407 

 

The heading "Trade receivables for sales and services" includes trade receivables from associates and joint 
ventures, and from third parties in connection with the Group's activity. During the year, EUR 969 thousand 
was recognised for the net sum of impairment and reversals of impairment of trade receivables.  

"Tax assets" includes income tax payments and accrued income tax rebates for 2017. It also includes VAT 
and personal income tax rebates.   
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13. Other current financial assets 

Details of the balances under this heading of the accompanying consolidated balance sheet are as follows: 

 Thousands of euros 

 31/12/2017 31/12/2016 

Loans to companies 1,616 919 

Balances receivable from tax group (Note 24) 258,308 - 

Current deposits 20,416 20,000 

Other current financial assets 27,616 11,545 

Prepayments and accrued income from CaixaBank (Notes 1, 2 and 3) - 574,888 

Ongoing transactions from CaixaBank (Notes 1, 2 and 3) - 42,006 

Dividends on equity securities accrued and receivable (Notes 1, 2 and 3) - 51,682 

Other assets of CaixaBank (Notes 1, 2 and 3) - 113,407 

Total 307,956 814,447 

 

‘Balances receivable from tax group” comprises the position arising from “la Caixa” Banking Foundation and 

Criteria's definitive settlement of income tax for 2016 amounting to EUR 139,301 thousand and EUR 119,007 

thousand respectively held with the parent of the tax group, CaixaBank, which was paid in February 2018 

(see “Related party disclosures”). 

Short-term deposits correspond to the subsidiary Saba Infraestructuras and accrue interest at a rate of 

0.05%. 

At 31 December 2017, "Other current financial assets" basically comprises deposits provided to secure 
financial derivatives arranged. Of these, deposits placed as guarantees in CaixaBank amount to EUR 14,510 
thousand at 31 December 2017 (see "Related party disclosures"). 

The entire balance of "Other non-current assets” matures in less than 12 months. 
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14. Cash and cash equivalents 

The detail of “Cash and cash equivalents” is as follows: 

 Thousands of euros 

Type of contract 31/12/2017 31/12/2016 

Cash on hand 3,876 1,587,471 

Current accounts 899,189 837,997 

Deposits at less than 3 months 26,148 259,928 

Cash balances at central banks (Notes 1.2 and 3) - 10,909,339 

Total 929,213 13,594,735 

 

Cash balances at central banks at 31 December 2016 included balances held by the CaixaBank Group to 

comply with the mandatory minimum reserves requirement in the central bank based on eligible liabilities. 

As a result of Criteria losing control of CaixaBank (see “Corporate information”), there are no cash balances 

at central banks at 31 December 2017. 

Following is a breakdown of interest rates for each of the main items in the table above at 31 December 

2017: 

 Thousands of 

euros 

 

   

Type of contract 31/12/2017 Interest rate 

Cash on hand 3,876 - 

Current accounts 899,189 - 

Deposits at less than 3 months 26,148 (0.05%-0.22%) 

Total 929,213  

 

In 2017, accrued interest related to cash and cash equivalents stood at EUR 546 thousand and was 

recognised under “Financial income” in the accompanying consolidated statement of profit or loss (see 

"Income and expenses"). 

In 2017, Criteria opened several deposits with financial institutions other than CaixaBank, earning interest 

at a nominal rate of 0.15%. At 31 December 2017, no deposits were held. 

The entire balance of "Cash and cash equivalents” matures in less than 12 months. 
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15. Equity 

The consolidated statement of changes in equity shows the movements in 2017 and 2016. The most 
important are discussed below. 

 

15.1. Capital or endowment fund 

As required by the provisions of Decree 1838/1975 of 3 July, ”la Caixa” set up an endowment fund of EUR 
3,006 thousand. 

As explained in Note 1, on June 16, 2014, ”la Caixa” was transformed into a banking foundation following 
its registration in the Foundations Registry. According to the resolution passed at the General Assembly of 
“la Caixa” held on May 22, 2014, a charitable fund of €5,868 million was assigned to the Caixa d’Estalvis i 
Pensions de Barcelona, “la Caixa”, Banking Foundation. 

This welfare fund is equivalent to the carrying amount of 23,168,578 Criteria shares, which account for 
around 51% of its share capital at 31 December 2014. 

In March 2014, an independent expert issued a report concluding that the value of the shares assigned to 
the welfare fund was at least EUR 5,865 million. 

 

15.2. Reserves 

The detail of “Reserves” at 31 December 2017 and 2016 is as follows: 

 
 Thousands of euros 

 31/12/2017 31/12/2016 

Reserves attributed to the parent company of "la Caixa" Banking Foundation 
Group 

       4,424,548 3,996,255 

   Free disposition reserves 5,049,309 5,049,178 

   Other Consolidation reserves assigned to the parent (624,761) (1,052,923) 

Reserves of fully-consolidated subsidiaries (*) 6,017,573 3,897,117 

Reserves of companies consolidated using the equity method (**) 767,916 3,002,530 

Total 11,210,037 

 

10,895,902 

 
   

(*) Reserves relating to equity-accounted subsidiaries in 2017 correspond mainly to CaixaBank, SA, The Bank of East Asia, LTD, Grupo 
Financiero Inbursa, SAB de CV, Gas Natural SDG SA and Abertis Infraestructuras, SA. 

 
Movement in these headings during the year includes the impact of the placement of 318,305,355 
CaixaBank shares owned by Criteria (representing approximately 5.3% of its share capital) through an 
accelerated bookbuild among institutional and/or qualified investors on 6 February 2017. The transaction 
totalled EUR 1,069 million and the shares were sold at EUR 3.36 each. At that time, as the transaction 
involved the sale of shares in a fully consolidated company that did not result in a loss of control, a negative 
impact of EUR (165) million was recognised in reserves, with a EUR 1,233 million increase in “Minority 
interests” (see “Corporate information”). 
 
On the other hand, the consolidated reserves generated by the CaixaBank Group at 30 September 2017 
have been transferred after losing control over this investee, for a total amount of EUR (693,834) thousand, 
from "Reserves of fully-consolidated subsidiaries" and "Reserves of companies consolidated using the equity 
method" to "Endowment fund and reserves". 
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15.3. Appropriation of profit 

The appropriation of the result of “la Caixa” Banking Foundation in 2017, to be presented by the Chief 
Executive Officer to the Board of Trustees for its approval, along with the appropriation for 2016, which was 
approved by the Board of Trustees on 18 May 2017, is as follows: 
 
 

 Thousands of euros 

 2017 2016 

Basis of appropriation:   

Surplus for the year 73,149 65,791 
   
Appropriation:   

A. Surplus from previous years - Retained earnings 73,149 65,791 

 
 

15.4. Valuation adjustments 

Items that will be reclassified to profit or loss: 

Available-for-sale financial assets 
This item in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet includes the amount, net of the related tax effect, 
of the differences between the market value and acquisition cost (net gains/losses) of the assets classified 
as available for sale which must be classified as part of equity. These differences are recognised in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss when the assets that give rise to them are sold or become impaired. 

 
Cash flow hedges 
This item in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet includes the amount, net of tax, of the changes 
in value of financial derivatives designated as hedging instruments in cash flow hedges, in respect of the 
portion of these changes considered to be effective hedges.  
 
Exchange differences 
Exchange differences includes the net amount of exchange differences arising on non-monetary items 
whose fair value is adjusted in equity and the differences arising on the translation to euros of the balances 
in the functional currencies of the fully and proportionately consolidated companies and companies 
accounted for using the equity method whose functional currency is not the euro. 
 
Companies consolidated using the equity method 
This heading includes the valuation adjustments, cash flow adjustments and exchange difference 
adjustments that took place in relation to associates and joint ventures accounted for using the equity 
method.  
 
Movements in this heading in 2017 and 2016 were as follows: 
 

 Thousands of euros 

 

Balance at 

31/12/2016 

Derecognitio

ns due to loss 

of control 

(Notes 1, 2 

and 3) 

Amounts 

transferred to 

profit or loss 

(after tax) 

Deferred 

tax 

assets/li

abilities 

Valuation 

gains/(losses) 

(before tax) 

Balance at 

31/12/2017 

 

Available-for-sale financial assets 
52,722  (59,922) 164  55  124,060  117,079  

Hedge transactions 4,746  (11,474) 101  (873) 2,977  (4,523) 

Translation differences 345,289  (1,057) - - (398,036) (53,804) 

Companies consolidated using the equity 

method (*) 
(39,214) (56,864) - - (174,526) (270,604) 

Total 363,543  (129,317) 265  (818) (445,525) (211,852) 

(*) Includes 3 months of the CaixaBank Group as an associate as from the date control was lost. 
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 Thousands of euros 

 

Balance at 

31/12/2015 

Amounts 

transferred to 

profit or loss 

(after tax) 

Amounts 

transferred 

to reserves 

Deferred tax 

assets/liabilities 

Valuation 

gains/(losses) 

(before tax) 

Balance at 

31/12/2016 
 

Available-for-sale financial assets 672,186  (199,806)   51,551  (471,209) 52,722  

Hedge transactions 30,542  (11,346) - 10,797  (25,247) 4,746  

Translation differences 213,896  77  - (284) 131,600  345,289  

Companies consolidated using 

the equity method (115,970) - - - 76,756  (39,214) 

Actuarial gains/(losses) on 

pension plans - - 35,754  - (35,754) - 

Total 800,654  (211,075) 35,754  62,064  (323,854) 363,543  

 

 

15.5. Minority interests 

“Minority interests” relates to the investments held by minority interests in the equity and profit for the 

year of the fully consolidated Group companies. 

Changes in this consolidated balance sheet heading in 2017 and 2016 are as follows: 

 

 

 

Thousands of euros 

 

Reserves of 

minority 

interests 

Profit/(loss) 

attributable to 

minority 

interests 

Interim 

dividends paid 

Valuation 

adjustments 

Total shareholders' 

equity attributable 

to minority 

interests 
 

Status at 31/12/2016 12,839,898 553,432 (101,869) 142,670 13,434,129 

      
Appropriation of prior year's profit to 

reserves of minority interests 
451,562 (553,431) 101,869 - - 

Final dividends paid to minority interests (225,289) - - - (225,289) 

Due to change in the percentage ownership 

of CaixaBank following the sale of 5.32% of 

CaixaBank (see Note 15.2) 
1,232,165 - - - 1,232,165 

Due to loss of control of CaixaBank (Notes 

1, 2, 3 and 21.9) 
(14,171,978) (935,250) - (51,323) (15,158,551) 

Other movements in reserves and valuation 

adjustments 
296,291 - - (15,331) 280,960 

Profit for the year attributable to minority 

interests 
- 1,025,602 (85,775) - 939,827 

Status at 31.12,2017 422,649 90,353 (85,775) 76,016 503,243 
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 Thousands of euros 

 Reserves 

of 

minority 

interests 

Profit/(loss) 

attributable to 

minority 

interests 

Interim 

dividends paid 

Valuation 

adjustments 

Total shareholders' 

equity attributable to 

minority interests 
 

Status at 31/12/2015 10,416,198 472,121 (123,526) 693,893 11,458,686 

      
Appropriation of prior year's profit to reserves 

of minority interests 
348,595 (472,121) 123,526 - - 

Final dividends paid to minority interests (118,891) - - - (118,891) 

Due to change in the percentage ownership of 

CaixaBank following the capital increase to 

pay scrip dividends 
(30,813) - - - (30,813) 

Due to change in the percentage ownership of 

CaixaBank following of the swap agreement 

between Criteria and CaixaBank (*) 158,302 - - - 158,302 

Due to change in the percentage ownership of 

CaixaBank and change in CaixaBank’s own 

funds following the sale of CaixaBank treasury 

shares 
1,837,941 - - - 1,837,941 

Due to change in the percentage ownership of 

CaixaBank following the sale of 1.7% of 

CaixaBank (*) 395,289 - - - 395,289 

Other movements in reserves and valuation 

adjustments 
(166,723) - - (551,223) (717,947) 

Profit for the year attributable to minority 

interests 
- 553,432 (101,869) - 451,562 

Status at 31/12/2016 12,839,898 553,432 (101,869) 142,670 13,434,129 

 
(*) As a result of the 3 December 2015 swap between Criteria and CaixaBank, on 30 May 2016, Criteria transferred to 
CaixaBank a number of CaixaBank treasury shares representing approximately 9.89% of its share capital and a cash 
amount of at EUR 678 million. As a result, CaixaBank transferred to Criteria its stake in The Bank of East Asia, Limited 
(BEA), representing approximately 17.30% of its share capital, and its stake in Grupo Financiero Inbursa, SAB de CV (GFI), 
representing approximately 9.01% of its share capital.  

Further, on 13 December 2016, 100 million CaixaBank shares, owned by Criteria, were placed with 
institutional and/or qualified investors through an accelerated bookbuild, comprising 1.7% of total share 
capital. The share placement amounted to EUR 315 million, at a sale price of EUR 3.15 per share. 

As a result of both transactions, a negative impact of EUR (82) million was recognised in reserves, with a 

EUR 395 million increase in “Minority interests”. 

The following table shows ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation Group subsidiaries in which certain minority 

interests held a stake of 10% or more at the end of 2017, none of which individually was for a significant 

amount: 
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Subsidiaries with minority shareholders with stakes equal to or greater than 10% 

  Minority interests 

Subsidiary Shareholder 31/12/2017 31/12/2016 

    

Inversiones Autopistas, SA 
BCN Godia, SLU 17% 17% 

G3T, SL 27% 26% 

Saba Infraestructuras, SA 

Torreal, SA 20% 20% 

ProA Capital de Inversiones, SGECR, SA 10% 10% 

Kohlberg Kravis Roberts & Co. Ltd. 18% 18% 

Caixa Innvierte Industria, SCR RS SA Innvierte Economía Sostenible SRC RS SA 39% 39% 

Caixa Capital TIC II FCR RS Fond ICO Global FCR 35% 35% 

Caixa Innvierte Biomed II SCR RS Innvierte Economía Sostenible SRC RS SA 43% 43% 

Caixa Capital Micro II FCR RS Fond ICO Global FCR 43% 43% 

Caixa Innvierte Start FCR Innvierte Economía Sostenible SRC RS SA 40% 40% 
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16. Deferred income 

The balance of this line of the consolidated balance sheet at 31 December 2017 and 2016 breaks down as 

follows:  

 Thousands of euros 

 31/12/2017 31/12/2016 

Subsidies 18,488 21,084 

Other deferred income 13,976 12,338 

Total 32,464 33,422 

 

‘‘Grants” comprises grants from governments of autonomous communities to fund the development of 

state social housing for a period of 10 or 25 years performed by Grupo Arrendamiento Inmo Criteria Caixa, 

SL. As per prevailing applicable rules, Arrendamiento Inmo Criteria Caixa, SL, is entitled to tap funds to 

acquire plots of land and build housing for the Spanish state social housing scheme. The Group takes these 

grants to consolidated profit or loss on a straight-line basis over said periods, as the subsidised act is to 

provide access to rental properties through the Spanish state social housing scheme. In 2017, the Group 

recognised grants of EUR 5,305 thousand (EUR 5,558 thousand in 2016) in the consolidated statement of 

profit or loss. 

”Other deferred income” basically includes: i) EUR 9,533 thousand (EUR 9,881 thousand in 2016) from the 

sale of properties on the site of a car park operated under concession and parking spaces ceded for use by 

Saba Aparcamientos, SA; ii) EUR 2,233 thousand (EUR 2,405 thousand in 2016) from the sale of parking 

spaces ceded for use in car parks operated under concession by CPE – Companhia de Paques de 

Estacionamiento, SA; and iii) EUR 2,138 thousand from the sale of parking spaces by Las Mercedes Sociedad 

Concesionaria, SL. 

The income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the concession term to 2051 in Saba Aparcamientos, 

SA's case, to 2047 in the case of CPE – Companhia de Paques de Estacionamiento, SA, and to 2054 in Las 

Mercedes Sociedad Concesionaria, SL's case. 
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17. Current and non-current provisions 

The breakdown, by type of provision, of the balances of these headings in the accompanying consolidated 
balance sheet at 31 December 2017 and 2016 is shown below: 

 Thousands of euros 

 31/12/2017 31/12/2016 

Provisions for pensions and other post-employment defined benefit obligations 2,452 2,031,164 

Provisions for other long term employee benefits (Notes 1, 2 and 3) 1,806 975,614 

Provisions for pending legal issues and tax litigation 10,156 640,151 

Provisions for commitments and guarantees given (Notes 1, 2 and 3) - 228,553 

Provisions for replacement and fees 138,475 140,501 

Losses from agreements not formalised and other risks (Notes 1, 2 and 3) - 813,273 

Ongoing legal proceedings 1,355 19,051 

Other provisions 21,150 98,136 

Total 175,394 4,946,443 

 

At 31 December 2016, the sum of the balances of "Provisions for commitments and guarantees given" and 

"Losses from agreements not formalised and other risks” were from the CaixaBank Group (see “Corporate 

information”).  

The decrease in “Provisions for pensions and other post employment benefits”, “Provisions for pending legal 

issues and tax litigation”, “Provisions for other long-term employee benefits” and “Provisions for ongoing 

legal proceedings” primarily derives from the aforesaid fact. 

The breakdown of these provisions into the current and non-current categories at 31 December 2017 is as 

follows: 

 Thousands of euros 

 Non-current Current Total 

Provisions for pensions and other post-employment defined benefit 
obligations 

2,452 - 2,452 

Provisions for other long-term employee benefits 941 865 1,806 

Provisions for pending legal issues and tax litigation 3,267 6,889 10,156 

Provisions for replacement and fees 119,425 19,050 138,475 

Ongoing legal proceedings 1,355 - 1,355 

Other provisions 20,544 606 21,150 

Total 147,984 27,410 175,394 

 

Provisions for replacement and fees 

The Group includes the provisions for replacement and fees from Saba Infraestructuras' business, for which 

it will be responsible during the entire term of the service concession arrangements that have been granted 

to it. After applying the intangible asset model set forth in IFRIC 12, the Group has determined future actions 

that must be taken by the concessionaire in order to maintain and restore its infrastructure. The 

corresponding provisions have been recognised on the basis of the best estimates of the required 

disbursement. 

The changes in the provisions recognised under this heading in 2017 and 2016 are as follows: 
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Thousands of euros 

Item Balance at 

31/12/2016 
Additions Disposals Allowances Discount 

Amounts 

used 

Balance at 

31/12/2017 

Provisions for 

replacement and 

fees 140,501 2,600 (1,119) 4,639 7,188 (15,334) 138,475 

        

Total  140,501 2,600 (1,119) 4,639 7,188 (15,334) 138,475 

 

 
Thousands of euros 

Item Balance at 

31/12/2015 
Additions Disposals Allowances Discount 

Amounts 

used 

Balance at 

31/12/201

6 Provisions for 

replacement and 

fees 147,435 7,022 (6,432) 4,318 6,728 (18,570) 140,501 

        

Total  147,435 7,022 (6,432) 4,318 6,728 (18,570) 140,501 

 

 

Other provisions 

At 31 December 2016, the balance of “Other provisions” includes EUR 41,878 thousand corresponding to 
the CaixaBank Group. As a result of losing control over this investee, as explained above, these balances are 
recognised under “Investments in associates and joint ventures”. 

Further, in 2017, the cost of early termination of the real estate asset management contract held by Criteria 
with Servihabitat Servicios Inmobiliarios amounting to EUR 34,500 thousand was settled. 

  



 

”la Caixa” Banking Foundation Group – 2017 Financial Statements               92 
 

18. Non-current and current financial liabilities 

The balance of these headings of the consolidated balance sheet at 31 December 2017 and 2016 breaks 
down as follows: 

 Thousands of euros 

 31/12/2017 31/12/2016 

 Non-current Current Non-current Current 

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings and bonds 

and other marketable debt securities 
6,844,795 85,339 5,451,598 2,272,472 

Debt securities from CaixaBank (Notes 1, 2 and 3) 
- - 23,161,014 4,547,000 

Other financial liabilities 142,586 32,503 428,983 2,397,059 

Financial liabilities held for trading - Derivatives 
22,784 - 19,579 9,394,559 

Derivatives - Hedge accounting 10,436 - 632,434 1,618 

Deposits - banking business (Notes 1, 2 and 3) - - 35,126,485 186,566,911 

Total 7,020,601 117,842 64,820,093 205,179,619 

 

The maturities of the Group's financial liabilities at 31 December 2017 are given below: 

 

Maturity (EUR thousand) 

Type of financial item 

Less than 

12 months 

Between 1 

and 3 

years 

From 3 to 

5 years 

Over 5 years or 

with no specified 

maturity 
Total 

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 

and bonds and other marketable debt 

securities 

85,339 2,456,140 2,859,329 1,529,326 6,930,134 

Other financial liabilities 32,503 22,954 8,137 111,495 175,089 

Financial liabilities held for trading - 

Derivatives 
- 13,451 9,753 (420) 22,784 

Derivatives - Hedge accounting 

 

- 7,570 2,019 847 10,436 

 

 

 

 

 

Total 117,842 2,500,115 2,879,238 1,641,248 7,138,443 

 

 

18.1. Interest-bearing loans and borrowings and bonds and other marketable debt securities 

The detail of this balance sheet heading at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016 is as follows: 

2017  

 Thousands of euros 

Item Non-current Current  Interest rate interval 

Bonds and other marketable securities 2,742,499 34,048 1.50%-2.37% 

Payables to associates (Note 24) 146,073 40,606 0.75%-2.53% 

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 3,956,223 10,685 

Fixed rates: between 0.60% and 1.75% 

EUR 3M/6M + spread between 1.10% and 

1.85% 

Total 6,844,795 85,339  
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2016  

 Thousands of euros  

Item Non-current Current  Interest rate interval 

Bonds and other marketable securities 1,628,604 2,264,092 1.00% and 7.50% 

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 3,822,994 8,380 
EUR 3M/6M + spread of between 1.40% 

and 2.20% 

Total 5,451,598 2,272,472  

 

Bonds and other marketable securities 

The breakdown by issuance of “la Caixa” Banking Foundation Group's bonds and other marketable debt 
securities at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016 is as follows: 

    Nominal amount (thousands of euros) 

Type of issuance ISIN Interest rate Maturity 31/12/2017 31/12/2016 

Plain vanilla bonds ES0314970239 2,375% May 2019 1,000,000 1,000,000 

Plain vanilla bonds ES0205045000 1,625% April 2022 1,000,000 1,000,000 

Plain vanilla bonds ES0205045018 1,500% May 2023 750,000 - 

Subordinated debentures ES0214970081 7,500% January 2017 - 1,505,499 

Exchangeable bonds XS0995390621 1,000% November 2017 - 750,000 

    2,750,000 4,255,499 

a) Plain vanilla bonds 

On 3 May 2017, Criteria issued unsecured plain vanilla senior bonds was carried out, for a total nominal 
amount of EUR 750 million, the price of which was 99,892%, with a maturity of six years and paying a fixed 
coupon of 1,500%. The proceeds have been mostly used to carry out the partial and full early repayment of 
certain bilateral loans, for a total amount of EUR 625 million and maturities between 2019 and 2021, with 
the objective of reducing financial expenses and extending debt maturities. 

Furthermore, at 31 December 2017, this heading included two other issuances of unsecured plain vanilla 
senior bonds carried out in 2014 and 2015, both for a nominal amount of EUR 1,000 million and with 
maturities of five and seven years, respectively. The issuance price was 99,577% and 99,974%, with returns 
of 2,375% and 1,625%, respectively. 

Moreover, this heading includes EUR 7,501 thousand of plain vanilla bond issuance costs. 

All plain vanilla issuances were aimed exclusively at Spanish and foreign qualified and/or institutional 
investors and are quoted on the Spanish Fixed Income Market (AIAF). 

b) Subordinated debentures 

On 31 January 2017, the subordinated debt issuance of Criteria for the amount of EUR 1,505 million 
maturing, which accrued interest at 7.5%. Criteria redeemed these bonds at that date. 

c) Exchangeable bonds 

In November 2013, “la Caixa” issued bonds on the Irish stock exchange for a total nominal amount of EUR 

750 million, exchangeable for 164.8 million CaixaBank shares, with a maturity date of 25 November 2017, 

except in the event of exchange or early redemption.  

The bonds bore a fixed interest annual interest rate of 1%, payable six-monthly in arrears. The price of the 
shares used in the exchange was set at EUR 4.55, representing a premium of 30% over the share price at 
the issue date. 
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As CaixaBank was a subsidiary at that time, the issue was considered a compound financial instrument, 
comprising a financial liability and an embedded derivative from the issue, recognised in equity. 

At the maturity date, the issuance was fully redeemed in cash by Criteria. 

Payable to group companies, associates and joint ventures 

At 31 December 2017, the Group had mortgages with CaixaBank, SA of EUR 114,320 thousand. Additionally, 

“la Caixa” Banking Foundation holds a loan with CaixaBank related to the agreements signed in 2013 for a 

total amount of EUR 66 million. 

The Saba Infraestructuras Group has also arranged a syndicated loan with several financial entities, with 4% 

of the syndicated loan corresponding to CaixaBank, SA (EUR 4,632 thousand at 31 December 2017). 

At 31 December 2017, this heading includes EUR 1,727 thousand of interest due within 12 months. 

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 

This heading mainly comprises loans granted to Criteria and totalling EUR 3,445,000 thousand and 

arrangement and agency fees of EUR 7,896 thousand. These loans are arranged with 18 financial 

institutions, of which 12 are Spanish, two are from the euro area, three are from the United Kingdom and 

one is from the United States. They mature between 2019 and 2024. 

This consolidated balance sheet heading also includes two agreements for finance granted to Saba 

Infraestructuras Group subsidiaries for a total nominal amount of EUR 589,100 thousand. At 31 December 

2017, EUR 526,920 thousand had been drawn down on these two lines of finance.  

This heading also includes EUR 2,884 thousand of interest due within 12 months. 

Also in 2017, Criteria entered into various bilateral loan agreements with financial institutions for a total 

sum of EUR 695 million, maturing at between three and five years (2020 and 2022). 

On 10 February 2017, the funds obtained from those loans were used in part to cancel a loan of EUR 550 

million taken out with CaixaBank, SA, maturing on 30 September 2022, to meet the intragroup financing 

requirements with CaixaBank prescribed by the ECB in order to successfully bring about the prudential 

deconsolidation of both entities (see “Corporate information”). 

Credit facilities 

Additionally, in 2017, Criteria cancelled ahead of its maturity an undrawn credit facility taken out with 
CaixaBank for EUR 750 million, maturing in January 2018. At the same time, this was replaced over the year 
by four new credit facilities, undrawn at 31 December 2017, for a total amount of EUR 375 million, extended 
by three Spanish financial institutions and one from the euro area. The initial maturity date for all these 
facilities is 2020, and two of them include the option to extend to 2021, for a total of EUR 150 million.  

The Saba Infraestructuras Group also has undrawn credit lines of EUR 60,900 thousand at 31 December 

2017 (EUR 47,300 thousand at 31 December 2016).  
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18.2. Other financial liabilities 

The detail of this balance sheet heading at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016 is as follows: 

 Thousands of euros 

 31/12/2017 31/12/2016 

 Non-current Current Non-current Current 

Dividend expected to be distributed - 78 - - 

Payables to suppliers of fixed assets - 6,512 - 7,904 

Guarantees and deposits received 7,993 1,407 8,083 1,577 

Other payables 104,701 7,964 24,642 1,549 

Refundable grants for pluriannual collaboration 

agreements 
29,892 16,542 35,480 1,029 

Other financial liabilities from the banking business (Notes 

1, 2 and 3) - - 360,778 2,385,000 

Total 142,586 32,503 428,983 2,397,059 

 

At 31 December 2017 and 2016, “Other payables” basically comprises Saba Infraestructuras's debt with 
Barcelona City Council on behalf of its subsidiary Saba Car Park, SLU of EUR 60,000 thousand for the 
acquisition of the stake in Barcelona d’Aparcaments Municipals, SA. The debt has a 5-year grace period for 
payment of principal, and falls due on 30 December 2039. It also includes 39,639 thousand euros 
corresponding to the pluri-annual commitments of the "la Caixa" Banking Foundation pending payment at 
the end of 2017, derived from the collaboration agreements formalized with entities related to the 
programs developed by the Foundation. 

Additionally, at 31 December 2017 and 2016, the heading "Long-term debts convertible into subsidies" 
includes the subsidies granted by the European Commission to the "la Caixa" Banking Foundation initially 
considered as reimbursable, pending attribution to the result of the exercise as the conditions established 
for its granting have been met and there are no reasonable doubts about its reception.  

 

18.3. Derivative financial instruments 

Details of derivative financial instruments at 31 December 2017 and 2016 are as follows: 

 Thousands of euros 

 31/12/2017 31/12/2016 

 Non-current Current Non-current Current 

Financial assets held for trading 22,784 - 19,579 - 

Held-for-trading portfolio from CaixaBank (Notes 1, 2 and 3) - - - 9,394,559 

Hedging instruments 10,436 - 6,890 1,618 

Hedging instruments from CaixaBank (Notes 1, 2 and 3) - - 625,544 - 

Total 33,220 - 652,013 9,396,177 

Interest rate swaps 

The Group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge the risks to which its future cash flows are 
exposed. When the requirements set forth in “Accounting policies and measurement bases” are fulfilled, 
floating-to-fixed interest rate swaps can be classified as hedges, having verified that the coverage is 
effective.  

The table below provides information on derivative contracts at 31 December 2017 and 2016: 
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 Classification Notional  
 Interest rate 

interval 
Maturity 

Ineffective part 

taken to profit or 

loss 

Fair value 

(Thousands of euros) 

  Assets Liabilities 

Exercise 

2017 

Floating-to-fixed 

interest rate 

swaps 

Trading 2,925,000 -0.07% - 3.30% 2020 – 2023 11,742 - (22,784) 

Interest 

rates 

 

652,194 0.06% - 0.62% 2019 - 2023 (886) 438 (10,436) 

Exercise 

2016 

Floating-to-fixed 

interest rate 

swaps 

Trading 2,775,000 -0.07% - 3.39% 2019 – 2022 (59,047) - (19,579) 

Interest 

rates 

 

312,495 0.74% - 3.30% 2018 - 2022 (1,326) - (8,508) 

 

At 31 December 2017, two interest rate swaps classified as trading had been entered into for a nominal 
amount of EUR 2,925 million: 

 A notional amount of EUR 1,800 million corresponding interest rate hedges relating to bilateral 
loans with financial institutions, but which do not fall within the effectiveness ranges established 
by accounting standards.  

 A notional amount of EUR 1,125 million initially corresponding to economic hedges relating to 
bilateral loans with financial institutions, where the loans to which the interest rate swaps were 
linked but not the derivative had been repaid early.  

Of the above, at 31 December 2017, interest rate swaps have been entered into with CaixaBank for a 
notional amount of EUR 1,358 million. 

In 2017, Criteria arranged two floating-to-fixed interest rate swaps with a total notional amount of EUR 
250,000 thousand, to hedge against a potential rise in the 5Y midswap interest rate on an issuance to be 
made in 2018, as it expects to be able to repay the maturities expected at the beginning of 2019 ahead of 
time. These derivatives are considered to be cash flow hedging instruments as the future transaction hedged 
is highly probable and falls within the established effectiveness range. The amount recognised in Equity by 
the Group in 2017 was EUR (4,523) thousand. 

The Group has also arranged interest-rate derivative financial instruments, classified as hedges, linked to 
the finance agreements and mortgage loans for the notional amount of EUR 402,194 thousand. 

The impact in the consolidated statement of profit or loss of settling these derivative financial instruments 
is recognised under “Other financial expenses” (see ”Income and expenses – Net finance cost”). 

For financial swaps where the hedge has been assessed to be ineffective, changes in value are recognised 
in the statement of profit or loss under “Changes in the fair value of financial instruments”. 

To determine the fair value of the interest rate derivatives, the Company used valuations based on the 
analysis of discounted cash flows, under the assumption that they are mainly based on the existing market 
conditions at the balance sheet date. 

 

18.4. Fair value of financial liabilities 

The fair value of the main financial liabilities and their carrying amounts at 31 December 2017 and 2016 are 

as follows: 



 

”la Caixa” Banking Foundation Group – 2017 Financial Statements               97 
 

 31/12/2017  31/12/2016 

Thousands of euros Carrying amount Fair value  

Carrying 

amount Fair value 

       
Derivative instruments (trading and hedging) 33,220 33,220  28,087 28,087 

Current and non-current interest-bearing loans and borrowings 4,153,587 4,153,587  3,831,374 3,831,374 

Bonds and other securities 2,776,547 2,848,686  3,892,696 3,912,095 

 

The following table shows the main financial liabilities at 31 December 2017 and 2016 as per the 

measurement method used to calculate their fair value (see “Accounting policies and measurement bases – 

Financial instruments (excluding cash and cash equivalents and financial derivative instruments)”). 

 

 31/12/2017 31/12/2016 

Thousands of euros Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

Derivative instruments 

(trading and hedging) - 33,220 - - 28,087 - 

Current and non-current 

interest-bearing loans and 

borrowings - - 4,153,587 - - 3,831,374 

Bonds and other securities 2,848,686 - - - - 3,912,095 

Total 2,848,686 33,220 4,153,587 - 28,087 7,743,469 

 

The Group's process for determining fair value ensures that its instruments are measured appropriately. 

The estimate of fair value of financial instruments included in Level 1 use as observable inputs quoted prices 

in active markets captured from independent sources. From 2017, bonds issued by the Criteria Group are 

measured in accordance with the criteria described previously. In 2016, the fair value of the bonds was 

estimated by discounting expected cash flows (Level 3). 

The fair value of the instruments classified in Level 2, for which there is no market price, is estimated on the 
basis of the quoted prices of similar instruments and valuation techniques commonly used by the 
international financial community, taking into account the specific features of the instrument to be 
measured and, particularly, the various types of risk associated with it. The fair value of interest rate swaps 
is determined using methods such as “net present value” (NPV), where each flow is estimated and 
discounted bearing in mind the market to which it belongs, the index to which it refers and the credit risk 
the market assigns to Criteria; or option pricing models based on observable market data (e.g. Black’76 for 
caps, floors and swaptions, and Black-Scholes for exchange rates and equity options). Virtually all the 
financial instruments classified as trading and hedging derivatives are measured following the criteria for 
Level 2. 
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19. Trade and other payables and Other current liabilities 

The detail of these balance sheet headings at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016 is as follows: 

 Thousands of euros 

 31/12/2017 31/12/2016 

Trade payables 108,616 198,950 

Payable to suppliers - Associates (Note 24) 15,450 9,744 

Accounts payable 27,539 17,237 

Payable to beneficiaries 124,970 131,444 

Remuneration payable 6,908 6,890 

Customer advances 2,603 2,687 

Trade and other payables 286,086 366,952 

   

Current tax liabilities 3,022 5,067 

Other payables to public administrations 16,508 11,909 

Current tax liabilities (Note 20) 19,530 16,976 

   

Trade and other payables 305,616 383,928 

   

Current accruals 2,967 5,150 

Accrued expenses and deferred income from the banking business (Notes 1, 2 and 3)  - 1,805,538 

Other current liabilities 2,967 1,810,688 

   

Total 308,583 2,194,616 

 

Under the heading "Payee Beneficiaries", in exercise 2017 and 2016, the amounts pending short-term 
payment at the end of the year are included, committed to beneficiary entities in certain collaboration 
agreements related to the programs developed by the "la Caixa" Banking Foundation (see Note 21.6). 
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20. Tax position and income tax 

Tax assets and liabilities 

Details of the current and non-current tax assets/liabilities recognised in the consolidated balance sheet at 
31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016 are as follows: 

 Thousands of euros 

 31/12/2017 31/12/2016 

 Non-current Current Non-current Current 

Deferred tax assets 1,461,087 - 11,215,883 - 

Current tax assets - 24,291 - 355,076 

VAT refundable - 1,052 - 93 

Receivable from tax authorities for grants awarded - 4,288 - 9,115 

Receivable for input VAT - 55 - 29,998 

Other accounts receivable from public 

administrations 
- 145 - 493,506 

Tax withholdings and prepayments refundable - 46,418 - 2,689 

Total tax receivables 1,461,087 76,249 11,215,883 890,477 

         

Deferred tax liabilities 70,820 - 1,241,531 - 

Current tax liabilities - 3,022 - 5,067 

VAT payable - 2,716 - 1,184 

Withholdings payable - 3,463 - 7,738 

Social security contributions payable - 2,423 - 289 

Output VAT payable - 3,599 - 16 

Other accounts receivable from public 

administrations 
- 4,307 - 2,682 

Total tax payables 70,820 19,530 1,241,531 16,976 

 

Tax consolidation 

Following the entry into force of Law 26/2013, of 27 December, governing savings banks and banking 
foundations, and given that in 2013 the stake held by ”la Caixa” in CaixaBank was reduced to below 70%, 
CaixaBank assumed the position of parent of the tax group and ”la Caixa” (currently ”la Caixa” Banking 
Foundation) became a subsidiary, with effect from 1 January 2013. ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation and 
Criteria form part of the tax group as subsidiaries.  

Furthermore, “la Caixa” Banking Foundation, Criteria and some of these companies belong to a consolidated 
tax group for value added tax (VAT) since 2008, whose parent company has been CaixaBank since 1 January 
2016. 
 
Years open for review 

On 24 July 2015, the tax authorities notified the Tax Group of the beginning of an inspection for the main 
taxes applicable to it for the years 2010 to 2012, inclusive. The inspection was completed in 2017 with no 
material impact. 

Accordingly, the tax group has the year 2013 and following open for review for the main taxes applicable. 

Reconciliation of accounting profit to taxable profit  

The reconciliation of the income tax expense recognised in the statement of profit or loss for the year to 
the corresponding profit before tax for 2017 and 2016 applying the prevailing rate in Spain is as follows: 
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Reconciliation of accounting profit to taxable profit 

Thousands of euros 31/12/2017 

31/12/2016 

Restated (*) 

     
Profit/(loss) before tax (A) 421,610 (54,445) 

Adjustments to profit (loss)   

 Return on equity instruments (Note 21.2) (26,650) (25,281) 

 Share of profit/(loss) of entities accounted for using the equity method (Note 8) (865,553) (678,319) 

 Gains/(losses) on sales of portfolio assets (140,379) (247,726) 

 Negative goodwill recognised in profit or loss (Note 8) (6,443) - 

 Non-deductible expenses 15,405  13,890  

 Other adjustments (21,540) (34,556) 

Taxable income/(tax loss) (623,550) (1,026,437) 

     
Tax payable (taxable income * 30%) 187,065  307,931  

Adjustments:   

 Deductibility of financial expenses (29,550) (52,560) 

 Withholdings from foreign dividends and other 136  7,287  

 Other adjustments (152) -  

     
Income tax  (B) 161,803  296,187  

 Income tax for the year (revenue/(expense)) 157,499  262,658  

 Tax rate (**) -25.26% -25.59% 

 Income tax adjustments (2016 and 2015) 4,304  33,529  

     
Profit/(loss) for the period (A) + (B) 583,413  241,742  

     (*) Presented for comparison purposes only (see “Basis of presentation - Comparison of information and changes in consolidation 

perimeter”). 

(**) The effective tax rate is calculated by dividing income tax for the year by taxable income. 

 
Practically all of ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation’s income and expense is taxed at the general rate of 30%, as 
it is a subsidiary of the Tax Group of which CaixaBank, SA is parent. However, some income is exempt from 
tax because it has already been taxed at source. This includes dividends from investees and the share of 
profits of entities accounted for using the equity method. In addition, in accordance with the provisions of 
article 24 of the TRLIS, the maintenance expenses of the OBS that, in accordance with accounting regulations 
that are applicable, are recorded with a charge to the income statement will. 
In addition, income from the Group losing control over CaixaBank (see ”Investments in associates and joint 
ventures”) is not included in taxable income. 
 
Deferred tax assets/liabilities 

Pursuant to current tax legislation, in 2017 and 2016 there were certain temporary differences which must 
be taken into account when quantifying the corresponding income tax expenditure. Details of the deferred 
tax assets/liabilities recognised in the consolidated balance sheet at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 
2016 are as follows: 
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Deferred tax assets      

Thousands of euros 31/12/2016 

Derecognitions 

due to loss of 

control (Notes 1,  

2 and 3) 

Debits/(Credits)  

in profit or loss 

Debits/(Credits) 

in equity 31/12/2017 

      

Pension plan contributions 472,626 (470,610) 242  - 2,258  

Credit loss provisions from the banking 

business 
4,103,383 (4,103,383) - - - 

Early retirement obligations 42,537 (42,510) - - 27  

Provision for properties 1,451,131 (1,300,118) (32,104) - 118,909  

Origination fees for loans and receivables 10,745 (10,744) - - 1  

Unused tax credits 1,735,982 (1,220,908) (3,045) - 512,029  

Tax loss carryforwards 1,854,030 (1,263,953) 5,319  - 595,396  

Tax assets for adjustments to equity 36,329 (31,985) - (1,802) 2,542  

Other tax assets arising on business 

combinations  
50,090 (50,090) - - - 

Other 1,459,030 (1,231,583) 2,479  - 229,925  

           
Total 11,215,883 (9,725,884) (27,110) (1,802) 1,461,087 

      

 

Estimated monetisable deferred tax assets in accordance with Royal Decree-Law 14/2013, of 29 November, 
total EUR 257,456 thousand at 31 December 2017. 
 
The Tax Group assesses the recoverable amount of its recognised tax assets, whether monetisable or not, 
every six months.  
 
To do so, at Tax Group level, it has developed a dynamic model that analyses the recoverability of the tax 
assets recognised for accounting purposes and those generated in subsequent periods up to the date 
covered by the model. The purpose of the model is to verify that the Tax Group is able to offset all tax losses 
and other tax assets recognised in the balance sheet with future taxable profits; and the best estimate of 
the new tax assets that can be generated in the future.  
 
The model uses the following as the most relevant estimates:  
 

a) The forecast profit or loss for each year covered by the model. The estimates are consistent with 
the various reports used by the Tax Group for internal management and for supervisory 
information, including certain details regarding the composition thereof, and 

b) The reversible nature of the main tax assets recognised on the balance sheet.  

 
The Tax Group considers the information used in the model to be relevant and strategic.  
 
The model is updated every six months with information provided by the Tax Group's various areas and an 
independent tax expert contracted by the Tax Group subsequently revises and validates the reasonableness 
of the working tax assumptions used therein.  
 
At 31 December 2017, in light of the results of the model and back tests performed, it is estimated that the 
tax Group has sufficient options to recover the deferred tax assets.  
 
In the current interest-rate environment, the nominal value of deferred tax assets does not different 
significantly from present value. 
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Details of deferred tax liabilities are as follows:  
 

Deferred tax liabilities      

Thousands of euros 31/12/2016 

Derecognitions 

due to loss of 

control (Notes 1, 2 

and 3) 

(Debits)/Credits in 

profit or loss 

(Debits)/Credits 

in equity 31/12/2017 

      Revaluation of property on first time 

application of IFRS 
242,037  (242,037) -  - - 

Tax liabilities on measurement of available-for-

sale financial assets 
223,081  (223,080) - (1) - 

Tax liabilities relating to intangible assets 

generated in business combinations 
95,004  (57,463) (2,559) - 34,982 

Tax liabilities relating to an extraordinary 

allowance to the mathematical provision 
271,329  (271,329) -  - - 

Other tax liabilities arising on business 

combinations in the period 
250,792  (250,792) -  - - 

Other 159,288  (137,847) 14,397  35,838 

          
Total 1,241,531 (1,182,548) 11,838 (1) 70,820 
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21. Income and expenses 

The detail of the main consolidated statement of profit or loss headings is as follows: 
 
 

21.1. Sales and services 

The detail of this heading of the accompanying consolidated statement of profit or loss for 2017 and 2016 
is as follows: 
 

 Thousands of euros 

Revenue 31/12/2017 31/12/2016(*) 

   
Income from services rendered 231,135 235,173 

Lease income (Note 7) 42,640 39,664 

Total 273,775 274,837 
(*) Restated, see Note Basis of presentation - Comparison of information and changes in scope of consolidation. 

 
At 31 December 2017, “Income from sales and services” mainly includes EUR 14,282 thousand from the sale 
of properties from the Group's real estate business (EUR 4,656 thousand at 31 December 2016) and EUR 
204,489 thousand from the operation of car parks offering hourly parking or parking for permit holders (EUR 
196,793 thousand at 31 December 2016). 
 
At the 2017 and 2016 year-ends, all of the Group’s operating leases are cancellable with prior notification, 
mostly of one month. Therefore, there are no minimum instalments payable under non-cancellable 
operating leases under the current leases.  

In relation to the leases for offices, commercial premises and industrial buildings, the terms of the Group’s 
leases with lessees included the following minimum lease payments, under the current leases, not including 
any charges for shared expenses, future rent increases indexed to the CPI or other future rent rises under 
the lease (in thousands of euros): 

Minimum lease payments receivable 

Nominal value 

31/12/2017 31/12/2016(*) 

   
Less than one year 26,671 28,223 
Between one and five years 45,597 46,277 
More than five years 17,479 22,454 

Total 89,747 96,954 

(*) Restated, see “Basis of presentation - Comparison of information and changes in 
scope of consolidation”. 

 

At year-end 2017 and 2016, the terms of the Group’s leases with lessors included the following minimum 
lease payments, under the current leases, not including any charges for service charges, future rent 
increases indexed to the CPI or other future rent rises under the lease (in thousands of euros): 

 

Minimum lease payments payable 

Nominal value 

31/12/2017 31/12/2016(*) 

   
Less than one year 6,249 6,371 
Between one and five years 13,607 14,403 
More than five years 10,538 7,694 

Total 30,394 28,468 

(*) Restated, see “Basis of presentation - Comparison of information and changes in 
scope of consolidation”. 
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21.2. Return on equity instruments 

The breakdown of this item in the accompanying statement of profit or loss for 2017 and 2016 is as follows: 

 Thousands of euros 

Dividend income 31/12/2017 31/12/2016(*) 

   
Suez, SA  21,683 19,935 

Cellnex Telecom, SA 1,189 1,085 

Aigües de Barcelona, Emp Metrop Cicle Integral de l’Aigua, SA 3,745 3,928 

Other 33 334 

Total 26,650 25,282 
(*)Restated, see “Basis of presentation - Comparison of information and changes in scope of consolidation”.” 

 

21.3. Profit/(losses) on transactions with Group companies, associates and joint ventures 

The balance of this heading in 2017 basically comprises the pre-tax gain, gross before minority interests, of 

EUR 140,576 thousand from the sale of 0,991% of Abertis Infraestructuras, SA (see “Investments in 

associates and joint ventures”).  

In 2016, the heading mainly included the gross gain from the sale of 10% of Gas Natural SDG, SA of EUR 

215,371 thousand by virtue of an agreement between Criteria and Repsol to transfer, in equal parts, 20% of 

Gas Natural's capital to GIP III Canary 1 SÀRL. It also included the gross gain of EUR 27,726 thousand from 

the sale of five logistics parks by Saba Infraestructuras to Merlin Properties.   

 

21.4. Procurements 

The breakdown of this item in the statement of profit or loss for 2017 and 2016 is as follows: 

 Thousands of euros 

 31/12/2017 31/12/2016(*) 

Procurements (12,612) (6,055) 

Impairment allowances, inventories (Note 11) 50,749 (59,779) 

Total 38,137 (65,834) 
(*) Restated, see “Basis of presentation - Comparison of information and changes in scope of 

consolidation”. 

"Procurements" basically corresponds to the cost of EUR 8,905 thousand derecognised in the sale of 

inventories in 2017.  

 

21.5. Staff expenses 

The breakdown of this item in the accompanying statement of profit or loss for 2017 and 2016 is as 

follows: 

  



 

”la Caixa” Banking Foundation Group – 2017 Financial Statements               105 
 

 Thousands of euros 

Item 31/12/2017 31/12/2016(*) 

   
Wages and salaries (81,648) (79,470) 

Termination benefits (2,642) (1,197) 

Employer social security costs (18,697) (17,649) 

Remuneration through defined benefit or contribution schemes (2,412) (2,241) 

Other employee benefits (9,854) (6,489) 

Total (115,253) (107,046) 
(*)Restated, see “Basis of presentation - Comparison of information and changes in scope of consolidation.” 

During 2017 and 2016, the average number of employees at the Group companies, by professional 

category, was as follows: 

 Average number of employees 

 2017 2016 (*) 

Professional category Male Female Male Female 

     
Executives 26 13   245 72 

Managers 109 76 8,786 6,148 

Back office staff 817 620 6,156 10,367 

Assistants 155 110 802 543 

Temporary employees 57 46 563 477 

Total 1,164 865 16,552 17,607 
(*) Of the total average workforce, 32,208 employees (15,394 men and 16,814 women) belong to the CaixaBank Group. 

The distribution, by professional category and gender, at 31 December 2017, is not significantly different 
from that shown in the preceding table. At 31 December 2017 and 2016, the Group's workforce comprised 
2,192 and 34,344 (32,403 belonging to the CaixaBank Group) employees, respectively. 
 

During 2017 and 2016, the average number of employees with a disability equal to or above 33%, by 

professional category, was as follows: 

 Average number of employees 

Professional category 2017 2016 (*) 

   
Executives - - 

Managers - 65 

Back office staff 21 142 

Assistants 3 9 

Temporary employees - 1 

Total 24 217 
(*) Of the total workforce with a disability equal to or above 33%, 191 belong to the CaixaBank Group.  
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21.6. Other operating expenses 

The breakdown of this item in the accompanying statement of profit or loss is as follows: 

  

  31/12/2017 31/12/2016(*) 

   

Leases and fees (23,301) (15,975) 

Repairs and maintenance (29,521) (23,056) 

Independent professional services (28,098) (34,101) 

Insurance (2,384) (2,562) 

Advertising and publicity (28,691) (38,818) 

Security and surveillance (13,015) (10,034) 

Representation and travel expenses (5,143) (3,980) 

Governance and control bodies (5,261) (4,463) 

Property-related expenses (59,553) (55,326) 

Expenses related to Foundation activities (125,607) (111,876) 

Expenses for monetary aid extended by the Foundation (254,040) (228,722) 

Other expenses (27,088) (8,689) 

Total (601,703) (537,602) 
(*)Restated, see “Basis of presentation - Comparison of information and changes in scope of 
consolidation”. 

 

In the heading “Expenses related to Foundation activities” for exercises 2017 and 2016 include the expenses 

incurred by the Foundation in carrying out its activities, such as setting up and taking down exhibitions, 

services required for centre operations, or purchases of various materials, among other activities. 

In the heading “Expenses for monetary aid extended by the Foundation” in exercises 2017 and 2016 include 

aid extended to other social entities under the collaboration agreements on social welfare projects signed 

with these entities and other contributions to specific beneficiaries. The detail of the grants granted by 

program is as follows: 

 

  31/12/2017 31/12/2016 

Social renting programme (17,619) (16,078) 

Programme to foster social initiatives (19,898) (19,889) 

Programme to develop regional welfare projects (45,699) (45,161) 

Programme to promote job opportunities (10,874) - 

Programme to combat child poverty (40,162) (45,647) 

Programme to recover natural spaces (2,175) (2,650) 

International cooperation programme (16,813) (8,871) 

Research programme (29,578) (19,915) 

Cultural programme (440) - 

Other welfare programmes (2,180) (1,943) 

Collaboration agreements with Public Administrations to 
support the development of social and cultural 
programmes (29,850) (29,331) 
Other collaboration agreements with entities (19,685) (22,128) 

Total collaboration agreements with entities (234,973) (211,613) 

Benefits - Scholarship Program for studies (19,067) (17,109) 

Total (254,040) (228,722) 
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‘‘Independent professional services” for exercises 2017 and 2016 includes the fees and expenses, excluding 
the related VAT, paid to the auditor, Deloitte, SL and related companies, broken down as follows: 

 Thousands of euros 

Fees paid to the auditor 2017(*) 2016(**) 

   
Deloitte 11,927 11,060 

Audit 4,727 3,631 

Audit-related services 4,623 4,125 

Other services 2,577 3,304 

   Other auditors 3,257 8,472 

Audit 194 326 

Other services 3,063 8,146 

Total 15,184 19,532 

(*) Includes fees paid to the auditor of CaixaBank and its group for the first nine months of 2017. 
 
(**) Includes fees paid to the auditor of CaixaBank and its group for the full year in 2016. 

 

Information on the average payment period to suppliers. Additional provision three: Disclosure 
requirements under Law 15/2010, of July 5 

The entry into force of Law 15/2010, of 5 July, amending Law 3/2004, of 29 December, establishing 
measures to combat late payment in commercial transactions, establishes the obligation for companies to 
expressly publish information on the payment periods to their suppliers in the notes to the financial 
statements. Pursuant to this disclosure obligation, on 4 February 2016, the corresponding resolution issued 
by the Spanish Accounting and Audit Institute (ICAC) was published in the Official State Gazette (BOE).  
 
In accordance with Transitional Provision Two of this ruling, following is a breakdown of the information 
required relating to payments made and pending at the balance sheet date: 

 Days 

Average supplier payment period and ratios 2017 2016(*) 

   
Average payment period to suppliers 39.13 29.32 

Ratio of transactions paid 41.26 30.55 

Ratio of transactions pending payment 21.52 5.27 

 

 

 

 

 
 Thousands of euros 

Payments made and outstanding at the reporting date 2017 2016(*) 

   
Total payments made  357,866 2,047,586 

Total payments pending  93,181 104,250 

Total payments in the year 451,047 2,151,836 
(*) Restated, see Note Basis of presentation -Comparison of information and changes in scope of consolidation. 

 

21.7. Impairment and gains/(losses) on disposal of non-current assets 

Impairment or reversal of non-current assets 

The breakdown of this item on the accompanying consolidated statement of profit or loss for 2017 and 2016 
is as follows: 

  



 

”la Caixa” Banking Foundation Group – 2017 Financial Statements               108 
 

 

  Thousands of euros 

 31/12/2017 31/12/2016(*) 

Intangible assets (Note 5) - (1,864) 

Property, plant and equipment (Note 6) - 4,967 

Investment properties (Note 7) (71,522) (43,932) 

Non-current assets classified as held for sale (Note 10) 64,209 (110,621) 

Total (7,313) (151,450) 

(*) Restated, see “Basis of presentation - Comparison of information and changes in scope of 
consolidation”. 

 

Gains/(losses) on disposal of non-current assets 

The breakdown of this item on the accompanying consolidated statement of profit or loss for 2017 and 2016 
is as follows: 

 Thousands of euros 

 31/12/2017 31/12/2016(*) 

Intangible assets (Note 5) (67) (39,410) 

Property, plant and equipment (Note 6) 182 61,090 

Investment properties (Note 7) 565 414 

Non-current assets classified as held for sale (Note 10) 12,663 3,457 

Total 13,343 25,551 

 (*)Restated, see “Basis of presentation - Comparison of information and changes in scope of consolidation”. 

21.8. Net finance cost 

Financial income 

The breakdown of financial income is as follows: 

 Thousands of euros 

 31/12/2017 31/12/2016(*) 

Cheque deposits 1,846 3,310 

Interest income, credit institutions (Note 14)  546 1,056 

Exchange gains 89 225 

Other financial income 1,328 1,101 

Total 3,809 5,692 
(*)Restated, see “Basis of presentation - Comparison of information and changes in scope of consolidation”. 

 

Financial expenses 

The breakdown of financial expenses is as follows: 

 Thousands of euros 

 31/12/2017 31/12/2016(*) 

Financial expenses of bonds issued (79,507) (150,357) 

Interest on loans from group companies, associates and joint ventures (Note 24) (2,686) - 

Interest on loans from credit institutions (82,208) (85,964) 

Exchange losses (220) (71) 

Other financial expenses (8,902) (9,416) 

Total (173,523) (245,808) 
(*)Restated, see “Basis of presentation - Comparison of information and changes in scope of consolidation”. 
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Change in fair value of financial instruments 

This statement of profit or loss heading comprises changes in the value of the interest rate swaps arranged 
by the Group (see “Accounting policies and measurement bases”). 
 
 

21.9. Profit/(loss) from discontinued operations 

As explained in Notes 1 and 2, as part of the deconsolidation of CaixaBank for prudential purposes, the 

Group has taken steps during 2017 to fulfil all the ECB's conditions for prudential consolidation, also 

resulting in the loss of control over this investee from an accounting perspective.  

Therefore, "Profit/(loss) from discontinued operations" on the consolidated statement of profit or loss 

mainly includes the consolidated results of the CaixaBank Group until the date that control was lost, which 

amounted to EUR 1,517,173 thousand before minority interests (EUR 581,923 thousand attributable to the 

Group). The main financial data relating to discontinued activities until the date control was lost are as 

follows: 

Thousands of euros  

  

Interest and similar income 5,167,335 

Interest and similar charges (1,622,628) 

  
Net interest income 3,544,707 

  
Dividend income and share of profit/(loss) of entities accounted for using the 
equity method 615,323 

Net fee and commission income 1,866,867 

Net gain/(loss) on financial assets and liabilities and other  283,324 

Income and expenses under insurance and reinsurance contracts 853,355 

Other operating income and expenses (682,924) 

Gross income 6,480,652 

  
Administrative expenses (3,118,941) 

Repayments (330,146) 

  
Operating income/(loss) 3,031,565 

  
Impairment losses on financial assets and other provisions (1,457,609) 

  

Net operating income/(loss) 1,573,956 

  
Gains/(losses) on disposal of assets and other 280,375 

  

Profit/(loss) before tax 1,854,331 

  
Income tax (335,802) 

  
Profit/(loss) after tax from continuing operations 1,518,529 

  
Profit/(loss) from discontinued operations (net) (1,356) 

  
Profit/(loss) after tax 1,517,173 

  
Profit/(loss) attributable to minority interests (Note 15.6) 935,250 

  
Profit/(loss) attributable to the Group 581,923 
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This consolidated statement of profit or loss heading also includes the net revaluation of EUR 117,412 

thousand on recognising the stake in CaixaBank at fair value when control was lost (see "Investments in 

associates and joint ventures"). 

This item in the consolidated statement of profit or loss also includes income of EUR 2,967 million from the 

sale in 2016 of five logistics parks by Saba Infraestructuras to Merlin Properties (see Note "Income and 

expenses – Gains/(losses) on transactions with Group companies, associates and joint ventures"). 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  



 

”la Caixa” Banking Foundation Group – 2017 Financial Statements               111 
 

22. Contingencies and obligations 

Contingent risks at 31 December 2017 and 2016 are as follows: 

 Thousands of euros 

 31/12/2017 31/12/2016 

Financial guarantees received 76,321 41,009 

Financial guarantees granted 1,414 - 

Contingencies and commitments from the banking group (Notes 1 and 2) - 78,337,007 

 

At 31 December 2017, the Group has a number of bank guarantees given to third parties providing EUR 
37,737 thousand of security (2016: EUR 31,166 thousand), primarily offered as collateral by the Saba 
Infraestructuras Group for its activities as bidder or concessionaire of public car parking contracts. Likewise, 
"la Caixa" Banking Foundation has guarantees amounting to EUR 21,687 thousand as collateral for works of 
art temporarily imported from exhibitions made by “la Caixa” Banking Foundation. Financial institutions 
have also extended guarantees to third parties on behalf of the Group in the amount of EUR 16,837 
thousand (EUR 9,843 thousand in 2016) basically to secure the Group's real estate activity (primarily in 
respect of urban development such as land development and other urban works). 
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23. Related party disclosures 

Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing 
and controlling the activities of the Company, directly or indirectly, including all (executive and non-
executive) members of the Board of Trustees and Senior Management. Given their posts, each member of 
key management personnel is treated as a related party. Therefore, "la Caixa" Banking Foundation must 
disclose, among other transactions, the information provided in this Note. 
 
Also considered "la Caixa" Banking Foundation related parties are family members close to key management 
personnel, and companies over which key personnel or their close family members exercise control, joint 
control or significant influence, or have, directly or indirectly, significant voting power. 
 
“la Caixa” Banking Foundation also has service level agreements with related parties. These agreements 

form part of the ordinary course of its business and are carried out under normal market conditions.  

 

The most significant balances at 31 December 2017 between “la Caixa” Banking Foundation Group and its 
associates, are detailed below. Details are also provided of the amounts recognised in the statement of 
profit or loss from transactions carried out. All transactions between related parties form part of the 
ordinary course of business and are carried out under normal market conditions. 
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2017 

Thousands of euros 

Associates 

entities 

   

ASSETS  

Non-current financial assets (Note 9.2) 2,238 

Other non-current financial assets (Note 9.2) 29 

Trade and other receivables (Note 12) 4,120 

Other current financial assets (Note 13) 272,818 

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 14) 816,814 

   
Total 1,096,020 

   
LIABILITIES  

Bonds and non-current debt 159,173 

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings and bonds and other 

marketable debt securities (Note 18.1) 146,073 

Other financial liabilities (Note 18.2) 208 

          Derivative financial instruments (Note 18.3) 12,892 

Bonds and current debt 40,606 

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings and bonds and other 

marketable debt securities (Note 18.1) 40,606 

Other financial liabilities (Note 18.2) - 

Suppliers and other payables (Note 19) 15,450 

   
Total 215,229 

   
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS  

Sales and services (Note 21.1) 2,507 

Results of financial operations 216 

Subsidies granted 

 

(15,788) 

Subsidies received 20 

Other operating expenses (Note 21.6) (12,052) 

Other operating income 1,677 

Finance cost (Note 21.8) (2,868) 

   
Total  (26,106) 

  
 
The most significant transactions between the “la Caixa” Banking Foundation and associates in 2017 

were as follows 

 Framework agreement for the rendering by CaixaBank of certain services to ”la Caixa” Banking 
Foundation. The main services provided, by virtue of engagement documents, include tax, financial 
and audit services, management of the corporate brand, among others.  

 Security services agreement between CaixaBank, S.A. and the Caixa d’Estalvis i Pensions de 
Barcelona, ”la Caixa”, Banking Foundation. 

 Lease to CaixaBank of ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation’s offices at Avenida Diagonal 621-629, 
Barcelona. 

 Service agreement extended by Caixabank Facilities Management, S.A. (formerly Suministros 
Urbanos y Mantenimientos, S.A.), for the management and maintenance of buildings owned by ”la 
Caixa” Banking Foundation. 
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 Framework service agreement extended by Serveis Informàtics la Caixa, S.A. (Silk), for the 
development of projects and provision of IT services. 

 Licensing agreement for brands and domain names extended by ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation in 
favour of CaixaBank, under which the former extends to the latter a user licence for specific brands, 
and the right to use a number of domain names. 

 A loan associated with the agreements signed between Caixa d’Estalvis i Pensions de Barcelona, 
Caixabank and the Council of Europe Development Bank (CEB) whereby the latter offers a finance 
facility for the development of welfare projects with for a total amount of EUR 100,000 thousand. 

 Collaboration agreement signed between ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation and Inmo Criteria Caixa, 
S.A. in the form of a non-fundable grant, for the development of the Accessible Housing 
programme. 

 Contributions made by the Caixa d’Estalvis i Pensions de Barcelona, ”la Caixa” Banking 

Foundation to related foundations. 

Description of the relationship between ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation, Criteria and CaixaBank 

 
As a result of the transformation of ”la Caixa” into a banking foundation and the ending of its indirect 
banking activity through CaixaBank, and pursuant to prevailing regulations, on 24 July 2014 the Board of 
Trustees of ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation approved a Protocol for managing the financial investment in 
CaixaBank (hereinafter, the “management protocol”), which Criteria signed in 2017, mainly regulating the 
following: 

 

 The basic lines governing ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation’s management of its stake in CaixaBank. 

 Relations between the Board of Trustees and CaixaBank’s governing bodies. 

 The general criteria governing transactions between the “la Caixa” Banking Foundation and CaixaBank 

 The mechanisms to avoid the emergence of conflicts of interest 

 The basic criteria relating to the assignment and use of distinctive signs and domain names owned by 
”la Caixa” Banking Foundation by CaixaBank and the companies in its Group. 

 The provision for ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation to have a right of pre-emptive acquisition in the event 
of transfer by CaixaBank of Monte de Piedad, which it owns 

 The basic principles for a possible collaboration so that (a) CaixaBank may implement corporate social 
responsibility policies through ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation, and, at the same time (b) ”la Caixa” 
Banking Foundation may disseminate its Welfare Projects through the CaixaBank branch network, and 
where appropriate, through other material means 

 The flow of adequate information to allow ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation and CaixaBank to prepare 
their financial statements and to comply with periodic reporting and supervisory duties with Banco de 
España and other regulatory bodies 

 
In the framework of the management protocol, "la Caixa" Banking Foundation, Criteria and CaixaBank 
agreed a new internal relations protocol on 19 December 2016 that modified the protocol of 1 July 2011, 
setting out the aspects of the management protocol required by the involvement of CaixaBank as a partner 
of "la Caixa" Banking Foundation and of Criteria. 

 
On 25 January 2018, the Board of Trustees of ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation approved the modification of 

the Internal Protocol Governing Relations between ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation, CaixaBank and Criteria 

to: (i) adapt the content to the Management Protocol; (ii) comply with the conditions notified on 16 March 

2016 by the Supervisory Board of the European Central Bank for prudential deconsolidation between 

Criteria and CaixaBank; and (iii) adapt the Protocol to these terms of deconsolidation. 
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Remuneration of the Board of Trustees 

Details of the fees for attending meetings of the governing bodies and other remuneration received in 2017 
and 2016 are as follows: 
 

(Thousands of euros)   

Board of Trustees of ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation 2017 2016 

   
Remuneration paid by the Foundation - - 

Remuneration paid by other companies of the Group 5,410 5,977 

   
Total 5,410 5,977 

 

In fulfilment of the provisions of the laws governing foundations, members of ”la Caixa” Banking 

Foundation's Board of Trustees receive no remuneration for carrying out their duties.  

Per diems received in 2017 by trustees for their work as members of the governing bodies of other Group 

companies and associates totalled EUR 5,410 thousand (EUR 5,977 thousand in 2016). Remuneration 

received by trustees for their work as members of the governing bodies of Group companies totalled EUR 

2,987 thousand in 2017 (EUR 3,894 thousand in 2016). 

No other expenses relating to pension plans or loans or advances have been accrued. 

Remuneration of Senior Management 

Senior Management, which is not part of the Foundation’s Board of Trustees, comprises executives with a 

senior management contract, and includes a Chief Executive Officer and Deputy General Manager, received 

a total of EUR 1,251 thousand for their work in these capacities in 2017 (EUR 1,198 thousand in 2016). 

Contributions to pension plans and other remuneration in kind totalled EUR 233 thousand in 2017 (EUR 226 

thousand in 2016). No other expenses were accrued and no loans were granted. 

Senior Management forms part of the Foundation’s Executive Committee together with five other 

members, who, while not Senior Management, hold management roles in specific areas within the group. 

The executive committee comprises of seven members (two female and five male). 
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24. Notes to the consolidated statement of cash flows 

At 31 December 2017, cash and other cash equivalents had decreased by EUR 1,894,766 thousand with 

respect to 31 December 2016. 

Cash flows from operating activities 

The most significant disclosures concerning operating activities in 2017 are as follows: 

  Thousands of 

euros Adjustments to profit (loss) Note 31/12/2017 

   Depreciation and amortisation of intangible assets, property, plant and equipment, and 

investment properties 
(5, 6, 7) 106,069  

Impairment losses recognised (+)/reversed (–) (8, 9, 21.4, 21.7) (39,924) 

Profit/(losses) on disposal of fixed assets (21.7) (13,343) 

Net gains/losses on disposal of investments (21.3) (140,382) 

Net profit/(losses) on financial assets and liabilities  (311) 

Share of profit (loss) of entities accounted for using the equity method (8) (865,553) 

Return on equity instruments (21.2) (26,650) 

Financial income (21.8) (3,809) 

Financial expenses (21.8) 173,523  

Change in the fair value of financial instruments (21.8) (10,856) 

Other  (180,716) 

   Total  (1,001,952) 

 
   

 

 Thousands of 

euros Changes in working capital 31/12/2017 

  Public administrations 48,882 

Other current assets 17,748 

Other current liabilities 59,007 

Inventories 16,742 

  Total 142,379 

 
 

Cash flows from investing activities 

Divestments made in “Group companies, associates and joint ventures“ of EUR 1,253,499 thousand basically 

comprise the sale of 5.3% of CaixaBank, SA for EUR 1,069 million (see “Equity”) and the sale of Abertis 

Infraestructuras, SA shares for a total of EUR 182,702 thousand (see “Investments in associates and joint 

ventures”). 

Other cash flows from investing activities primarily comprise dividends from associates and investments in 

equity instruments classified as available for sale, totalling EUR 813,037 thousand.  

All the investments and divestments in the year were paid and collected in cash. 

Cash flows from financing activities 

Cash flows from financing activities basically relate to the issuance of plain vanilla bonds in the year with a 

nominal value of EUR 750 million, and bilateral loan agreements subscribed during the year totalling EUR 

695 million (see “Current and non-current financial liabilities”).  

Financial liabilities of EUR 4,119 thousand have also been redeemed, basically including: i) redemption in 

cash of the issuance of bonds exchangeable for CaixaBank shares in the amount of EUR 750 million; ii) 
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redemption of the subordinated debt issuance in the amount of EUR 1,505 million; and iii) early repayment 

of bilateral loans totalling EUR 625 million (see “Current and non-current financial liabilities”). Furthermore, 

loans between Criteria and Group companies and CaixaBank were repaid early in the amount of EUR 1,177 

million, to fulfil the ECB's requirements concerning the deconsolidation for prudential purposes of Criteria 

and the CaixaBank Group (see “Corporate information”). At 31 December 2016, these financial liabilities 

were eliminated in the consolidation because at that time, CaixaBank was a subsidiary of the Criteria Group 

and therefore, they were not included in the consolidated financial statements at that date.  

From discontinued operations 

Flows from discontinued operations comprise the flows from the business carried out by CaixaBank and 

discontinued in 2017 (see Notes 1, 2 and 3). 
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25. Other relevant information 

The Group's subsidiaries from Saba Infraestructuras run covered car parks and controlled uncovered parking 
under a number of legal arrangements in the various countries in which it operates. At 31 December 2017 
and 2016, the Group had 375 and 368 centres, respectively. Details of these by country and operating 
arrangement are as follows: 

2017 Ownership Concession 

Controlled 

outside 

parking 

concession Management Rent Total 

Spain 14 147 10 80 6 257 

Italy 2 44 9 1 1 57 

Portugal 2 21 4 6 5 38 

Chile - 13 1 8 - 22 

Andorra - - - - 1 1 

Total 18 225 24 95 13 375 

 

2016 Ownership Concession 

Controlled 

outside 

parking 

concession Management Rent Total  

Spain 13 147 10 80 6 256 

Italy 2 44 9 1 1 57 

Portugal 2 21 4 5 3 35 

Chile - 13 1 5 - 19 

Andorra - - - - 1 1 

Total  17 225 24 91 11 368 

 
These centres include 73 car parks connected with 14 airports and 74 car parks connected with 53 Adif train 
stations. 
 
Details of the centres run under administrative concessions (contracts with local authorities in the various 
countries in which it operates) are as follows: 
 

 Spain: 157 centres (covered car parks and controlled outside parking) with 59,663 spaces in total. 
The average remaining useful life of all the concessions is 15 years. 

 Italy: 53 centres being operated with 26,072 spaces; the concessions have an average remaining 
useful life of 26 years. 

 Portugal: 25 car parks with 11,308 spaces across various concessions with an average remaining 
useful life of 18 years. 

 Chile: 5,560 spaces across 14 centres; the concessions have an average remaining useful life of 18 
years. 

 
Remaining useful lives are calculated on a weighted basis as per the number of spaces. 
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26. Information on the environment and corporate social responsibility 

“la Caixa” Banking Foundation is committed to environmental protection; a commitment that goes beyond 
its legal obligations to embrace an environmental management system that is fully integrated within its 
business and in the centres where the social and cultural activity takes place, and extends to all its projects 
under ISO 14001. Similarly, ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation, through its involvement on the governing bodies 
of investees, continues to develop internal processes for assessing and controlling the social and 
environmental risk of its investees in order to be able to guarantee that these organisations work in a 
responsible and ethical manner. 

In this regard, CaixaBank has a system of environmental protection in place under European EMAS 
Regulation 1221/2009 and ISO 14001. Further, the Bank's efforts to improve energy management have 
earned it the ISO 50001 standard. On the subject of environmental policy, noteworthy is CaixaBank’s 
adherence to the Equator Principles since 2007 and the United Nations Global Compact and its commitment 
to the use of environmentally-friendly technologies. It also seeks to include environmental criteria in 
products and services and has shown an ongoing support for initiatives to combat climate change. 

The energy companies and utilities in which “la Caixa” Banking Foundation holds stakes also have well 
defined corporate responsibility strategies and, moreover, are multinationals which report periodically 
using best reporting practices in relation to the implementation of their sustainability strategies. Their 
commitment and responsibility have been acknowledged by various Spanish and international bodies in 
prestigious rankings or indexes including ‘FTSE4Good’ and the ‘Dow Jones Sustainability Index’. 

 

27. Explanation added for translation to English  

These consolidated financial statements are presented on the basis of the regulatory financial reporting 
framework applicable to the Group in Spain (see Note 2). Certain accounting practices applied by the Group 
that conform with that regulatory financial reporting framework may not conform with other generally 
accepted accounting principles and rules. 
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Appendix I – Subsidiaries of the "la Caixa" Banking Foundation Group 

 

Thousands of euros               

            Dividends  Net carrying   

        Reserves     accrued in Impairment amount   

      % interest Share and  interim  Other Total the year for  for direct of direct Share price Average share price 

Company name and line of business Registered 
office  

Direct  Total Capital dividend Profit/(loss) equity equity direct interest Interest Interest 31/12/2017 last quarter 2017 

Criteria Caixa, S.A.U.  Plaza Weyler, 3 100.00  100.00 1,834,166  14,522,393 361,181 115,617 16,833,357 400,000 - 10,467,354 - - 

Holding company  07001, Palma, Baleares              

                   

Inversiones Autopistas, S.A. Paseo de la Castellana nº 51 55.54  55.54 91,934 (16,447) 217,152 (22,199) 270,440 102,724 - 127,903 - - 

Holding company  28046   Madrid              

                   

Mediterránea Beach & Golf Community, S.A. Hipólito Lázaro 100.00  100.00 104,324 187,079 (2,546) - 288,857 - - 311,930 - - 
Urban management and administration of the 
enclosed areas of the theme park 

43481   La Pineda (Vila-Seca)              

Tarragona              
                   

Lumine Travel, S.A.U.  Hipólito Lázaro s/n 0.00  100.00 60 371 137 - 568 - - - - - 
Travel agency  43481   La Pineda (Vila-Seca)              

    Tarragona              

                   

Saba Infraestructuras, S.A. Av. del Parc Logístic, 22-26 50.10  50.10 73,904 356,444 12,141 112,653 555,142 9,997 - 174,133 - - 

Management of car parks and logistics parks 08040   Barcelona              

                   

Inmo Criteria Caixa, S.A.U. C/. Roger de Flor 193-195 100.00  100.00 353,809 224,042 (3,086) - 574,765 - 3,849 574,570 - - 
Housing development, including state-sponsored 
housing 08013   Barcelona              

                   

Arrendamiento Inmo Criteria Caixa, S.L.U. C/. Roger de Flor 193-195 0.00  100.00 190,379 42,955 (8,646) (1,514) 223,174 - - - - - 

Management of state-sponsored housing 08013   Barcelona              
                   

Servihabitat Alquiler II, S.L. Provençals, 39 (Torre 0.00  100.00 3 74,439 7,842 - 82,284 - - - - - 
Management and administration of homes 
under lease 

Pujades) 
08019   Barcelona              

               

Servihabitat Alquiler, S.L. Provençals, 39 (Torre 0.00  100.00 10,503 217,109 6,043 (112) 233,543 - - - - - 
Management and administration of homes 
under lease 

Pujades) 
08019   Barcelona              

               

Els Arbres de la Tardor, S.L. C/. Constitució, Salita Parc D 100.00  100.00 10,000 29,548 (134,746) - (95,198) - 57,322 92,627 - - 

Acquisition of land and urban Parròquia d'Escaldes-              

development Engordany  Andorra              
                   

Caixa Capital Risc, SGECR, S.A. Av. Diagonal, 621-629 99.99  100.00 1,000 3,900 132 - 5,032 - - 4,200 - - 
Venture capital management company 08028   Barcelona              
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Thousands of euros               

            Dividends  Net carrying   

        Reserves     accrued in Impairment amount   

      % interest Share and  interim  Other Total the year for  for direct of direct Share price Average share price 

Company name and line of business Registered office Direct  Total Capital dividend Profit/(loss) equity equity direct interest Interest Interest 31/12/2017 last quarter 2017          Dividendos     

               

Caixa Innvierte Industria, S.C.R., S.A. Av. Diagonal, 621-629 0.00  46.57 21,708 3,792 (3,265) 689 22,924 - - - - - 
Venture capital company 08028   Barcelona                

                   

Caixa Innvierte Start, F.C.R. Av. Diagonal, 621-629 0.00  41.71 12,238 (512) (702) - 11,024 - - - - - 
Venture capital fund  08028   Barcelona                

                     

Caixa Innvierte Biomed II, F.C.R. Av. Diagonal, 621-629 0.00  45.29 32,321 (5,360) (2,489) 230 24,702 - - - - - 
Venture capital fund  08028   Barcelona                

                     

Caixa Capital TIC II,  F.C.R. Av. Diagonal, 621-629 0.00  53.53 14,555 (3,431) (1,680) 409 9,853 - - - - - 
Venture capital fund  08028   Barcelona              

                   

Caixa Capital Micro II,  F.C.R. Av. Diagonal, 621-629 34.72  56.80 12,916 (1,714) (1,741) 406 9,867 - 1,059 3,426 - - 
Venture capital fund  08028   Barcelona              

                   

Criteria Venture Capital SICC, S.A. Av. Diagonal, 621-629 100.00  100.00 19,250 45,220 (9,810) (13) 54,647 - 10,230 54,647 - - 
Holding company  08028   Barcelona              

                   

Caixa Assistance, S.A.  Av. Diagonal, 621-629 100.00  100.00 60 (50) - - 10 - - 12 - - 
Holding company  08028   Barcelona              

                   

Caixa Titol, S.A.  Av. Diagonal, 621-629 100.00  100.00 60 (48) - - 13 - - 14 - - 
Holding company  08028   Barcelona              

                   

Club Caixa I, S.A.  Av. Diagonal, 621-629 100.00  100.00 60 (50) - - 10 - - 12 - - 
Holding company  08028   Barcelona              

                   

Caixa Podium I, S.A.  Av. Diagonal, 621-629 100.00  100.00 60 (50) (0) - 10 - - 11 - - 
Non-financial entity  08028   Barcelona              

                   

GrupCaixa, S.A.  Av. Diagonal, 621-629 100.00  100.00 60 (17) (0) - 43 - - 42 - - 
Investment management 08028   Barcelona              

                   

Servicio de Prevención Mancomunado  
Del Grupo la Caixa, CB Gran Via Carles III, 103 10.00  100.00 30 - - - 30 - - 3 - - 
Health and safety advisory and prevention 
service and development of preventive activities 08028   Barcelona              
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Appendix II – Participations in associated companies of the "la Caixa" Banking Foundation Group 

Thousands of euros            Dividends    

            accrued in  Gross     

         Reserves   Other Total the year for  carrying amount    

      % interest Share and interim Profit/(loss) Equity  Equity  direct interest for direct interest  Share price   Average share price  

Company name and line of business Registered office 
  

 Direct   Total  direct dividend      total  
 

31/12/2017 last quarter 2017  

                  

Abertis Infraestructuras, S.A. (C)  Paseo de la Castellana, 39 15.07  21.14 2,971,144 130,025 897,413 778,092 4,776,674 168,590 1,132,783 18.55 18.40 
Transport and infrastructure management 28046 Madrid                
communications  Madrid                 

                     

Gas Natural, SDG, S.A. (C)  Avda. San Luis, 77  24.44  24.44 1,000,689 13,382,017 1,360,486 2,562,402 18,305,594 244,558 3,539,111 19.25 18.62 
Gas and electricity business 28033 Madrid Madrid                

                      

The Bank of East Asia, LTD  (C) (1) 10, des Voeux rd.  17.44  17.44 37,527 42,608 9,347 11,732 101,214 - 1,550,499 3.61 3.68 
Banking    Hong-Kong, China                   

                      
Grupo Financiero Inbursa, SAB de CV (C) 
(G) (2) 

Paseo de las Palmas, 736 
9.10  9.10 27,383 87,629 19,985 (858) 134,139 13,509 1,111,720 1.36 1.46 

Banking    11000   México D.F. Lomas de 
Chapultepec 

                     

                           
CaixaBank, S.A. (C)  C/. Pintor Sorolla, 2-4  40.00  40.00 5,981,438 16,539,989 1,684,167 477,687 24,683,281 311,030 9,896,764 3.89 3.96 
Banking    46002 Valencia                      

                           

Vithas Sanidad, S.L.   Príncipe de Vergara, 110 20.00  20.00 24,438 197,677 19,283 5,002 246,401 - 74,313 - - 
Management     28002 Madrid                      
company    Madrid                       

                  

Laboratoris Sanifit, S.L. Polígono industrial Parc Bit (Ed. Europa 2)  0.00  14.42 458 25,130 (11,139) 0 14,449 - - - - 
Research and development of treatments for 
calcification disorders 07121 Islas Baleares 

Palma de 
Mallorca                      

                           

Dermalumics, S.L.  Ronda de poniente 16  0.00  21.54 158 3,290 (926)   2,521 - - - - 
Manufacture of tomography systems 28760 Tres Cantos                      

    Madrid                       

                           

Extraice, S.L.   

Parque empresarial Los llanos,  
c/ Extremadura 2 0.00  20.83 75 2,948 28   3,050 - - - - 

Synthetic ice rink design and  
manufacture 

41909 Sevilla Salteras                      

                           

Pevesa Biotech, S.A.  Av. De la industria S/N. Polígono Poliviso 0.00  29.53 2,133 1,126 430   3,688 - - - - 
Obtention of isolates, hydrolysates, peptides 
and amino acids 41520   Sevilla El Viso de Alcor                      
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Thousands of euros 

             Dividends    Gross   

         Reserves       accrued in the  carrying amount   

      % interest Share and interim   Other  Total year for direct  for direct  Share price  Average share price 

 Company name and line of business  Registered office    Direct    Total   capital  dividend Profit/(loss)   Equity   Equity interest  interest 31/12/2017  last quarter 2017  

Integrated Microsystems for Quality of Life, S.L. Polígon Industrial Riu Clar. C/ Ferro 6 0.00  19.00 97 2,158 (809)   1,445 - - - - 
Development, manufacture and sale of 
pathogen and toxin detection kits 43006 Tarragona                      

                           
Suministros Integrales del Acero S.L. Polígono industrial Ircio 11-15 0.00  35.48 3,923 (349) 598   4,173 - - - - 

Integrated steel supply 09200  Burgos Miranda de Ebro                     

                           

Glycardial Diagnostics, S.L. Calle Sant Antoni Maria Claret,167,  0.00  26.44 5 998 (61)   942 - - - - 
Development of biomarkers for diagnosis and 
prognosis of myocardial ischemia (angina) Hospital Santa Creu y Santa Pau Barcelona                      

   08025 Barcelona                       

                           

Tecalum, S.L.   Crta. De Sales 2  0.00  28.08 4,612 826 223   5,660 - - - - 

Design and manufacture of aluminium products 17853 Tortellà                      

    Girona                       

                           

Genmedica Therapeutics, S.L. Joan XXIII, 10  0.00  18.15 1,794 361 (1,812)   343 - - - - 

Pharmaceutical development 8950 Esplugues                       

    Barcelona de Llobregat                      

                           

Minoryx Therapeutics, S.L. Av. Ernest Lluch, 32  0.00  18.27 539 18,439 (8,044)   10,934 - - - - 

Research and development of treatments for 08302 Mataró                      

rare diseases  Barcelona                       

                           

Medlumics, S.L.  Ronda de poniente, 16  0.00  20.09 245 13,080 (2,215)   11,110 - - - - 

Manufacture of tomography systems 28760 Tres Cantos                      

    Madrid                       

                           

ProteoDesign, S.L.  C/ Baldiri Reixac (Parc Científico), 10-12 0.00  45.02 128 1,194 (385)   937 - - - - 

Antibodies development 08025 Barcelona                      

    Barcelona                       

                           

Knowledge Development for POF, S.L. Ronda de Poniente 14  0.00  10.96 1,869 6,840 (1,957)   6,752 - - - - 
Development of a 1Gbit chip for plastic fibre 
optic technology 28760 Madrid Tres Cantos                      

                           

Grupo Kiniluku, S.L.  Passeig de Gràcia, 12   0.00  39.89 1,940 (1,352) (520)   68 - - - - 
Design, manufacture and supply and assembly 
of personalized gravestones and plaques 08007 Barcelona 
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Thousands of euros                

             Dividends    Gross   

         Reserves       accrued in the  carrying amount   

      % interest Share and interim   Other  Total year for direct  for direct  Share price  Average share price 

 Company name and line of business  Registered office   Direct    Total  Capital dividend Profit/(loss)   Equity Equity  interest interest  31/12/2017  last quarter 2017  

                           
Biotica Bioquimica Analitica, S.L. Universidad Jaume I de Castellón 0.00  41.35 1,223 (90) 197   1,329 - - - - 
Development, manufacture and sale of low-cost, 
rapid detection systems for pathogenic micro-
organisms and substances Avda. de Vicent Sos Baynat                      
 12071 Castellón                      
                         
Aelix Therapeutics, S.L. C/ Baldiri i Reixach, 4-8 0.00  22.76 11 5,477 (694)   4,794 - - - - 
Development of therapeutic HIV vaccines 08028 Barcelona                      

                           
Replay Balls Europe, S.L. Av. Palencia (Pol. Industrial Emiliano Revilla), 10 0.00  20.20 6,004 1,477 (468)   7,014 - - - - 
Recovery and recycling of used golf balls 42111 Ólvega                      

    Soria                       
                           

Inbiomotion, S.L.  Av. Diagonal, 601   0.00  26.09 123 3,833 (377)   3,579 - - - - 
Diagnostics of bone and breast cancer 08014 Barcelona                      
    Barcelona                       

                           
Eco-Sistems Watermakers, S.L. C/Horta 22  0.00  20.00 146 584 (168)   562 - - - - 
Seawater treatment systems 08203 Sabadell                      

    Barcelona                       
                           

Scutum , S.L.  C/ Santiago Russinyol 18-20 0.00  26.08 195 1,472 (440)   1,227 - - - - 
Design, development, production and sale of  08950 Esplugues de                       
electric scooters Barcelona Llobregat                      

                           
Metabostem, S.L.  C/ Calabria 241   0.00  27.78 6 838 (30)   814 - - - - 
Development of anti-cancer drugs 08029 Barcelona                      

    Barcelona                       
                           

Icinetic TIC, S.L.  C/. Historiador Juan Manzano 2 0.00  18.62 6 227 (233)   - - - - - 
Development of new technologies and products  41089 Dos Hermanas                    
for automation of software production Sevilla                     

                          
Nanusens, S.L.  Avda. Parc Tecnològic 3 0.00  17.57 23 987 (1,010)   - - - - - 
Design, production and supply of microsystems  08290 Cerdanyola                      
and microelectronic devices Barcelona del Vallès                      

                           
Center for Intelligent Research in Crystal 
Engineering, S.L. 

C/ Isaac Newton, s/n. ParcBit   
Edif. Disset, Local A-5 0.00  31.27 9 479 (237)   250 - - - - 

Research, development and optimisation of drugs 07121 Palma de Mallorca                      
    Islas Baleares                       
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Thousands of euros                 

              Dividends    Gross   

          Reserves        accrued in the  carrying amount   

        % interest     Share  and interim   Other  Total year for direct  for direct  Share price  Average share price 

 Company name and line of business    Registered office    Direct     Total   capital   dividend  Profit/(loss)  Equity  Equity interest  interest  31/12/2017  last quarter 2017  

Transplant Biomedica, S.L.  C/. Marie Curie 8  0.00  29.66 70 1,367 (973)   464 - - - - 

Development and sale of cooling systems  

refrigeración 

 08029 Barcelona                      

for organ transportation  Barcelona                       

                            

                            

                            

Iproteos, S.L.    Calle Baldiri Reixac 10  0.00  47.51 10 2,592 (934)   1,667 - - - - 

Development of schizophrenia drugs  08028 Barcelona                      

     Barcelona                       

                            

                            

                            

Mobile Lean, S.L.   Calle Espigüete 5  0.00  20.34 148 666 (167)   647 - - - - 

Development of mobile applications  47013 Valladolid                      

     Valladolid                       

                            

                            

                            

Aptatargets, S.L.   Avda. Cardenal Herrera Oria 298  0.00  30.71 718 1,736 (695)   1,759 - - - - 

Biomedical applications  28035 Madrid                      

          Madrid                           

                            

                            

                   

(C) Sociedades que cotizan en Bolsa: Últimos datos públicos disponibles en el momento de redactar esta Memoria.             

G) Data published as per Mexican GAAP                

All data except the cost of the interest, dividends, share price at 31/12/2017 and the average share price for the last quarter 2017 are in local currency; (1) Hong Kong dollar (million), (2) Mexican peso (million).   

Note: The information corresponding to non-listed companies is based on the most recent data available (actual or estimated) at the time of preparation of the notes to these financial statements.        
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”la Caixa” Banking Foundation Group management report for 2017 

 

 

The financial information set out in this Management Report was obtained from the consolidated 
accounting and management records of “la Caixa” Banking Foundation Group (“la Caixa” Group). The 
financial information relied on when drawing up the financial statements of “la Caixa” for 2017 and when 
drafting this management report complementing those statements has been kept and prepared in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union (IFRS-
EU). 

This report describes the key data and events of 2017 shaping the financial position of the “la Caixa” Group 
and the performance of its businesses, risks and likely outlook.  
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Management Report 

of the "la Caixa" Group for the 2017 financial year 

  

CONTENTS .....................................................................................................................................  PAGE 

1. GROUP STRUCTURE ........................................................................................................................... 3 

1.1. Group structure ............................................................................................................................... 3 

1.2. Regulatory framework ..................................................................................................................... 4 

2.  WELFARE PROJECTS  .......................................................................................................................... 5 

3. BUSINESS PERFORMANCE AND RESULTS  ......................................................................................... 14 

3.1. Description of the investment portfolio and Net Asset Value  ...................................................... 14 

3.2. Business results  ............................................................................................................................. 19 

4. RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES  ............................................................................................................. 25 

5. CREDIT RATINGS .............................................................................................................................. 28 

6. TREASURY SHARE TRANSACTIONS  .................................................................................................. 28 

7. OTHER INFORMATION  .................................................................................................................... 28 

7.1.  Non-financial information and diversity: Royal Decree-Law of 24 November 2017 ……...............28 

7.2.  “la Caixa” Banking Foundation information channels ……………………….........................................31 

8. 2018 OUTLOOK AND FORECAST PERFORMANCE FOR THE “LA CAIXA” GROUP  ................................ 31 

8.1. 2018 outlook  ................................................................................................................................. 31 

8.2. Foreseeable performance of the “La Caixa” Group in 2018  ......................................................... 33 

9. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD  .......................................................................................... 37 

10. APPENDIX – GLOSSARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION  .................................................................. 37 

 

 

 

  



 

“la Caixa” Banking Foundation Group –  Management Report 2017 - 3 - 

1. GROUP STRUCTURE 

1.1. Group structure 

”la Caixa” Banking Foundation is a private non-profitmaking institution providing beneficent welfare 
services. The purpose of the Foundation is to encourage and carry through a programme of social and 
beneficent services, assistance, and educational and cultural services.  

“la Caixa” Banking Foundation is the result of the transformation of Caixa d’Estalvis i Pensions de 
Barcelona, “la Caixa”, into a banking foundation in 2014, pursuant to the Law on Savings Banks and 
Banking Foundations of 27 December 2013.  

The ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation directly manages the Welfare Projects which have always defined ”la 
Caixa”, and uses Criteria Caixa SAU (Criteria) to manage all the Group's business assets, comprising stakes 
in strategic sectors, including banking, energy, infrastructure, services and real estate.  

”la Caixa” Banking Foundation helps maintain, strengthen and develop the main areas of activity of ”la 
Caixa” since its beginnings: financial, industrial and social spheres, which constitute its raison d'être.  

The Group’s structure is as follows:  

  

1 Includes stakes in Vithas, Caixa Capital Risc and Aigües de Barcelona 

 

“La Caixa” Banking Foundation’s investment policy is focused on a long-term horizon where the majority 

of the investments should fulfil the following characteristics: 

 Leaders in their sector.  

 Preference for listed companies.  
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 Attractive and recurring shareholder remuneration policy.  

 Presence at their governing bodies.  

This investment policy has provided ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation with the resources required to 
continue developing and implementing one of the largest budgets for Welfare Projects, making it Spain’s 
largest private foundation and the third-largest worldwide by asset volumen. 

1.2. Regulatory framework  

”la Caixa” Banking Foundation manages its stake in CaixaBank indirectly through its 100% stake in Criteria.  

In 2017, “la Caixa” Group met all of the conditions established by the ECB in its letter dated 16 March 
2016, for the purpose of the prudential deconsolidation between the Criteria Group and CaixaBank. To 
achieve this, the following measures were carried out during the year: 

a) Decrease its stake in CaixaBank to 40% or below. Criteria successfully sold a package of 
318,305,355 CaixaBank shares to institutional and/or qualified investors on 6 February 2017, 
comprising approximately 5.32% of its share capital.  

b) Corporate governance. During the second half of 2017, all the ECB’s requirements were met by 
amending CaixaBank’s bylaws and the “Protocol for managing the financial investment of ”la 
Caixa” Banking Foundation at CaixaBank”. 

c) Intra-group financing . The most significant steps taken by Criteria included: 

1.  Reducing funding with CaixaBank to below 5% of CaixaBank’s eligible own funds on 
deconsolidation, as required by the European Central Bank, and then to 0% over the 
following 12 months. This percentage stood at 0.91% at 31 December 2017.  

2. Frobidding direct and indirect lending from CaixaBank customers to Criteria or ”la Caixa” 
Banking Foundation. Following the redemption of the last subordinated debt issuance 
placed through CaixaBank’s branch network amongst the retail customers of EUR 1,505 
million in January 2017, neither Criteria nor “la Caixa” Banking Foundation have any 
funding from CaixaBank customers .   

On 26 September 2017, the Governing Council of the ECB confirmed the loss of control by Criteria over 
CaixaBank and adopted a decision –effective as of that date– whereby Criteria is no longer under its 
supervision, and the new responsible group is now the one headed by CaixaBank. 

The main advantages for Criteria of this decision by the ECB are as follows: : 

 Criteria Criteria is no longer considered a mixed financial holding company for the purposes of 
Regulation (EU) No 575/2013 and the entity responsible for a financial conglomerate, meaning it 
is no longer required to comply with the capital requirements set out in that regulation (including 
regulatory capital ratios such as CET1, Tier 1, Tier 2 and Total Capital), thus giving the Group a 
considerably less complex structure . 

 As the Single Resolution Board considers that the scope of resolution lies at the CaixaBank 
consolidated level, Criteria no longer has to commit the foundation’s assets in the event of a 
possible stress scenario at CaixaBank.  

 
Banking foundations are governed by Law 26/2013, on savings institutions and banking foundations, as 

subsequently modified by Royal Decree 877/2015 and Bank of Spain Circulars 6/2015 and 7/2016. 
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This law states that the Bank of Spain and the Ministry of the Economy are to supervise the various types 

of banking foundation, depending on the percentage of control they exercise over their respective 5 

financial institutions. The higher the percentage of ownership or control (whether direct or indirect) over 

the financial investees in question, the greater the regulatory requirements will be. 

 

As ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation does not control CaixaBank through Criteria, the Banking Foundation is 

now subject to somewhat less stringent regulatory requirements, which are limited to:  

 

Requirements Supervisor 

Annual Corporate Governance Report Ministry of the Economy and  

Competitiveness 

Requirement to draw up a protocol for managing the bank investee Bank of Spain  

Bank of Spain Requirement to draw up a basic financial plan 

 

2. WELFARE PROJECTS 

”la Caixa” Banking Foundation Strategic Plan 

2017 saw the consolidation of the new Strategic Plan implemented by ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation in 
2016 and which runs to 2019, i.e. the four year plan for 2016-2019. The measures carried out have met 
the plan's three main priorities: to maximise the impact and scope of  ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation 
activities,  strengthen the Group's image and guarantee efficiency and a social and corporate return on 
investment.   

Under the slogan "Changing the present. Building the future.", a series of priority programmatic, 
corporate and organisational initiatives were implemented in 2017 to help improve personal well-being, 
especially for those people who need it most, and contribute to the progress of society. All with a total 
budget of EUR 475.9 million. Therefore, EUR 279.7 million (59% of the budget) were allocated to social 
initiatives; EUR 121.3 million to culture and knowledge (25%); and EUR 74.9 million (16%) to research 
and quality training. 

 

In 2017, ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation shored up its commitment to becoming a benchmark for society, 
through three main objectives: offering basic solutions to cover basic human needs and thereby generate 
equal opportunities; responding to new challenges facing society in the future through quality training 
and research; and lastly, converting knowledge into a true transformational agent for people. 

In 2017, the banking foundation deployed its strategy in accordance with the lines set down in the 
Strategic Plan. The main items were as follows:  

 The focus on social projects, innovation and knowledge, as evidenced by the programmes 

developed during the year. 

 Giving priority to courses of action and scope of key social programmes: combating child poverty 

and promoting employment. Through its two large programmes: CaixaProinfancia and 

Incorpora, both of which have been running for a decade.   

 Increasing investment in research, boosting the training of young scientists, fostering cutting-

edge, innovative research and passing on the results to society at large.  
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 Maintaining the quality of cultural and scientific information, bolstering international alliances 

and the CaixaForum/CosmoCaixa network, in addition to a commitment to education.  

 Fomenting dialogue, debate and reflection to highlight existing or potential social problems, 

raising awareness among the population, through activities carried out at the Palau Macaya i 

Cap Roig.  

 Driving the ongoing improvement of efficiency, quality and talent through objective, in-depth 

and independent assessments of the impact of the programme, developing the human talent of 

”la Caixa” Banking Foundation. 

SOCIAL SPHERE 

”la Caixa” Banking Foundation is working towards a more inclusive and prosperous future for everyone. 
Year after year, it underscores its commitment to society, helping those most in need. Therefore, in 
2017, 59% of the budget was allocated to programmes aimed at wiping out poverty and protecting 
marginalised groups and those at risk of social exclusion, such as children from low-income families, 
the elderly and other people in a position of dependence, prisoners, immigrants that have not been 
able to integrate into society, young people at risk, the disabled or patients with advanced-stage 
diseases, and their families, among others. 

CaixaProinfancia celebrated its tenth anniversary in 2017-2018. In 2007, ”la Caixa” Foundation vowed to 
break the circle of inherited child poverty through education. Ten years later, the results of the 
programme show a substantial reduction in children leaving school early.  

CaixaProinfancia operates in 82 cities, and has the support of over 400 social entities. In 2017, 62,254 
children benefited from the programme (283,507 since 2007, when it started), in addition to 36,740 
families. 

The programme was extended to new regions during the year: Badajoz, Burgos, Córdoba, Granada, Jerez, 
El Ejido, Tudela and Valladolid. By 2019 it is expected to be active in all autonomous regions in Spain.   

CaixaProinfancia started work in 2007 in the ten most heavily populated regions in Spain. Specifically, in 
11 cities: Barcelona, Bilbao, Las Palmas de Gran Canaria, Málaga, Madrid, Murcia, Palma, Santa Cruz de 
Tenerife, Seville, Valencia and Zaragoza, in alphabetical order.  

To celebrate its tenth anniversary, the project organised a series of tributes in all these cities, under the 
leitmotif “What do you want to be when you grow up?" The Foundation also recognised the work of the 
283,507 children, that, under the CaixaProinfancia umbrella, have achieved significant educational 
improvements and hence, family development. 

Incorpora also celebrated its ten year anniversary in 2017. Aware that work dignifies man, and of the 
additional difficulties facing vulnerable groups when seeking a job in an ordinary company, in 2006 the 
Banking Foundation launched the Incorpora project in all autonomous regions of Spain. The results 
achieved in these ten years are myriad: a total of 168,137 people brought into the workplace (30,319 of 
these in 2017), and 47,887 contracting companies (10,826 in 2017).  

One of the keys to the programme's success lies in addressing the issue of social and labour market 
inclusion from an innovative, transversal and comprehensive perspective. The Incorpora "family" is 
formed by socially-responsible companies, long-term unemployed, women who are victims of domestic 
abuse, people with intellectual, physical or sensory disability, or mental illness, young people and 
immigrants. 

In 2017, the results of the new Incorpora self-employment programme included the creation of 1,061 
micro companies and 1,134 jobs. 46.85% of these entrepreneurs are women and 53.15% are men. A 
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new virtual platform was also set up, offering a variety of courses and resources for professionals in the 
area of labour market inclusion. 

In 2017, the Banking Foundation implemented the Incorpora programme in Tunisia to help people in a 
situation of vulnerability in that country. The programme also operates in Poland, Hungary and Morocco. 

Reincorpora has started 1,617 itineraries. This programme is designed for people nearing the end of their 
prison sentences in one hundred prisons across Spain. This initiative developed by ”la Caixa” Foundation 
in collaboration with Ministry of the Interior and the Department of Justice of the Government of 
Catalonia, has one key player: the "Reincorpora" technicians in the social entities taking part in the 
project. 

With the support of the European Social Fund, ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation rolled out two programmes 
to foster employment in 2017. First, thanks to new Youth Employment programme, 925 young people 
gained employment with the collaboration of 627 companies with accepted aid. Secondly, the ”la Caixa” 
More Jobs programme enabled 2,010 people at risk or in a situation of social exclusion to find work. 

The Intercultural Community Intervention programme received the Award for the Best Spanish 
Mediation project, conferred by the Asociación Madrileña de Mediadores. This programme was started 
in 2010 to encourage peaceful coexistence in plural and multicultural contexts and has been rolled out in 
37 regions. In total, 2,428 activities were organised, with 228,500 participants.   

The programme for the elderly implemented across Spain the “Live well, feel better” programme 
through 1,306 workshops and 16,676 users. To assess the impact on improving emotional well-being, a 
study was conducted among 500 elderly people. Notable benefits were reported in all cases.  

“la Caixa“ programmes for the elderly operate in 615 centres (63 own establishments and 552 external). 
The programme has 3,300 volunteers across Spain, and in 2017 helped 366 people suffering from 
loneliness. The total number of users for the whole offer was 821,532.  

In 2017, the “Get fit!” programme was also rolled out, a new initiative to promote active ageing  in all 
centres for the elderly in the foundation network. The project involves sixteen 90-minute sessions. Elderly 
people, professionals, monitors and centre heads contributed to the exclusive design of this new activity. 

The programme to provide Comprehensive care for people with advanced diseases attended  24,094 
patients in 2017, and helped 29,555 of their relatives. The programme has a total of 1,058 volunteers. 
Numerous initiatives were carried out this year. After a pilot run, the “End of life and loneliness” initiative 
was implemented in seven cities across Spain, and will be extended in the coming years. It is coordinated 
by non-for-profit institutions and has the support of the Institut Català d’Oncologia. 

Similarly, the Banking Foundation published a Manual for the psychological, social and spiritual care of 
people with advanced diseases. This is a unique publication in this area, as the previous version was 
published ten years ago and required review and upgrading.   

A pioneering alliance has also been forged with Francisco Luzón Foundation for the care of sufferers and 
research into ALS (amyotrophic lateral sclerosis). ALS affects around 4,000 people in Spain and over 900 
new cases are diagnosed each year. This degenerative neurological disease of unknown cause presents 
with the progressive loss of neurones, resulting in muscular atrophy. 

The programme for Comprehensive care for people with advanced diseases comprises 42 teams of 
professionals. The outcome is extremely satisfactory. Studies show that 94% of people experienced an 
improvement in their quality of life after receiving help from the psychological and social care team. 
Further, 90% of patients rated the care they received as excellent or very good. 
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The ”la Caixa” volunteers team enjoyed the collaboration of 16,321 people in 2017.  

10,498 were corporate volunteers (54% employees and 46% friends, family and customers). Over the 
year, 3,225 activities were organised and 87,000 volunteer hours invested. The number of beneficiaries 
totalled 182,173.     

On the celebration of its first anniversary, the ”la Caixa” volunteers association has established itself as 
one of the most active associations in Spain, with over 45% more volunteer activities rolled out 
compared to 2016. The association was formed in 2016 by ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation, CaixaBank 
and Esperanza Foundation.  

It supports the charitable causes of current and retired employees of ”la Caixa” Group, and their friends, 
families and customers, who set aside their free time to take part in events designed mainly to help groups 
that are vulnerable or at risk of social exclusion. Highlights include the financial education workshops to 
promote the social inclusion of people at risk and volunteer participation in the "Milk moustache for all 
kids" campaign, which collected 1.2 million litres of milk.  

The Programme of grants for social action projects selected 839 new proposals in 2017: 684 in the 
general calls and 155 in the regional calls. There were a total of 264,493 beneficiaries.  3,998 projects 
were assessed in the ten calls organised during the year.  

The foundation works with not-for-profit organisations across Spain with the aim of creating opportunities 
to improve the quality of life for those that most need it. This aid programme contributes to initiatives in 
six areas: child poverty, ageing, employment, housing, intercultural relations and disease.  

In the area of Housing, the Social Rent programme was renewed for a further three years. This 
programme has two lines: the Centralised Social Rent programme (with a total of 6,000 housing units 
delivered), which provides people that suffered a drop in income during the financial crisis with access to 
housing, and the Decentralised Social Rent programme (8,363 housing units delivered), to help people 
whose mortgages have been foreclosed and are in a position of vulnerability. 

Since it started, the Social Rent programme has delivered 4,000 apartments. 766 contracts were renewed 
in 2017.  

Esperanza Foundation, founded by the former “la Caixa” Foundation in 2013, is home to a social action 
centre that deeply and directly serves community needs, located in the heart of the Gothic district of 
Barcelona. It comprises a team of 74 technicians and volunteers. A total of 1,679 people were attended 
in 2017.  

The Foundation collaborates with over 70 similar and complementary institutions. Through Casa de 
Recés, it offers a home to women in situations of serious vulnerability aged between 18 and 35, without 
children and from anywhere in the world. It also helps infants, children and adolescents aged under 16 
living in poverty or social exclusion in the Ciutat Vella district of Barcelona.  

The Esperanza Foundation helped bring 310 into the workplace in 2017. Once of its greatest 
achievements is its own "+45 and over" programme. This is a pioneering service to help unemployed 
people aged over 45, who have a degree qualification and extensive professional experience, rejoin the 
work place. 

The International cooperation programme held its 20th anniversary in 2017, with more than 600 
projects developed to create opportunities and fight against inequality among vulnerable groups in 
countries in Africa, Asia and Latin America. The different projects are aligned with the United Nations' 
Sustainable Development Goals.  
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The International Cooperation programme carried out various initiatives this year. The Banking 
Foundation worked on the ProFuturo project as part of a strategic partnership with the Telefónica 
Foundation. This programme helps to close the educational and technological gap in countries in Africa, 
Latin America and South East Asia.  

The objective of the new Work 4 Progress programme is to create quality employment through integrated 
and innovative public/private platforms. The programme had 8,581 beneficiaries in 2017. It is aimed at 
consortiums that work in the branch network, formed by civil institutions, government players, the 
private sector and academia. It focuses on three countries: Peru, Mozambique and India.  

Improving healthcare in developing nations is one of the most efficient ways of combating poverty. ”la 
Caixa” Banking Foundation has strengthened its strategic partnerships in global healthcare with Gavi, 
the Vaccine Alliance, ISGlobal, UNICEF and the Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation.  

As a result of these initiatives, 2,447,808 children have been vaccinated since 2008, 120,000 children have 
benefited from the programme to prevent pneumonia, 70,000 people have benefited from the 
programme to combat malaria in Mozambique and 1,650 people have been helped by the emergency 
campaigns rolled out in Mexico.  

RESEARCH ACTIVITIES AND QUALITY TRAINING 

In 2017, ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation allocated 16% of its budget to research and quality training 
programmes. This meets the target set in its 2016-2019 Strategic Plan to develop research and 
innovation, ensuring that the progress achieved has a real and transformational impact on society, in 
addition to driving and developing talent and quality training. 

The ”la Caixa” scholarships programme celebrated two anniversaries in 2017: 35 years of scholarships 
and 25 years of the Scholarships Association. It has two objectives: to train future leaders and attract 
international talent to Spain. 4,544 scholarships have been awarded since 1982. Since that year, 
accumulated investment stands at EUR 218.6 million. Investment in scholarships in 2017 was EUR 17.9 
million. 197 post graduate scholarships were awarded last year.   

In 2017, the Banking Foundation launched the first call for post doctorate scholarships, Junior Leader ”la 
Caixa”, aimed at quality researchers of all nationalities wishing to continue their research career in Spain. 
The objective is to promote innovative, high quality research and support the best scientific talent. 

In 2017, the first scholarships were also awarded under the INPhINIT doctorate programme, co-financed 
by the European Commission through the MSCA-COFUND programme of Horizon2020. The aim is to 
attract young international researchers of all nationalities, wishing to study a doctorate in the fields of 
technology, engineering, physics, mathematics, and health and/or life sciences, to the finest research 
centres in Spain. 

The Banking Foundation also launched a call for its traditional international and domestic scholarships for 
post graduate studies in Europe, North America and Asia-Pacific, and for doctorate studies in Spanish 
universities and research centres. 

Research projects are a priority for ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation. Since 1985 it has invested EUR 177.3 
million in this area. This figure stood at EUR 35.1 million in 2017. Projects developed as part of the 
Research and Transfer programmes totalled 490.   

The main projects were: 

 The Down Alzheimer Barcelona Neuroimaging Initiative (DABNI), directed by the Neurology 
Department of Santa Creu i Sant Pau hospital, funding research involving 1,000 adults with Down 
syndrome, one of the largest studies ever made in the world.  
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 The HM CINAC Parkinson project to investigate the physiological keys to understanding the 
neuro degeneration process occurring in this disease. In conjunction with the Barcelona 
biomedical research institute (IRB) therapies are being developed based on regenerative 
medicine for diabetes and lung disease, among others. 

 Pioneering call to facilitate collaboration of Spanish centres with the Massachusetts Institute of 
Technology, MIT. Under the name MIT Spain, ”la Caixa” Foundation Seed Fund is the first call 
offering grants worth a maximum of $30,000 for each of the 12 projects selected. Research is 
focused on health, energy and the global economy. 

Additionally, the Banking Foundation launched a new call in Spain and Portugal for research projects in 
the area of health, for an investment of EUR 12 million, which will be finalised in 2018. The objective is 
to support quality projects in the fight against cardiovascular, neurological and infectious diseases and 
cancer. This makes the Banking Foundation the leading private entity in terms of the volume of 
investment in quality research in the area of health in Spain and Portugal, and one of the leading 
institutions in Europe. 

 

The objective of CaixaImpulse, developed by the Banking Foundation and Caixa Capital Risc, is to 
transfer to society the scientific knowledge deriving from research centres, universities and hospitals. It 
also aims to unlock the value of these pioneering initiatives and increase their international projection. 
The CaixaImpulse project was created in 2015 and has already allocated EUR 4.9 million to 58 initiatives.  

In 2017, CaixaImpulse selected 23 new biomedical research projects with the aim of facilitating their 
transfer to the market. As a result of this programme, four spin-offs were set up in the field of 
biotechnology. In addition, the European Commission approved the GENDER NET Plus project, in which 
the Banking Foundation participates with 16 institutions from 13 countries to promote gender equality in 
research. 

CULTURE AND KNOWLEDGE 

With 25% of the total budget in 2017, the Culture and Knowledge sharing area has brought science, art, 
music, theatre and humanities to all types of audiences, making it a tool of personal growth and social 
integration. The programme has been rolled out in the Banking Foundation's different centres, and in 
collaboration with various institutions and entities to benefit the Spanish public.  

The goal of the Exhibitions programme is to bring art masterpieces of all ages to the largest number of 
people possible, through quality exhibits, and offering a variety of complementary activities. This is 
achieved through the strategic partnerships with leading international cultural institutions, and the 
organisation of large exhibits.   

Extraordinary objects of medieval times and classical Greek masterpieces were shown at CaixaForum in 
Barcelona and Madrid, thanks to the agreement with the British Museum. Collaborations were also 
signed with large Spanish institutions such as the Prado Museum, Sorrolla Museum and the IVAM in 
Valencia. In addition to the Catalonian National Art Museum (MNAC) and Maricel museums in Sitges.  

In 2017, there were several large exhibits: "Andy Warhol. Mechanical art", organised with the Picasso 
Museum in Malaga; "The world of Giorgio de Chirico. Dream or reality", in collaboration with Fondazione 
Giorgio e Isa de Chirico; "Disney. The art of storytelling", in partnership with Walt Disney Animation 
Research Library; "Art and cinema. 120 years of exchange" and "Cinema and emotions. A journey to 
childhood", with Cinematheque Francaise. 

The CaixaForum network was also extended. There are now eight CaixaForum centres: Seville, Barcelona, 
Madrid, Palma, Zaragoza, Tarragona, Girona and Lleida.  
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CaixaForum Seville opened in 2017, with 8,100 m2 of new space for people and culture. Its two inaugural 

exhibitions were: "Look at me! Portraits and other fiction", featuring works from the ”la Caixa” 

Contemporary Art collection, and "Anglada Camarasa" also featuring resources of the Banking 

Foundation.  

2017: THE EIGHT CAIXAFORUM CENTRES IN FIGURES 

 

 Visitors School activities Most visited exhibition 

Seville 229,328 visitors 13,657 participants 60,628 visitors 
Anglada-Camarasa  
(3 March - 20 August 2017) 

Barcelona 784,140 visitors 76,280 participants 228,426 visitors 
Warhol. Mechanical art  
(13 September - 31 December 2017) 

Madrid 622,968 visitors 43,903 participants 137,922 visitors 
The pillars of Europe. British Museum  
(18 October 2016 - 5 February 2017) 

Palma 309,943 visitors 18,200 participants 40,780 visitors 
Ramón Casas. A much-yearned 
modernity.  
(5 July - 22 October 2017) 

Zaragoza 213,793 visitors 29,276 participants 58,314 visitors 
Goya and the illustrated court  
(27 September 2017 - 21 January 
2018) 

Girona 156,298 visitors 13,612 participants 
45,368 visitors 
Experiment 2100  
(4 April - 13 August 2017) 

Lleida 52,502 visitors 11,418 participants 16,483 visitors 
Mediterranean 
 (13 September 2016 - 5 March 2017) 

Tarragona 87,600 visitors 15,849 participants 27,246 visitors 
Mediterranean (5 April - 30 July 2017 

 

The ”la Caixa” Contemporary Art Collection had a notably international year. At the service of the public 
and with a universal focus, the exhibition travelled to Rome, Lisbon and Istanbul. It was also shown in 
Seville, Barcelona and Lleida. The Collection contains 1,001 works of great contemporary artists. A total 
of 24 institutions (10 international) requested 40 of these works on loan in 2017. 

The Music Programme organises concerts in cities all across Spain. Two large productions were also 
inaugurated this year: "¡Cantemos el cine!" and "That’s a Musical!". In 2017, the Banking Foundation ran 
364 school concerts, attended by 105,520 people; 140 family concerts, attended by 29,349 people; 95 
concerts in the eight CaixaForum venues, attended by 27,064 people, and 23 participatory concerts, 
attended by 32,592 people. 

The Banking Foundation started its participatory concerts with Handel's "Messiah"  in 1995, twenty two 
years ago, with the aim of making music available to all types of audiences. Since then, more than 50,000 
amateur singers have taken part in these auditions before an audience of almost half a million people. 
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Art for Change kicked off in 2007, and combines artistic creation with personal and social transformation 
while at the same time encouraging the participation of vulnerable groups in artistic initiatives of all 
disciplines to promote inclusion.  

During the last ten years, the programme has launched an annual initiative offering subsidies for artistic 
projects submitted by cultural institutions and artists that involve vulnerable groups or people from the 
same environment or neighbourhood. In 2017, 18 projects were selected and it is estimated that over 
2,000 people have benefited.  

CaixaEscena is also celebrating its tenth anniversary. This educational project offers support for teachers 
and educators using theatre as a means for the social, cultural and cognitive development of young 
people. It is an initiative that opens the classroom to emotions, imagination, shared effort and the 
discovery and acceptance of all capacities. 

The scientific outreach centre CosmoCaixa has welcomed over 10 million visitors since it opened in 2004. 
During this time, ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation's Science Museum has organised 39 expositions, in 
addition to 2,860 activities for all types of audiences.  

In 2017, it received 884,636 visitors, of which 188,362 were school children. This celebration coincided 
with two large exhibitions: "Talking Brains. Programmed to talk", a journey through the linguistic brain 
of humans; and "T. Rex", which, in its only visit to Spain, shows the extraordinary skeleton of Trix, the 
Tyrannosaurus rex, one of the best preserved dinosaurs in the world.  

The partial skeletons of three hominids of Miocene were also exhibited, in collaboration with Institut 
Català de Palentologia Miquel Crusafont (ICP).  

The travelling exhibitions programme is one of the Foundation's most visible and wide-ranging 
instruments in terms of public dissemination and awareness. Exhibits relate to the fields of culture, 
science, the environment and social issues. In 2017, 113 travelling exhibitions were organised in 95 
cities, attracting 2,601,084 visitors.  

The exhibition "Picasso. The journey to Guernica" was inaugurated in Gernika Lumo, and will visit all parts 
of Spain in the next few years. It is housed inside two mobile foldable units which together make an 
exhibition room of 200 square metres. It has the collaboration of the Reina Sofía National Arts Museum. 

"Sebastião Salgado. Genesis", showing 38 black and white photographs of the famous Brazilian 
photographer, has also started its tour of different parts of Spain, as part of the "Street art" programme 
organised by ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation.  

The "Creactivity" exhibition, which takes place in a bus, is also a new addition. This is an educational and 
interactive space designed by the EduCaixa programme. It is an exhibition aimed at primary and 
secondary school children, aged between 6 and 16, and families.   

EduCaixa is seeking to become a new transformational agent of the education system. This year, the 
programme reached out to 2,411,797 school children, from 8,385 centres of education and 1,835 
teachers. It has 800 online resources and organises an average of 15,000 workshops and activities every 
year.  

Aware that education needs a change, this year EduCaixa has made a transformational addition to its 
programme. The objective is to promote skills development among students, in addition to offering 
programmes and practices of demonstrated efficiency to the community.  

"Big Data. Data intelligence" is a pioneering project in Spain. It fosters the development of digital skills 
among secondary school, sixth form and university students. Offering tools to develop an active, critical 
and realistic attitude towards technology and online data.  
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EduCaixa also established two international partnerships this year. In this way, the Banking Foundation 
has aligned itself with the most innovative international institutions to promote changes in the 
educational system to meet the needs of the 21st century.  

Its international partners include Education Endowment Foundation (London, UK), Cooperative Learning 
Center (Minnesota, USA), Buck Institute for Education (Novato, California), Harvard University (USA), 
Center for Research and Reform in Education (Baltimore, USA) and SUMMA and Fundacion Chile (Chile). 

Additionally, the new EduCaixa supports teaching centres that wish to assess educational tools aimed at 
developing student skills and sharing best practices with the educational community. Registration through 
EduCaixa or directly on the website: www.revolucioneducativa.org. 

 

The methodology of Palau Macaya is based on social dialogue by giving voice to renowned international 
experts. The objective is to contribute to social, economic, political and environmental progress through 
reflection and sharing ideas. The centre welcomed a total of 50,812 users in 2017. 

Famous visitors this year included Joseph Stiglitz, Sami Naïr, Elif Shafek, Javier Martín Vide, Kate Pickett, 
Rob Wilson, Nilüfer Göle, Shlomo Ben Ami, Caterina Biscari, Inaki Gabilondo, Gabriel Zucman, Maria 
Jesus Herrera, Mark Leonard, Enrico Letta and Jo Leinen. 

The "Dialogues" are conferences co-organised with other institutions. This year, the collaborators were 
Catalunya Europa Foundation, Ernest Lluch Foundation, Joan Maragall Foundation, CIDOB, the Centre 
for International Studies, the Catalan Sociology Association and TV3, among others. 

The "Reflections" programme is longer and organised under the scientific oversight of a benchmark 
institution. This year, debate centred on "The working future of vulnerable people", carried out by the 
Banking Foundation's Incorpora programme under the supervision of the Avedis Donabedian University 
Institute. 

Under the title "Human development and sustainability", the centre's new call for projects is aimed at 
not-for-profit organisations, companies and cooperatives in the social sector, universities and research 
centres, and public administrations. Palau Macaya has also welcomed the European School of 
Humanities, a reference in intellectual debate on philosophy, history and literature. In 2017, the School 
ran six programmes, attended by 3,776 people.  

Cap Roig is preparing an auditorium to hold the Economy and social challenges sessions. The first 
introductory session, I Encuentro, was held in March 2017 in the Suro Museum in Palafrugell. This annual 
event addresses the unrest in our societies today, in addition to the challenges caused by far-reaching 
technological changes and business openings. 

The Cap Roig gardens have obtained environmental sustainability, economic and cultural Biosphere 
certification, complying with United Nations requirements.  

Under the theme "The thousand faces of Cap Roig gardens", for the first time, the park is organising 
guided tours of its 17 hectares for schools and families. The park is one of the most important natural 
spaces in the whole Mediterranean area. 

The ”la Caixa” Social Observatory is a strategic platform dedicated to analysing social trends and future 
challenges. In 2017, its online platform received a total of 178,281 visits, with 272,081 pages seen. It 
makes dossiers, articles, indicators, data, interviews, book notes and good practice manuals available in 
the public domain in a way that is didactic, accessible and appealing.  

The Observatory published two dossiers in 2017: "Youth unemployment and poverty: a structural 
problem?" and "Research and innovation: what are we risking?" It also prepared a third on cultural 
engagement and well-being, the results of which will be published in 2018. 

http://www.revolucioneducativa.org/
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Decentralised welfare projects carried out in 2017 featured 12,679 collaborations across the country. 
This extends the Banking Foundation's network of social initiatives to all towns in Spain.  

Funds allocated to programmed activities in 2017 totalled EUR 47.7 million. Moreover, 760,740 people 
benefited from these initiatives. ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation is also expanding in Spain through 
collaboration agreements with the foundations of Caja de Burgos, Caja Navarra, CajaCanarias and 
Cajasol.  

Welfare Projects in Portugal undertook various social initiatives in 2017. The Foundation started to 
implement these projects through the Incorpora programme, dedicated to the insertion of people with 
difficulties entering the job market. And also through programmes such as Comprehensive care for 
people with advanced diseases. 

Always aware of human needs, this collaboration has already given support to the victims of the deadly 
wild fires in Portugal in 2017, as part of the agreement between ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation and BPI. 
The Foundation allocated EUR 3 million, through a protocol signed with various organisations, such as 
Fondo Revita, to provide aid for victims of the fire that devastated Pedrógão Grande. 

At the same time, CaixaImpluse launched a new call for biomedical research projects in Portugal.  

In accordance with the criteria for disseminating culture and science, ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation has 
collaborated on several large exhibitions in Portugal in 2017, such as "Madonna. Treasures of the Vatican 
Museum", the exhibition in the National Museum of Ancient Art (Lisbon) showing works from the famous 
art collections housed in the Vatican Museums by artists such as Fra Angelico and Rafael. 

In 2017, the Serralves Foundation exhibited "Joan Miró: Materiality and metamorphosis", an 
unprecedented exhibition of the work of the Catalonian creative artist. As part of Lisbon's role as 
IberoAmerican Capital of Culture 2017, the Galeria do Torreão Nascente da Cordoaria Nacional in Lisbon 
showed "Turbulence", an exhibit featuring nearly 40 works from the ”la Caixa” Contemporary Art 
Collection. 
 

3. BUSINESS PERFORMANCE AND RESULTS   

3.1. Description of the investment portfolio and Net Asset Value 

This section discusses the key financial figures, relating mainly to investment and debt under Criteria’s 

management perimeter defined in the Appendix - Glossary of financial information. 

Criteria’s gross asset value (GAV), net debt and net asset value (NAV) at 31 December 2017 and 2016 were 

as follows:  

Millions of euros 31/12/2017 31/12/2016 Change 

Gross Asset Value (GAV)  24,027 21,822 10.1% 

... of which, listed assets 20,852 18,608 12.1% 

% of listed assets/GAV 86.8% 85.3% 1.5pp 

Net debt (5,692) (6,909) -17.6% 

Net Asset Value (NAV)  18,335 14,913 23.0% 

Net debt to GAV (LTV) (1) 23.7% 31.7% -8.0pp 

(1) LTV: Loan to value or leverage ratio  
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Breakdown and trend in GAV: 

At 31 December 2017, the banking portfolio accounted for 49% of GAV. This portfolio comprises 
CaixaBank, Grupo Financiero Inbursa and the Bank of East Asia. Meanwhile, 39% of GAV is invested in 
companies belonging to strategic sectors, such as energy, infrastructure and services, and the remaining 
12% is invested in the real estate business. 

The portfolio is highly liquid and with a strong credit profile, given that listed companies account for 
86.8% of the portfolio with an average credit rating of BBB. 

 

 
1 Relates to: Saba, Vithas Sanidad, Aigües de Barcelona (-/Baa2/-) and Caixa Capital Risc.  
2 Ratings relate to Banco Inbursa. 

Note: Ratings follow this order: Fitch/Moody’s/S&P  

 

The main changes in GAV in 2017 were as follows:  

Sale of CaixaBank shares 

As part of the ongoing prudential deconsolidation process of CaixaBank, on 6 February 2017 Criteria 
successfully sold a package of 318,305,355 CaixaBank shares on the market, representing approximately 
5.32% of CaixaBank’s share capital. The sale was carried out through an accelerated bookbuild process. 
Proceeds from the sale amounted to EUR 1,069 million, equivalent to a price of EUR 3.36 per share. 

  



 

“la Caixa” Banking Foundation Group –  Management Report 2017 - 16 - 

Sale of Abertis shares 

In 2017, Criteria sold 90,038 shares in Abertis directly to investors (0,009% of its share capital) in exchange 

for EUR 1,674 thousand. Meanwhile, Inversiones Autopistas, SL, at which Criteria holds a 55.54% stake, 

sold 9,725,052 Abertis shares to investors, representing 0,982% of its share capital, for EUR 181,028 

thousand.  

At 31 December 2017, the Criteria Group’s dividend rights at Abertis amounted to 18.44% (15.07% held 

directly by Criteria and the rest held indirectly through Inversiones Autopistas, S.A.), while the corporate 

stake at Abertis came to 21.14% (includes the stake of 6.07% held through Inversiones Autopistas, S.A.). 

The stake conferring voting rights totalled 21.55%, including the shareholder agreements with the other 

owners of Inversiones Autopistas SA.  

Purchase of Telefónica shares 

In December, Criteria acquired through open market transactions a total of 6,809,000 shares in Telefónica, 

representing roughly 0.13% of its share capital. The total invested amount came to EUR 59 million, at an 

average purchase price of EUR 8.20 per share. 

Change in value 

Most of the companies included in Criteria’s investment portfolio performed well in 2017 and so did 

benchmark indexes, such as the blue-chip IBEX 35, which was up 7.4% in the year. Particular highlights 

here included the shares of CaixaBank (+23.9%), Gas Natural (+7.5%), Abertis (+39.5%), Suez (+4.6%) and 

Cellnex (+56.2%). Conversely, the share price in euros of The Bank of East Asia and Grupo Financiero 

Inbursa shed 0.6% and 5.0%, respectively.  

 

Breakdown and trend in gross and net debt  
 
Criteria completed the following steps in 2017 in a bid to lower finance costs, extend the average maturity 
of its debt and, in particular, meet the intragroup financing requirements with CaixaBank prescribed by 
the ECB in order to achieve the prudential deconsolidation : 
 

 January 2017: redemption of the last outstanding issuance of retail subordinated debt worth EUR 
1,505 million bearing a 7.5% coupon. 

 
 February 2017: prepayment of a EUR 550 million loan with CaixaBank. That same month, Criteria 

successfully arranged new bank financing without collateral totalling EUR 695 million and 
maturing between 2020 and 2022. .  

 
 May 2017: issuance of unsecured senior bonds for the total nominal sum of EUR 750 million. The 

bonds mature in 2023 and bear a fixed coupon of 1.50%. The proceeds have been mostly used 
to carry out the partial and full early repayment of certain bilateral loans totalling EUR 625 million 
and maturing between 2019 and 2021 .  

 
 Criteria also successfully renegotiated the financial terms of EUR 1,050 million in bilateral loans 

by managing to extend the term and reduce the spread. 
 

 November 2017: redemption in cash of EUR 750 million CaixaBank exchangeable bond bearing a 
fixed coupon of 1%. . 
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All this has led to: 

 A still high proportion of debt instruments bearing fixed coupon or with fixed interest rate swap 

agreements in place (78% 1 of gross debt at 31/12/2017 vs. 81% at 31/12/2016). 
 

 A larger pool of banks that now lend to Criteria. Excluding CaixaBank, this pool now comprises 
17 financial institutions (seven Spanish and 10 foreign), in comparison with the 13 institutions at 
year-end 2016. . 
 

 An ongoing smoothening of the maturity profile and lengthening of the average life of debt. 

Changes in gross and net debt during 2017 were as follows: 

  

This structure shows Criteria’s extensive refinancing capacity (recurring access to the capital markets and 
bank credit facilities), as well as the flexibility in managing its maturity profile given that loans with third 
parties can be prepaid at any time should Criteria so desire. It should also be noted that the total bilateral 
loans maturing in 2019 and 2020 include loans of EUR 575 million that can be extended by one or more 
years.  

In 2017, Criteria cancelled ahead of its maturity an undrawn committed credit line arranged with 
CaixaBank and maturing in January 2018. This facility was replaced with four new undrawn committed 

                                                 
1  95.7% factoring in the fixed interest rate swap agreements not specifically assigned to any debt instrument.
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credit lines totalling EUR 375 million and extended by three Spanish financial institutions and one from 
the wider euro area.  
The initial maturity date for all these committed credit lines is 2020, and two of them include the option 

to extend to 2021, for an amount of EUR 150 million. These undrawn committed credit lines, together 

with the available cash and a highly liquid portfolio of listed companies, mean that Criteria would be able 

to resist a liquidity crunch scenario while honouring 2018 maturities. 

Gross debt maturity profile at 31 December 2017 (in millions of euros): 

 

Note: in building this maturity profile, it has been assumed that EUR 114 million in debt with CaixaBank 
will mature before 27 September 2018 upon meeting the requirements prescribed for prudential 
deconsolidation and despite the fact that the contractual maturity is longer.  

LTV evolution: 

The following chart shows the past performance of both net debt (in millions of euros) and the debt or 

LTV ratio, defined as Net Debt/GAV (in millions of euros).  

 

This chart shows the decrease in leverage and how the LTV ratio is a key metric to manage it. 
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3.2. Business results  

“la Caixa” Group’s consolidated income statement: 

 

 

Banking portfolio results 

The results of the banking portfolio, which include the attributable earnings from CaixaBank, The Bank of 
East Asia (BEA) and Grupo Financiero Inbursa (GFI), were up EUR 334 million in the period to EUR 972 
million (+52% on 2016). 

CaixaBank 

CaixaBank earnings attributable to Criteria amounted to EUR 685 million (+21% on the EUR 565 million 
reported in 2016). This improvement was mainly down to: 

 CaixaBank’s net consolidated earnings in 2017 amounted to EUR 1,684 million (+61% on the EUR 
1,047 million reported in 2016). 
 

 The average percentage of CaixaBank earnings attributable to Criteria fell from 53% in 2016 to 
40% in 2017, largely as a result of:: 
 

o the accelerated bookbuilds of CaixaBank shares offered to the market in the last two 
years (1.67% in December 2016 and 5.32% in February 2017); and 
 

o the asset swap agreement with CaixaBank completed in May 2016, whereby 9.89% of 
the Bank’s share capital was delivered to CaixaBank.  

 

 In 2017, Criteria’s loss of control over CaixaBank (see Note 1 of the attached consolidated annual 
report) resulted in booking both a revaluation of EUR 54 million after the remaining stake in 
CaixaBank was valued at fair value and a EUR 6 million negative goodwill following the Purchase 
Price Allocation (PPA) for a total sum of EUR 60 million. Meanwhile, the amortisation of the 
intangible assets identified following this PPA process for 2017 amounted to EUR -44 million (see 
Note 8 of the attached consolidated annual report). 
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The completion, in February, of the takeover of BPI, whereby CaixaBank reached 84.5% stake in the 
Portuguese bank is one of the key highlights of 2017 evolution. The deal has added EUR 176 million to the 
income statement and EUR 58,000 million in business volume; representing 10% of the Bank’s balance 
sheet. 

Following the improvements seen in the Spanish economy, CaixaBank has been countering the financial 
deleveraging by individuals and real estate developer risk by stepping up its commercial efforts, focusing 
on the consumer loan and business lending segments and shifting its product mix towards sectors that 
promise higher returns. On the borrowing side, the Bank is becoming increasingly reliant on financial 
disintermediation, with significant growth in insurance contracts and mutual funds.  

CaixaBank remains a leader in both online bank and mobile banking, having secured 55% of all digital 
customers. It has also received various international awards and accolades, making it an international 
benchmark for innovation: “Best Artificial Intelligence Project” (The Banker), Model Bank of 2017 
(CELENT) and “Best Digital Bank in Spain” (Global Finance), among others. 

Highlights here include the ongoing efforts to market and sell foreclosed assets, with proceeds in 2017 
totalling EUR 1,600 million. This has allowed the Bank to continue reducing its exposure to unproductive 
assets. Further reducing its real estate exposure and NPL ratios remains a key strategic priority for the 
Bank. 

In Portugal, economic growth surpassed the 2.5% mark, driven by private consumption and investment. 
Both business volume and profits at BPI have been increasingly sharply following its acquisition by 
CaixaBank in early 2017. A further highlight was the Synergies Plan, which was successfully completed in 
2017 after identifying and implementing the steps needed to generate synergies of EUR 120 million from 
2020 onward. 

CaixaBank has made further progress towards its strategic objectives of Profitability –on the back of strong 
income, cost containment and improvements in credit quality– and Trust, having become the leading 
institution when it comes to retail banking in Spain, with market penetration of 30%. 

The Bank of East Asia (BEA) 

BEA earnings attributable to Criteria in 2017 amounted to EUR 187 million (EUR 35 million in 2016). This 
improvement was mainly down to:   

 In 2016 Criteria reported only eight months of net earnings from BEA, since the asset swap 
agreement was completed in May.  
 

 El Consolidated net profit at BEA came to 9,347 million Hong Kong dollars (HKD) in 2017, 
equivalent to EUR 1,062 million (+151% versus HKD 3,723 million in 2016, equivalent to EUR 372 
million), including the capital gains of HKD 3,000 million obtained from the sale of Tricor. 
Excluding this capital gain, recurring earnings were up 80%. 
 

 The 2.4% depreciation of the HKD/EUR exchange rate in 2017: average HKD/EUR rate of 8.80 in 
2017 versus HKD/EUR of 8.59 in 2016.  

The growth in recurring earnings in 2017 was largely down to the economic upturn seen across Hong Kong 
and China, where BEA has managed to expand its loan portfolio in 2017, while maintaining a prudent 
selection of high quality assets, improving the cost of risk and strengthening the consumer finance 
business, particularly in China. 

BEA has also launched new mobile apps, online services and custom solutions for the personal and private 
banking segments. In Hong Kong, the payments platform recently developed by BEA confirms its 
leadership in digital payments. Meanwhile in China, its strategic alliances with WeBank (leading online 
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bank associated with Tencent) and Ctrip (online travel agency) provide an ideal platform from which to 
strengthen various business lines (consumer finance, wealth management, interbank lending, etc.) by 
harnessing an extensive customer base. 

In addition, thanks to its 2016-2018 Streamlining Plan, BEA has also managed to make major 
improvements to its operational efficiency. Group-wide, 22 branches were closed during the year to bring 
the total to 195 at year-end 2017. 

Grupo Financiero Inbursa (GFI) 

GFI earnings attributable to Criteria in 2017 amounted to EUR 100 million (EUR 38 million in 2016). This 
improvement was mainly down to:  

 In 2016 Criteria reported only eight months of net earnings from GFI, since the asset swap 
agreement was completed in May.  
 

 Consolidated net earnings at GFI came to 19,985 million Mexican pesos (MXN) in 2017, 
equivalent to EUR 937 million (+60.8% on the MXN 12,432 million reported in 2016, equivalent 
to EUR 602 million), including the capital gain of MXN 4,650 million obtained from the sale of 
most of its stake (8.25%) in GMéxico Transportes, S.A.B., de C.V. Excluding this capital gain, 
recurring earnings were up 23.4%. 
 

 The 3.1% depreciation of the MXN/EUR exchange rate in 2017: average MXN/EUR rate of 21.33 
in 2017 versus MXN/EUR of 20.67 in 2016. 

The improvement in recurring earnings in 2017 came against a backdrop of economic uncertainty in 
Mexico, where GFI focused its efforts on unlocking the value of its strategic alliance with Walmart and 
speeding up implementation of its retail banking strategy by offering a more appealing range of products 
and enhanced levels of service. It is now focusing heavily on lending to the retail segment (especially 
consumer finance) and on capturing retail deposits, allowing the bank to further diversify its sources of 
funding and reduce its reliance on wholesale borrowing (retail funds already account for 49% of the total, 
compared with 40% in 2016). 

While the increased exposure to the retail segment and the incorporation of the Walmart network has 
inevitably pushed up operating costs, GFI continues to boast excellent levels of efficiency and solvency 
that positions the bank as of the leading groups operating in the Mexican market. 

Although the change in the lending mix has entailed a similar change in the bank’s risk profile, this remains 
well within the parameters of the Mexican banking sector thanks to the default control policies pursued 
by GFI. 

 

Industrial and services portfolio results 

Earnings from the industrial and services portfolio, which include attributable earnings from the stakes 
held in Gas Natural, Abertis and Saba Infraestructuras, as well as the dividends from Suez and Cellnex 
Telecom, amounted to EUR 543 million in the period, down EUR 82 million (-13.1%) on 2016. 
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Gas Natural 

Earnings at Gas Natural attributable to Criteria in 2017 amounted to EUR 333 million (-19.6% on the EUR 
414 million reported in 2016). This change was mainly down to: 

 Net earnings at Gas Natural in 2017 came to EUR 1,360 million (+1.0% on the EUR 1,347 million 
reported in 2016). 
 

 The average percentage of share of profit from Gas Natural attributable to Criteria fell from 
30.80% in 2016 to 24.44% in 2017, following the sale of 10% of the share capital of Gas Natural 
in September 2016.  

The improvement in net profit at Gas Natural in 2017 was down to the healthy performance of the grids 
and international generation businesses, which, together with the capital gains obtained from the sale of 
the gas distribution business in Colombia, offset the drop in earnings from the electrical power generation 
and trading business in Spain due to an unseasonably dry year, which had the effect of pushing up energy 
prices that could not then be passed on to the end customer. 

On the operational side, Gas Natural was awarded 0.9 GW of renewable power generation at two auctions 
held in Spain and the company also commissioned its first photovoltaic power facility in Brazil, which has 
an installed capacity of 68 MW. 

Meanwhile, and as part of its asset management policy, Gas Natural reached a number of agreements to 
sell off certain assets. These deals, which will be completed over the course of 2018, are as follows: (i) 
sale of 20% of the gas distribution business in Spain; (ii) sale of its 59% interest in the gas distribution 
business in Colombia (the transaction is structured into two stages, the first of which was already 
completed in 2017, generating EUR 350 million in capital gains); and (iii) sale of 100% of its business in 
Italy (gas distribution and sales), which is expected to yield some EUR 190 million in capital gains. 

The Group has also continued to streamline its debt structure, with the average cost of debt falling to 
3.5% (-80 bp on 2016). Gas Natural has managed this improvement through various debt issues arranged 
under highly favourable conditions, including an inaugural issue of green bonds for EUR 800 million, which 
will be used to fund renewable energy projects (paying a coupon of 0,875% at 7.5 years. 
 
Abertis 

Earnings at Abertis attributable to Criteria in 2017 amounted to EUR 182 million (-13.4% on the EUR 161 
million reported in 2016). This change was mainly down to: 

 Net earnings at Abertis in 2017 came to EUR 897 million (+12.7% on the EUR 796 million reported 
in 2016). 
 

 The average percentage of Abertis earnings attributable to Criteria fell from 20.25% in 2016 to 
20.21% in 2017 following the sales of shares completed in the fourth quarter of 2017. 
 

En In 2017, Abertis focused its efforts on consolidating its position at companies at which it already held 
a stake, with highlights here including the acquisition of minority shareholdings at Hit (France), to bring 
its stake to 100%, and at A4 to reach 83.56%. Further highlights included the acquisition of two motorways 
in India, enabling Abertis to penetrate the country; the new contract at Brasil Via Paulista (a further 403 
kilometres) and the agreements reached to extend the term of the concession at GCO and Ausol (both 
concessionaire companies in Argentina). In total, Abertis invested upwards of EUR 3,500 million in 2017. 

 
In 2017, Abertis successfully consolidated its business growth in Spain, France, Italy and Chile. The period 
also saw recovering levels of business in Brazil following the significant drop in traffic volumes in 2016 and 
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2015, and improvements in the company’s key figures following changes in the group structure 
(integration of the business in Italy in September 2016 and India in March 2017). Meanwhile, the company 
is continuing to make efforts to control its operating costs and investments, having surpassed the targets 
envisaged in the 2015-2017 Strategic Plan. Also of note is the fact that at year-end 2017 Abertis had 
Hispasat operations and assets recognised as discontinued activity since it intends to sell the company in 
the coming months. 

Finalmente señalar la positiva evolución del resultado respecto el ejercicio anterior, que está afectada, 
principalmente, por el impacto de la compra de participaciones minoritarias de Hit y la mejora del 
resultado recurrente, compensando el resultado no recurrente registrado en 2016 por la adquisición del 
50% restante del activo Autopista Central y la revalorización de la participación anterior. 
 
A further highlight entirely unrelated to the company’s management took place on 15 May 2017, when 
Italian company Atlantia, S.p.A. (Atlantia) announced its intention to launch a takeover bid to acquire all 
the shares in Abertis. The prospectus was authorised on 9 October, although the acceptance period for 
the bid was suspended until 18 October 2017, whereupon German company Hochtief Aktiengesellschaft 
(Hochtief) presented a competing bid also to acquire 100% of the shares in Abertis. 
 

Management of real estate assets 

The management of the Group’s real estate assets was insourced in 2017 through wholly-owned 
subsidiary Inmo CriteriaCaixa, S.A.U. (InmoCriteria), which has an experienced team of professionals and 
proprietary information systems designed to provide end-to-end support for the entire real estate 
management process. The insourcing of the management process will enable the company to accomplish 
the targets it has set itself, by gaining strategic flexibility to ensure that its exposure to the real estate 
sector is better suited to Criteria’s general strategy. 

At 31 December 2017, the Group had a real estate portfolio with a net book value of EUR 2,813 million, 
which is divided into the following asset types: 

Rental assets: 

 Portfolio comprising EUR 1,162 million in assets, representing 41.3% of total assets, of which: 
 

o 52% are used for the Affordable Housing Programme (Vivienda Asequible) programme 
and the goal is to continue obtaining positive yields. 
 

o 43% are considered strategic assets, where the strategy is to improve the long-term 
return. 
 

o 5% of the portfolio is to be sold once the existing rental and lease agreements expire 
and targeting to maximize sale value. 
 

 Occupancy remained at 86% in the year, with a gross return of 4.4% and a delinquency ratio of 
below 5%. 
 

Land: 

 Portfolio comprising EUR 1,146 million in assets, representing 40.7% of total assets, of which. 
 

o 63% is considered strategic and the plan is to develop these assets in the long run, or 
sell them in the mid-term as and when business opportunities arise. Highlights here 
include: 
 



 

“la Caixa” Banking Foundation Group –  Management Report 2017 - 24 - 

a) El The commencement of nine residential property developments on 
companyowned plots of land across the country, including Madrid, Barcelona and 
Sant Cugat del Vallès, which will help to generate added value. 

b) The Mediterránea Beach & Golf Community urban zoning project, which lies next 
to the Port Aventura World resort. Based on the current use of this land under the 
approved Urban Zoning Master Plan, approximately 2,350 housing units, 150,000 
m2 of commercial/hotel space, 95,000m2 of hotel space and an integrated tourist 
centre spanning 745,000 m2 can be built on the plot, in addition to the three 
existing golf courses and breach club already up and running.  
 

o 37% is to be sold and the goal is to maximise the sale price in the short/mid-term. 

Assets for sale: 

 Portfolio comprising EUR 505 million in assets, representing 18.0% of total assets.  
 

 These assets are considered non-strategic and the aim is to maximise the selling price.  

At 31 December 2017, the main provinces in which most of the Group’s real estate assets were located 
were Barcelona (21%), Madrid (16%) and Tarragona (14%).  

Virtually all real estate assets (98% of the net book value) were appraised in 2017 by approved valuation 
companies and the total value appraised was shown to exceed the net book value of the assets.  

Sales in 2017 amounted to EUR 81 million (EUR 95 million in 2016), giving a gross income to sales ratio of 
23% (13% in 2016), while rentals and other income contributed a total of EUR 50 million, as in the previous 
21 year. After deducting selling and marketing costs, overheads, depreciation and changes in real estate 
impairment provisions, the result was a net EUR 14 million (EUR -272 million in 2016). The improvement 
seen in the results of the real estate business is largely down to the reduction in net impairment losses, 
following various years of significant write-downs. 

The reduction in net impairment losses is mainly explained by the following factors:  

 Improvement on the management of the real estate portfolio: Thanks to the internalization of 
the management of real estate assets to InmoCriteria, a thorough segmentation study of the 
portfolio has been carried out and individual action plans for each segment have been defined. 
As a result of these initiatives, the internal valuation model has been improved. Such model, 
estimates and applies haircuts on appraisals by independent experts based on: the sales 
experience of the current Group (does not longer consider CaixaBank as a result of the loss of 
control) of the last 24 months vs the appraised value, commercialization costs, and future 
evolution of rentals from certain assets.  
 

 Spanish real estate market conditions improvement  

Cash flows from the real estate business, net of CAPEX, amounted to EUR 43 million in 2017 (EUR 26 

million in 2016)2.  

Financial result  

The Group successfully lowered its financial expenses by EUR 104 million to bring them to EUR 153 million 
in 2017, as a result of the combination of the following factors:  

                                                 
2 Cash flows do not include any payment linked to the indemnity paid to ServiHabitat Servicios Inmobiliarios (SSI) following termination of the 

servicing contract signed on 4 January 2017. 
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 Reduction in average gross debt, which fell from EUR 9,030 million in 2016 to EUR 7,058 million 
in 2017. This improvement was largely down to the proceeds obtained from divestments. 
 

 Improvement of 0.7 pp in the average cost of debt to reach 2.2% in 2017 (average of 2.9% in 
2016), largely in response to:  
 

o Redemption on maturity in January 2017 of subordinated debt totalling EUR 1,505 
million (paying a coupon of 7.5%).   
 

o Active management of borrowing activity: (i) securing financing under more favourable 
terms and conditions and successfully replacing bank loans subject to higher costs and 
shorter repayment terms; and (ii) renegotiating financial conditions of bilateral loans by 
extending repayment periods and optimising spreads.  
 

The heading also includes gains/(losses) on sales and others in 2017, which were mainly as follows:  

 Proceeds on the sale of Abertis shares, representing approximately 0.55% of its share capital. 
These transactions generated a gain of EUR 77 million. 

 Change in the market value of the existing interest rate swap agreements, contributed a positive 
EUR 20 million to earnings. 

 The variation of EUR -132 million due to the tax impact in the Criteria Group deriving from the 
significant improvement in earnings from the real estate business, along with the positive 

performance of the interest rate swap agreements. 

 

In 2016, this heading mainly included the consolidated capital gains on the sale of shares representing 
10% of the share capital of Gas Natural, which amounted to EUR 215 million. This positive impact was 
partially offset by the valuation and losses on cancellation of financial swap agreements (EUR -62 million 
euros in total). 

 

4. RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES 

 Risk management 

The main risks affecting “la Caixa” Group are (see Note 4 to the accompanying financial statements): 

 Risk associated with management of the Group's business assets through Criteria, composed of 
interests in strategic sectors such as banking, energy, infrastructure, services and real estate. 

Criteria, as the Group's investment holding company, manages the risks derived from its 
financial activity and risks that could affect the continuity of its business; the former include: 
credit risk, asset impairment, interest rate risk in the banking book, liquidity risk, market risk, 
risk affecting business profitability and risk affecting the regulatory capital position.  

 Non-financial risks feature regulatory compliance, reliability of financial information and 
legal/regulatory risk. 

 Reputational risk deriving from the public recognition and that of the main stakeholders relating 
to the development of its social initiatives. 
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Welfare Projects 

The main risks faced by “la Caixa” Group through its welfare projects are as follows: 

 Reputational risk in its management of social activities:  

 General strategy for the management of social activities 

 Management of activities carried out and application of the annual budget 

 Selection process to carry out activities and programmes 

 Capital position. Capital adequacy and availability of highly liquid assets to address the possible 
capital requirements of investees. 

 Operational risk.  Monitoring and control of the activities and programmes carried out and of 
their quality, particularly the subcontracting policy governing accords and agreements signed up 
to deploy welfare project activities and programmes, and adequacy of the IT applications and 
platforms used for the purposes of management and activities (integrity, confidentiality and 
availability). 

 Regulatory compliance risk. Compliance with the legal requisites to which the “la Caixa” Banking 
Foundation is subject, particularly its corporate governance obligations, the existence of a 
regulatory and control mechanism to define responsibilities in the various divisions of the 
organisation, and compliance with prevailing legislation in signing accords and agreements. 

 

Control environment 

Economic management is one of the major aspects for the “la Caixa” Banking Foundation, in view of its 
commitment to transparency with stakeholders. The organisation strives at all times to optimise economic 
resources, and effectively manage and direct its activities, supported mainly by: 

 An organisational model based on decentralised planning and budget execution in each area of 
activity, but supervised and managed at global level by the Finance and Management Control 
area through a corporate information and budget management system overseen by that area. 

 The application of objective procedures in the selection of suppliers and partners using standard, 
regulated procedures that are subsequently ratified by the Contracting Committee. 

Another key aspect for the “la Caixa” Banking Foundation is regulatory and budgetary compliance, and an 
organisational structure is therefore in place based on a regulatory environment and control by a number 
of areas specialising in the various aspects of internal control. 

Major projects run by the “la Caixa” welfare projects section are regularly subjected to reviews of 
procedures and budget compliance by external auditors and consultants, and by the internal audit 
function, which is responsible for reporting to the Audit Committee in relation to the functioning of the 
“la Caixa” Group's internal control systems. 

 

Management of the Group's business assets through Criteria 

Following Criteria's loss of control over CaixaBank, as a result of which Criteria is no longer supervised by 
the ECB, Criteria launched a review of its Corporate Risk Management model (CRM) in order to bring it 
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into line with the standards required of an investment holding company rather than those required of a 
parent of a banking group. 

In January 2018, Criteria's Board of Directors approved the GRM policy, which provides a framework for 
the establishment of the CRM model for the Criteria Group, including Criteria and the companies under 
its direct management which it fully owns.  
 
The Model establishes four categories of risk, which could affect the Criteria Group achieving its targets if 
they materialise: 
 
 Strategic: risks associated with the achievement of corporate targets. 

 
 Financial: risks associated with the main financial variables. There are seven subcategories. 

 Liquidity: the risk of insufficient liquid assets to meet the contractual maturities of 
liabilities, regulatory requirements or business needs. 

 Credit: the possibility of potential losses arising from a counterparty not meeting its 
payment obligations. 

 Impairment of the equity portfolio: possible loss or impairment to the economic 
profitability of the Group's business activities. 

 Impairment of real estate assets: possible impairment of real estate assets. 

 Impairment of other assets: possible impairment of Group assets that are not holdings 
or real estate assets. 

 Market: the possibility that the value of a financial instrument may vary as a result of 
changes in the prices of shares, interest rates or foreign exchange rates. 

 Reliability of financial reporting: the possibility that the integrity, reliability and quality 
of financial information may be affected. 

 Operational: risk of loss arising from mistakes or inadequate management of internal 
processes, people, systems, the use of assets or operating infrastructure. 

 Legal / compliance: risk relating to compliance with laws, regulation or market 
standards in the areas where the Group operates, in addition to compliance with 
internal policies. 

 
 
Control environment 
 
To work correctly, the GRM Model uses a methodological approach based on the three lines of defence 
model, in which different levels of activity are defined to ensure that risks are managed and monitored 
efficiently: 
 

 First line of defence. Group areas / Business lines  
 Second line of defence. It comprises the following functions: 

a. Internal control 
b. Internal Control over Financial Reporting 
c. Regulatory compliance 

 
 Third line of defence. Internal audit 

 
The Board of Directors, through the Audit and Control Committee oversees the efficiency of the 
Company's internal control and risk management systems, including tax systems. 
 
Additionally, the Audit and Control Committee oversees internal audits services and the entire process 
of preparing and presenting Criteria's financial information prior to approval by the Board of Directors. 
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5.   CREDIT RATINGS  

Following the ECB’s approval of the prudential deconsolidation of CaixaBank at Criteria, Fitch Ratings 
proceeded to review Criteria’s credit rating on 27 September 2017, abandoning the Global Banking Rating 
Criteria methodology and replacing it for the Corporate Rating Criteria (including the Rating Investment 
Holding Companies methodology).  
 
As a result of the review, on 10 October 2017 Fitch Ratings upgraded Criteria’s credit rating from BBB-
(stable) to BBB (stable), largely because of the Company’s stronger financial position following its 
significant deleveraging process, coupled with the good quality and liquidity of the assets held in Criteria’s 
portfolio, its prudent investment policy, and the recurrence and stability of the dividends it receives.  
 
 
6.   TREASURY SHARE TRANSACTIONS  

At 31 December 2017, the ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation owned 100% of the shares in Criteria. No 
transactions were carried out with treasury shares.  

 

7.   OTHER INFORMATION 

7.1. Non-financial information and diversity: Royal Decree-Law of 24 November 2017 

The general purpose of ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation is to promote and develop social, charitable, 
welfare, educational and/or cultural projects and initiatives. Its primary activity is therefore to manage 
and carry out welfare projects and appropriately manage its investments through Criteria, comprising 
mainly of non-controlling equity stakes in companies operating in strategic sectors, such as banking, 
energy, infrastructure, services and real estate.  

 The “la Caixa” Group’s total workforce at 31 December 2017 was as follows: 

  Female Male  Total 

“la Caixa” Banking Foundation  272 123  395 

Group companies investees 100%  132 136  268 

Saba Infraestructuras  524 1.005  1.529 

Total “la Caixa” Group  928 1.264  2.192 
 

This section describes the key data and events for the Criteria Group in relation to environmental and 
social concerns, employees, respect for human rights and the fight against corruption and bribery. This 
information applies mainly to Criteria Caixa and to the wholly-owned companies under its direct 
management. 

Meanwhile, Saba, due to its shareholding structure (at which Criteria owns a 50.1% stake), has its own set 
of policies governing these issues, as published on its corporate website 
(www.saba.eu/es/informacioncorporativa). Thanks to its presence on Saba’s governing bodies, Criteria 
helps to design and implement these policies.  

  

http://www.saba.eu/es/informacioncorporativa
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Codes and policies  

“la Caixa” Banking Foundation has a code of ethics that is binding on all directors, managers and 
employees, all of whom must sign the code upon joining the Company. The Code enshrines the utmost 
respect for human rights and dignity in full endorsement of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights 
adopted by the United Nations in 1948 and the resulting covenants and agreements, namely the 
International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights of 1966, the International Covenant on Economic, 
Social and Cultural Rights of 1966 and the Convention for the Protection of Human Rights and 
Fundamental Freedoms of 1950. Criteria also honours the Tripartite Declaration of Principles Concerning 
Multinational Enterprises and the Social Policy of the International Labour Organization, as well as the 
principle of labour union representation among its employees. The Code also imposes social and 
environmental requirements and sets out strict standards of conduct on matters relating to regulatory 
compliance, preventing conflicts of interest, protecting the Company’s assets and reputation (remaining 
ideologically neutral), stimulating competition among suppliers, ensuring excellence at work, fostering 
team work, guaranteeing integrity when doing business and upholding confidentiality.  

In developing and shaping the code of ethics, “la Caixa” Banking Foundation's governing bodies have 
approved the following policies, among others: crime compliance policy, anti-corruption policy, anti-
money laundering and counter terrorist financing policy (implemented in those group companies where 
it is applicable), environmental management policy, harassment protocol, labour relations policy, equality 
and work-life balance policy, and collective bargaining agreements. 

Crime prevention 

“la Caixa” Banking Foundation has implemented a crime prevention policy compliant with required 
standards and has set up a committee with authority to take action independently, the Crime Prevention 
Committee. This committee has been granted decision-making, enforcement, oversight and control 
powers and has been internally tasked with supervising the effectiveness of internal controls. It is a multi-
disciplinary body reporting to the CEO of "la Caixa" Banking Foundation, and reporting the exercise of its 
functions to the Foundation's executive committee if necessary. The CEO will report on the activities of 
the Crime Prevention Committee to the Board of Trustees when required. 

In 2017, an independent expert conducted an assessment of criminal risks, flagging those to which the “la 
Caixa” Banking Foundation might be exposed because of its corporate purpose and business activities. 
This assessment revealed five types of criminal offences that are most likely to be committed at “la Caixa” 
Banking Foundation or have an impact on the Group: crimes concerning the discovery and disclosure of 
secrets, crimes relating to intellectual and industrial property, crimes of corporate corruption, bribery and 
the illegal funding of political parties.  

Based on its findings, the independent expert concluded that the results of the tests on the controls were 
adequate.  

Human resources  

“la Caixa” Banking Foundation  has defined and deployed an all-embracing people management model, 
which seeks to develop professional skills and aims to improve satisfaction among employees. 

As set out in its human resources policy, the management and leadership principles at “la Caixa” Banking 
Foundation describe the Company’s management style and culture, especially when it comes to human 
relations.  

”la Caixa” Banking Foundation considers its employees to be one of the key elements that enable it to 
meet its objectives.  It considers them to be one of its best resources, and an embodiment of the Entity's 
talent, motivation and a great deal of the spirit of commitment expressed through its values. Therefore, 
it continually seeks to improve the efficiency, quality and talent of its staff, building management models 
focused on quality, which is reflected in the EFQM 500+ certification obtained.  
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“la Caixa” Banking Foundation fosters the best practices in working towards equal opportunities. This is 
reflected in the family-responsible company certification obtained, as a management model for work-life, 
family and personal balance, the renewal of the company equality badge from the Spanish Ministry of 
Health, Social Services and Equality, the Bequal Plus seal awarded for its inclusion policy for disabled 
people and the Great Place to Work (GPTW) seal that recognises the 50 best companies to work for in 
Spain. “la Caixa” Banking Foundation has also been awarded the prize for the best company in Spain in 
the “Better for the World” category due to its social commitment. 

When it comes to occupational risk prevention, “la Caixa” Banking Foundation's occupational risk 
prevention policy states that the main objective is to foster risk prevention and the continual 
improvement of health and safety conditions in the workplace. It has a Prevention Plan based on the 
concept of Comprehensive Security, i.e. the assumption by all areas of the company of their corresponding 
obligations in the area of risk prevention in the workplace, so as to raise levels of health and safety and 
well-being of all employees and personnel who work at the Company.  

“la Caixa” Banking Foundation also has self-protection plans and emergency procedures in place at all its 
work centres, as established by labour risk prevention law. 

Environmental information 

“la Caixa” Banking Foundation is committed to environmental protection; a commitment that goes 
beyond its legal obligations to embrace an environmental management system that is fully integrated 
within its business. The CaixaForum, Cosmocaixa and Palau Macaya cultural centres all hold ISO 14001 
certification. The Cosmocaixa centre has also been also aligned with EU Regulation EMAS since 2009. 

Through its main activity of developing welfare projects, the Foundation has supported various initiatives 
relating to raising awareness and disseminating environmental information, promoting conservation and 
preservation initiatives. In over ten years, it has rolled out more than 3,900 conservation and 
improvement projects in natural parks across all of Spain, with staff hiring for these focusing on individuals 
at risk of social exclusion. 

Another awareness raising campaign carried out by the Foundation is its adherence, for the sixth 
consecutive year, to the “Earth Hour” initiative developed by the World Wildlife Fund. It has also adhered 
to the United Nations Global Compact and the Voluntary Agreements Programme to reduce greenhouse 
gas emissions run by the Catalonia office for climate change. 

Following on from previous years, an audit was conducted in 2017 of the greenhouse gases emitted by 
the Foundation's activities in 2017 with the aim of calculating its carbon footprint and establishing actions 
to minimise this. 

Further, “la Caixa” Banking Foundation, through the seats held by Criteria on the governing bodies of its 
investees, has been lobbying for internal policies to assess and control social and environmental risks at 
its investees, so as to ensure that they operate and do business in a responsible and ethical manner.  

Currently more than 70% of Criteria’s GAV comprises companies operating in the banking, energy and 
services sectors, of all which have well-defined corporate responsibility strategies and are also 
multinational enterprises that publicly disclose information in accordance with best practices on how they 
are implementing their sustainability strategies. Their commitment and responsibility have been 
acknowledged by various Spanish and international bodies in prestigious rankings or indexes, including 
the FTSE4Good and the Dow Jones Sustainability Index. Most of them are also signatories to the Carbon 
Disclosure Project.  

Criteria’s biggest investee, CaixaBank, has an environmental protection system in place under European 
EMAS Regulation 1221/2009, ISO 14001 and ISO 50001, as well as a three-year environmental plan (2016- 
2018, focusing on the fight against climate change). On the subject of environmental and energy policy, 
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noteworthy is Criteria’s adherence to the Equator Principles since 2007 and the United Nations Global 
Compact and its commitment to championing environmentally-friendly technologies. It also seeks to 
include environmental and energy efficiency criteria in products and services and has shown ongoing 
support for initiatives to combat climate change.  

Corporate social responsibility 

”la Caixa” Banking Foundation is a private not-for-profit institution providing beneficent welfare services. 
Its main purpose is to champion social, charitable, welfare, educational and cultural projects and 
initiatives (for further details see section 2. WELFARE PROJECTS).  

It is the sole shareholder of Criteria, an unlisted investment holding company that manages the 
Foundation's assets, the mission of which is to generate the required funds to develop the welfare 
projects. 

Results of the policies 

The Audit and Control Committee oversees compliance with all applicable policies, codes and manuals. 

Internal Audit provides information on the compliance risks identified as part of its audits. 

7.2. “la Caixa” Banking Foundation channels of information  

 ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation has the following information channels:  

• A corporate website (www.fundacionbancarialacaixa.org) providing the Group's corporate and 

financial information  

• The Welfare Projects website (www.obrasocial.lacaixa.es) providing specific information on all 

Welfare Project programmes.  

• An e-mail address for general information (info@fundaciolacaixa.org) 

• Corporate website (www.criteriacaixa.com), which provides information mainly on the 

company’s investment portfolio, issuing activity, governance bodies and yearly and half-yearly 

financial information. In addition, two electronic mailboxes: one intended for investors and 

analysts (investor.relations@criteria.com) and the other for general information and enquiries 

(info@criteria.com). The company also provides a form for queries relating to the real estate 

portfolio. 

 

8.   2018 OUTLOOK AND FORECAST PERFORMANCE OF THE "LA CAIXA" GROUP 

8.1. 2018 outlook: 

Last year marked the tenth anniversary of the worst international crisis seen since the Great Depression 
of the 1930s. The fallout of this crisis following 2007 has been named the Great Recession. Overcoming 
this recession has been a slow and arduous process since its effects have been felt across the entire globe. 
Yet 2017 has shown that the international economy, including Spain’s own, is now well on track to curing 
the deep wounds caused by the years of crisis. Global growth is picking up and the economies of numerous 
countries have now moved beyond the initial recovery phase and begun to truly expand and grow. This 
positive trend has solid foundations, which can only be threatened by serious errors of judgment when it 
comes to economic policy, or the materialisation of certain geopolitical risks. Despite certain lingering 
doubts and causes for concern, 2018 is expected to continue the positive trend seen in 2017 in both the 

http://(www.fundacionbancarialacaixa.org)/
http://www.obrasocial.lacaixa.es/
mailto:(info@fundaciolacaixa.org)
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macroeconomic and financial realms, as well as in those business sectors in which the Criteria Group 
operates. 
 
Global growth, which ended 2017 at above the historical average (3.6%), is likely to see a mild pick-up in 
2018 to a sizeable 3.8%. Emerging economies will play a crucial role in this process. Meanwhile, developed 
countries will continue to post respectable levels of growth, in many cases outpacing their respective 
growth potential. The drivers of this bright future outlook are already well-known. Firstly, macroeconomic 
indicators are now reasonably solid for the most part, having spent several years correcting from the 
major imbalances rife across both advanced and emerging countries (whether relating to inflation, current 
account and/or debt within the private sector, including financial institutions), albeit with the 
counterpoint of higher levels of public debt. Secondly, monetary policy will remain moderately 
accommodative, even though a number of central banks are now embarking on the initial stages of 
monetary normalisation. In emerging countries, monetary policy is expected to remain largely orthodox. 
The third support factor is the gradual recovery in oil prices, thus dispelling fears of deflation in advanced 
economies while providing much-needed respite for certain large emerging economies. These cyclical 
support factors have added their weight to the underlying forces that have been driving growth in recent 
years and which will remain very much present: the impact of new technologies, the ageing of the 
population in developed countries but not in emerging nations, and the fact that central banks and other 
institutions that manage economic policy in emerging countries are becoming increasingly more 
competent. 
 
While more and more nations are now falling into sync with this global expansion, the global panorama is 
not immune to possible uncertainty shocks. The risks map can be divided into three closely interrelated 
blocks: firstly, we have strictly macroeconomic risks, the main one here being the threat of a prolonged 
inflation spike in the United States, which would force the Federal Reserve (Fed) to pursue a more 
aggressive interest rate strategy than the one initially envisioned. Secondly, we have financial risks, which 
essentially derive from three main sources: possible turbulence in the international markets if the Fed 
gets its timing wrong when hiking interest rates; the risk of the existing imbalances in China getting further 
out of hand (build-up of corporate debt and overheating of the real estate sector); and the high prices of 
certain risk assets (US stock market and certain segments of the corporate bonds market). Last but not 
least, we have what we might call political risks. While political risks in Europe dissipated to some extent 
in 2017, it would be foolish to believe they have disappeared altogether. Because of the nature of the 
forces behind the rise in populist rhetoric and parties, we must see to it that economic growth in the years 
to come feeds through to the different layers of society.  
 
In 2018, the Trump administration is likely to remain relatively pragmatic in its approach to economic 
policy and foreign relations, beyond the likely outbreaks of political noise (North Korea, Israel). When it 
comes to fiscal policy, President Trump will push through his tax reform, which was approved by Congress 
31 and the Senate in late 2017. The impact of this reform process in terms of real GDP growth is likely to 
be modest or possibly moderate in the best-case scenario. However, its impact on inflation could be more 
telling. This is because of the maturity of the US economic cycle (robust growth, full employment), which 
advises against expansionary fiscal policies. Turning to trade policy, attention will focus on the likely 
outcome of the attempts to renegotiate the free trade alliance between the United States, Mexico and 
Canada (NAFTA). The most likely outcome is that the alliance will see a major overhaul but that at the end 
of the day the United States will remain part of the treaty. 
 
Meanwhile, growth in the euro area will remain relatively high as we move through 2018 (2.2%). This GDP 
growth is currently outpacing the region’s potential (around 1.5%), which should allow the economy to 
continue absorbing the impact of its idle resources (lower though still high levels of unemployment). This 
should in turn push up inflation in the euro area, albeit only modestly (1.6% at year-end 2018). Meanwhile, 
Brexit talks are a factor that could cast a shadow over the otherwise bright outlook for the euro area and 
might trigger sporadic episodes of financial tension. 
 
The Spanish economy will continue to post healthy levels of growth, comfortably outpacing most other 
developed countries. While it will see a moderate slowdown to 2.4% in 2018 (down from 3.1% in 2017), 
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there is no cause for concern. In addition to the cyclical factors behind this downturn discussed previously, 
we have the added uncertainty caused by the territorial crisis unfolding in Catalonia. However, the 
negative impact of these events on expected growth in 2018 could be significantly less pronounced if the 
conflict becomes more predictable and we see signs of the situation getting back on track. All things 
considered, the economy’s underlying structural factors will remain favourable. Here we would single out 
six main support factors: the reduction in household and company debt; a healthier financial sector; 
ongoing improvements in bank lending; the recovery of the real estate sector; the major advances made 
by Spanish companies in internationalising their business; and the positive impact of the structural 
reforms implemented in recent years. The labour market remains an important factor here, seeing as 
though job creation remains buoyant and this should help bring down the unemployment rate in 2018. 
While the Spanish economy is certainly entering 2018 with numerous plus points, it also presents certain 
structural weaknesses that pose a risk. For instance, we have the social unrest caused by the economic 
crisis, the widespread perception that the ensuing recovery has only been felt by certain echelons of 
society and the prolonged period of interim government and the subsequent absence of any consensus 
among the parliamentary parties, thus eroding the public’s trust in their political institutions. This could 
have the effect of prolonging the existing paralysis of the legislative process, or even cause delays in 
pushing through structural reforms. Meanwhile, certain macro imbalances, such as the high level of public 
debt and a relative lack of interest by international investors, leave the Spanish economy exposed to 
riskoff episodes in the international financial markets. 
 
Some of the factors just discussed in the preceding sections (Fed, China, Brexit, overpricing of financial 
assets, elections or the political events in Spain) are more than enough in themselves to trigger fleeting 
or prolonged episodes of volatility at any time in the international or domestic markets. In particular, the 
current climate of complacency and placidity in the international financial realm could exacerbate the 
scale and scope of any eventual asset price corrections; all the more so given the years and years of 
monetary stimulus at the hands of the central banks, which may have distorted incentives for investors 
and their risk tolerance. That said, the robust global expansion and the gradual return to normal monetary 
policies should continue to push up monetary interest rates and bond yields. Turning to the stock markets, 
expected growth in company profits in 2018 should provide further support for the current bullish cycle, 
although the risk of company profits disappointing in the United States remains a real cause for concern. 
The approval of the tax reform in the country has effectively generated an expected 30% increase in 
company profits for 2018. 
 
Geographical imbalances are expected to be less pronounced than in 2017 as more and more countries 
and economic sectors fall in sync with the cycle of global expansion. The upside potential of the US stock 
market now appears more modest since high asset prices are leaving little room for further upside. In fact, 
32 it is more likely than not that we will see certain price corrections over 2018 in the North American 
stock market. There are numerous potential triggers here (negative surprises in terms of inflation or 
profits, geopolitical shocks, etc.) and so the low levels of volatility we are currently seeing would advise 
caution. In the specific case of Europe, profit margins will need to see appreciable improvements, which 
should help the European stock market gain ground on its U.S. counterpart, especially when combined 
with the fact that baseline share values in Europe are markedly lower than in the United States. Emerging 
stock markets are also attractively priced in both absolute and relative terms, although the formidable 
gains made by these markets in 2017 will limit further upside potential. As for the outlook by sector, we 
expect cyclical sectors in the United States to continue faring well on the back of strong consumption, a 
healthy labour market and the expansionary fiscal policy of the Trump administration. In the euro area, 
cyclical sectors will also perform well in response to the same factors underpinning their U.S. cousins. In 
particular, the ECB has taken its first steps to normalise monetary conditions, which should generate more 
favourable interest rate conditions for the banking sector. When combined with the recent improvement 
in bank profits, this factor should provide added support to the European stock markets.  
 

8.2. Foreseeable performance of the “la Caixa” Group in 2018: 

Having successfully achieved its prudential deconsolidation from CaixaBank in 2017, Criteria will now have 
more flexibility when managing its business and will be able to do so within a regulatory framework 
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befitting its activity as an investment holding company, whose only shareholder is a banking foundation. 
This increased flexibility will allow Criteria to continue steadily and prudently diversifying its portfolio in 
the mid to long run.  
 

The following section outlines the future outlook for our main investees, the real estate business and 
financial result, all key factors shaping the Group’s profitability.  
 
CaixaBank  

As announced by CaixaBank in its management report published in February of this year, in 2018 –the last 

year of its 2015-2018 Strategic Plan– CaixaBank plans to continue diversifying its income towards 

segments that promise the best returns, with a strategic focus on consumer loans and loans to businesses, 

while strengthening its insurance and asset management businesses. The Bank will also continue to 

provide added-value advice to all its customers so as to ensure unrivalled levels of service and trust. It will 

need to contain its costs base and reduce unproductive assets in order to reach its target RoTE of 9%-11%. 

Meanwhile, the takeover bid for BPI was completed in early 2017, bringing CaixaBank’s stake in the 

Portuguese bank to 84.5%. The now completed reshuffling of certain businesses between BPI and 

CaixaBank and the future implementation of the Synergies Plan will further improve the already solid 

position of the Portuguese group in its home country in tandem with the recovery of the Portuguese 

economy. 

CaixaBank is expected to release its new Strategic Plan in the fourth quarter of 2018. This plan will define 
its priority actions in response to the challenges and opportunities of the coming years. The solid and 
sustained growth of the economy will allow the Group to continue tightening its leadership.  
 
Gas Natural  

As the Company recently announced at its 2017 earnings presentation, Gas Natural expects all its 
businesses to improve in 2018. 
 
Meanwhile, the new Executive Chairman, appointed in February 2018, is expected to unveil the new 2018-
2020 Strategic Plan during the first half of this year.  
 
Abertis 

A key event in 2018 will be the outcome of the two competing bids presented by Atlantia and Hochtief to 
acquire all the shares of Abertis, this being the year in which the company will initiate its new three-year 
plan as it seeks to identify new challenges and opportunities. 
 
No matter how this situation pans out, for Criteria any decision to invest and/or divest will be taken 
conservatively on the basis of sound investment and financial prudence, with the overriding objective of: 
(i) ensuring that sufficient income is generated so that “la Caixa” Banking Foundation is able to undertake 
all the Welfare Projects it has planned; and (ii) preserving and/or increasing the assets under the 
management of “la Caixa” Banking Foundation.  
 
Real Estate Business 

 

Following the move to internalise management of the Group’s real estate assets at Inmo CriteriaCaixa and 

in response to the recovery of the real estate sector in Spain, the Real Estate Business expects to see an 

improvement in its key figures. 
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This improvement will be driven by a selective sales policy, plus solid returns on rental real estate assets 

and also the completion of two of the nine real estate development projects currently under construction. 

 

Meanwhile, the business will continue to appraise and undertake new development projects with the aim 

of maximising the value of its land assets, whether by selling or leasing the resulting developments. 

 

Financial result  

Criteria expects to see further improvements in its financial result following the healthy figures already 

reported in 2017. This growth will be based on:  

 the reduction in gross debt achieved in 2017 ; 

 sound management of borrowing activity, securing new, cheaper financing than the debt it is 

repaying by renegotiating the cost and extending the maturity of a significant volume of loans; 

 lower cost of bilateral bank loans following the rating upgrade earned in October 2017. 

Criteria will also continue to pursue an interest rate hedging policy that will generate limited sensitivity to 

the long-term upward trend in interest rates.  

With regard to welfare activities, “la Caixa” Banking Foundation will continue to roll out its 2016-2019 
Strategic Plan in 2018, aimed at significantly strengthening initiatives in the area of research, continuing 
to maintain the focus on social programmes and uphold the quality of activities to promote culture and 
knowledge. 

The global budget for 2018 has been increased to EUR 520 million. In the area of social initiatives the 
budget will be maintained at 59% (EUR 307.5 million) of the total; 23% (EUR 121.4 million) to the 
dissemination of knowledge and culture, and 18% (EUR 91.1 million) to research and quality training. 
 

The main premises for the execution of the budget are: 

  to improve the cost-to-income ratio, in terms of both structural costs and the execution of 
programmes 
 

 concentration of programmes and completion or gradual reduction of non-core programmes 
 

 increase in research activities (+16%) 
 

 welfare projects in Portugal 

Research activity will focus on three main lines: 

1. Training for young scientists with high potential through grants at renowned centres for young 
researchers. In 2018, a new call for 30 post doctorate scholarships under the Junior Leader “la 
Caixa” programme was launched, with the aim of contracting quality researchers of any 
discipline wishing to continue their careers in Spain. The objective of this programme is to 
promote innovative and high quality research and support the best scientific talent, offering 
participants an attractive and competitive environment that fosters excellence in research. 
 

2. Collaboration with research centres and programmes, with a new call for biomedical research 
projects in Spain and Portugal, aimed at promoting projects seeking excellence in the fight 
against some of the world's most common illnesses, such as cardiovascular and neurological 
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diseases, infectious diseases and cancer. About 20 projects showing the greatest potential, 
excellence or social impact will be chosen, in the areas of basic, clinical or translational research.  
 

3. Support for projects to transfer knowledge and the results of research to society at large. In 2018, 
great support will be provided for research projects which transfer their results that add value to 
society, through the CaixaImpulse programme. A new innovation project will be rolled out to 
increase aid to centres already selected in previous calls in order to consolidate the research 
results.  
 

The “la Caixa” Banking Foundation will also continue to support programmes targeting those who are 
most vulnerable, to provide lasting solutions covering basic needs and creating equal opportunities. 
Courses of action concerning child poverty and promotion of employment will be extended and enhanced 
in 2018: 

1. The child poverty programme CaixaProinfancia will be deployed in a further four cities: Bañolas 
in Catalonia, Logroño in La Rioja, Ceuta and Melilla.  
 
Implementation of the programme will also be consolidated at the locations in which it was first 
deployed in 2017: Burgos and Valladolid in Castilla-La Mancha; Badajoz in Extremadura; Tudela 
in Navarra; Córdoba, El Ejido, Granada and Jerez in Andalusia. 

In 2018, a study will be made to develop the programme in Portugal.  

 
2. In the area of employment, the Incorpora programme for labour market insertion, aimed at 

people with any type of disability (sensory, physical, intellectual or mental), in addition to those 
with special difficulties accessing the job market, through a joint collaboration between 
companies and social entities, will roll out a new line of initiatives for young people formerly in 
care in 2018. 
This new line is aimed at young people that have been in public care and no longer depend on 
this institution once they turn 18. The Foundation will offer them the opportunity to obtain 
guidance on training and work from a professional. 
 
In 2018, collaboration will continue with the entities selected in 2017 in the call for project for 
the Operational Social Inclusion and Social Economy Programme ("POISES") to implement 
measures in favour of the active inclusion of persons at risk and/or in situations of social 
exclusion, through integral social and labour market insertion programmes to give them access 
to the job market.  This programme will be carried out in collaboration with the European Social 
Fund. 
 

Work is also ongoing to consolidate courses of action and activities to boost co-habitation and social 
cohesion in multicultural contexts, emotional support and comprehensive care for people with advanced 
diseases, promotion of active ageing and access to housing for the elderly, young people and families with 
small children. 

Lastly, to maintain its commitment with the dissemination of culture and knowledge, “la Caixa” Banking 
Foundation will continue to deploy Initiatives aimed at developing different actions to disseminate all 
areas of scientific and cultural knowledge and spark interest in science and the arts, through its own 
centres (CosmoCaixa and CaixaForum) and across Spain through exhibitions, workshops, conferences, etc. 
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9.     EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 

No significant events occurred between 31 December 2017 and the date of issue of the accompanying 
annual financial statements.  

 

10.    ANEXO – GLOSARIO DE INFORMACIÓN FINANCIERA 

In addition to the financial information prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards (IFRSs) contained in this document, certain Alternative Performance Measures (APMs) as 

defined in the guidelines on Alternative Performance Measures issued by the European Securities and 

Markets Authority on 30 June 2015 (ESMA/2015/1057) (the “ESMA Guidelines”) have been included. 

Criteria relies on certain APMs, which have not been audited, to provide a better understanding of the 

Company’s financial performance. These measures are considered additional disclosures and in no case 

replace the financial information prepared under IFRS. Moreover, the way the Group defines and 

calculates these measures may differ to the way similar measures are calculated by other companies. 

Accordingly, they may not be comparable. 

The ESMA Guidelines define an APM as a financial measure of historical or future performance, financial 

position, or cash flows. 

In accordance with these guidelines, following is a list of the APMs used, along with a reconciliation 

between certain management indicators and the indicators presented in the consolidated financial 

statements prepared under IFRS.  

ALTERNATIVE PERFORMANCE MEASURES 

Management perimeter Criteria. Comprises Criteria at non-consolidated (individual) level and wholly-
owned companies under its direct management (includes the following: Inmo Criteria Caixa, S.A.U., 
Arrendamiento Inmo Criteria Caixa, S.L.U., Servihabitat Alquiler, S.L., Servihabitat Alquiler II, S.L.U., Els 
Arbres de la Tardor, S.L.U. and Mediterránea Beach & Golf Community, S.A.U.).  

Listed assets/GAV. Total listed stakes divided by GAV (%).  

Exchangeable bonds. Total face value of the debt issues of companies included within Criteria’s 
management perimeter in which bond holders have the option of exchanging their bonds at a pre-defined 
price for shares in CaixaBank, of the companies included in the Criteria management scope. 

Senior bonds. Total face value of the senior unsecured debt issues where the only security is the issuer’s 
own assets, in relation to those companies that fall within Criteria’s management perimeter. 

Cash. Total cash at all companies that fall within Criteria’s management perimeter. 

Gross debt. Sum of CaixaBank debt, Subordinated debt, Unsecured/senior bonds, Exchangeable bonds 
and Bank loans ex-CaixaBank. 

CaixaBank debt. Total face value of the bank debt assumed with CaixaBank by the companies that fall 
within Criteria’s management perimeter. 

Net debt. Difference between Gross debt and Cash and equivalents. 
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Subordinated debt. Total face value of the debt issues of companies included within Criteria’s 
management perimeter that have been placed through the CaixaBank network among retail customers 
and which are junior to both senior debt and bank loans. 

Cash equivalents. Sum of current accounts receivable and current accounts payable of all companies that 
fall within Criteria’s management perimeter. 

Bank loans ex-CaixaBank. Total bank loans arranged bilaterally with Spanish and international financial 
institutions other than CaixaBank by companies that fall within Criteria’s management perimeter. 

Debt ratio (LTV). Net debt divided by GAV (%). 

Gross Asset Value (GAV). Combined gross asset value of all companies that fall within Criteria’s 
management perimeter: 

- Total listed stakes. Classified as either: 
 

o Banking portfolio. Incluye  Includes the shares of listed banks owned by Criteria, valued 
at the price of the share on the relevant stock market. 
Where the currency of the investees is non-euro, share price is calculated at the 
equivalent value in euros at the official exchange rate. 

 
o Portfolio of industrial and services companies. Includes the shares of listed industrial 

and services companies owned by Criteria and companies under its direct management, 
valued at the price of the share on their respective stock market.  

 
- Total non-listed. Classified as either: 

 
o Portfolio of industrial and services companies. Includes the shares of non-listed 

industrial and services owned by Criteria, valued at their net carrying amount on the 
individual financial statements of Criteria. 

 
o Real estate portfolio. Includes real estate assets owned by Criteria and companies under 

its direct management, valued at their net book value on the individual financial 
statements of each holding company. 

Net Asset Value (NAV). Difference between GAV and Net debt. 

The following sections are included on the consolidated income statement for management purposes: 

- Banking portfolio. Shows the earnings attributable to Criteria from its stakes in CaixaBank, Grupo 
Financiero Inbursa and The Bank of East Asia. This heading is effectively the sum of the “Banking 
business” and “Adjustments and eliminations between segments” sections contained in Note 22 
to the consolidated financial statements of the Criteria Group. 
 

- Portfolio of industrial and services companies. Shows the earnings attributable to Criteria due 
to its interests in industrial and services companies, which are essentially its stakes in Gas Natural 
Fenosa, Abertis, Cellnex Telecom, Saba Infraestructuras, Suez, Aigües de Barcelona Empresa 
Metropolitana del Gestió del Cicle Integral de l’Aigua, Aguas de Valencia (stake sold in July 2016) 
and private equity companies.  
 

- Management of real estate assets. Shows earnings from the real estate activity carried out by 
Criteria, Inmo Criteria Caixa, Servihabitat Alquiler, Servihabitat Alquiler II and Mediterránea 
Beach & Golf Community.  
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- Net financial expense and other. Net financial expense is the difference between financial 
income and financial cost, associated with “Gross debt” and “Cash”, respectively, as reported at 
Criteria and at companies under its direct management. It also includes gains or losses from 
disposals of stakes accounted for by the Criteria Group.  
 

- Welfare projects. Net contribution to the welfare projects performed by “la Caixa” Banking 
Foundation, as per the difference between expenses incurred in the performance of social 
activities (net of core income) and individual corporate tax income of “la Caixa” Banking 
Foundation. 

 

 


